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Trireme Medical, Inc. et al

UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT
NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

ANGIOSCORE, INC.,
Plaintiff,

Case No. 12v-03393¥YGR

V. FINDINGSOF FACT
AND CONCLUSIONSOF LAW
TRIREME MEDICAL, INC., ET AL.,

Defendants.

INTRODUCTION

This case staged a tension between the inveterate, established law of fiduciary duties
by corporate directors and breach of fiduciary duty claims that arise when directors of emerg
companies are innovators in the technology themselves. In such an instance, plaintiff Angio
would have innovation subverted to duty; defendants would have duty subverted to innovatig
Neither party’s position admits of any balance, and neither can be wholly right. As set forth in
this Order, the Court finds that where transparency, loyalty, and good faith predominate,
director’s fiduciary duties and his drive to innovate can co-exist, albeit with the duties to the
corporation taking precedence.

AngioScore brings state law claims for breach of fiduciary duty against one of its foun
and former directors, Eitan Konstantino, alleging thiaile he was a member of AngioScore’s

board, Konstantino developed a medical dedieectly competitive with AngioScore’s flagship

product. Rather than offer the opportunity to acquire the new device to AngioScore, AngioS¢

maintains that Konstantino instead took it for himself. AngioScore also claims that corporate

defendants Quattro Vascular PTE Ltd. and TriReme Medicalaikal and abetted Konstantino’s
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breach, and that liability for these entitiegongdoing runs to QT Vascular Ltd. Defendants
disagree, arguing in part that the duty was not breached either because no opportunity exists
because AngioScoreas not entitled to Konstantino’s intellectual property as a matter of law.

Following a six-day bench tiian AngioScore’s claims, the parties submitted proposed
findings of fact and conclusions of law. (Dkt. Nos. 643 (AngioSsd@pening Post-Trial Brief
(“AOB”), 645(Defendants’ Opening Postrial Brief (“DOB”), 649 (AngioScors Post-Trial
Reply Brief (“ARB”), 650(Defendants’ Post-TrialReply Brief (“DRB”)).) Specifically, those
claims pertain t&onstantino’s breach of fiduciary duty; that Quattro and TriReme aided and
abetted the same; QT Vascular is a successor in interest to Quattro and TriReme and theref
liable for their aiding and abetting; and finally, that defendants have vidlatéefdrnia’s Unfair
Competition Law. Having reviewed the evidence of record, the arguments of the parties, ang
relevant case law, for the reasons set forth in these findings of facts and conclusions of law,
Court herebyFINDs for AngioScore in all material respects aARDS a remedy accordingly.

FACTUAL BACKGROUND"
l. TheParties

Since its founding in 2003, AngioScore has designed, manufactured, and marketed

pd, C

bre

the

specialty angioplasty balloon catheters that are used for the treatment of cardiovascular disegse.

Its signature product line, sold under the brand name AngioSculpt, consists of an nylon ballopn

surrounded by a nitinol structure. The AngioSculpt is sold in an array of dimensions and lengths

to meet varying patient needs, although the structure of the balloon and cage remain unchan
all material respects at each available sizing option. The purpose of the AngioSculpt is to tre

cardiovascular disease, whereby plaque depasiig a blood vessel’s wall, forming what are

called lesions. The plaque deposits harden and block, or occlude, blood flow, with potentially

severe health risks. The AngioSculpt is used to open occluded or narrowed blood vessels af

sites by inflating the balloon to compress the plaque deposits against a vessel wall. As the Q

! Appended to the end of this ordee the Court’s detailed factual findings, setting forth
citations to evidence of record. The following narrative factual discussion summarizes the e\
giving rise to this case in a manner unencumbered by extensive record citations.
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inflates, the AngioSculpt’s nitinol wire cage expands. The expanded cage sits atop the balloon
and impresses upon plaqtfsgoring it in an effort designed to “crack” the plaque and open the

blood vessel, without injuring or puncturing the vessel wall. It is to this scoring feature that

AngioScore owes its name. After use, the device can then deflate, returning to its original fof

for removal from the patient’s body.

Defendant Eitan Konstantino invented the AngioSculpt. An engineer by training with

doctorate in laser surface treatment, optical design, and materials science, Konstantino was

founder, President, and Chief Scientist of AngioScore, Inc. In this role, Konstantino sought t

develop and bring the AngioSculpt to market, which involved gaining approval both in Europg

and through the United States Food and Drug Administré&ti®inA”). To accomplish these

goals, Konstantino sought funding from investors, who in turn acquired seats on AngioScore’s

board of directors. Among those directors were Tom Raffin, a partner with the venture capita

firm Telegraph Hill Partners, and Lisa Suennen, a partner at Psilos, another such firm.

In 2005, the board decided that Konstantino would be better suited to a role directed
research and development. Tom Trotter then becaip®Score’s chief executive officer. When
Trotter assumed the position, he and Konstantino discussed what role was most appropriate
Konstantino moving forward. In light of that conversation, Tratfésred Konstantino the role of
Executive Vice President of Research and Development and Chief Scientific Officer.

AngioScore wanted Konstantino to remain on the AngioScore beaause of his central

role at the company as a co-founder, and his skill as an engkesstantino, however,
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expressed a desire to leave and work full time as President and CEO of TriReme Medieal, Inc.,

company he had founded for the purpose of developing bifurcation séerasrdingly, in the fall
of 2005, Trotter started to look for a replacement for Konstantino. Both he and Konstantino
interviewed the candidates. At the same time, Konstantino requested that he be given perm
to work on a developing technology with TriReme: endovascular bifurcation stents and deliv
systems for the same. Although bifurcation stents are not competitive with specialty balloon

angioplasty cathetera,ngioScore’s board took this request seriously, ultimately adopting a
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resolution that granted Konstantino permission to pursue this limited goal, and waived
AngioScore’s interest in the bifurcation stent technology.

In late 2006the role of AngioScore’s Vice President of Research and Development

transitioned from Konstantino to Feridun Ozdil. While the details remain unclear, the relationshir

between Konstantino and Ozdil soon became strained and culminated in a physical altercation.

Both Konstantino and Ozdil are intelligent scientists, but both are egotistical and authoritarian.

The “he said”/“he said” personality conflict was never resolved definitively.

In April 2007, Konstantin® employment with AngioScore terminated, although he
remained on its Board of Directors. In his capacity as a board member, he continued to atte
AngioScore’s board meetings and received updates about AngioScore’s financial well-being and
the status of its new product development up until he was asked to resign in February 2010.

I. Chocolate, the Device at | ssue

In the fall of 2009, Konstantino and his brother-like friend and colleague, Tanhum Feld,

conceived of what was to becorfiéhocolat& during a telephone “brainstorming” session. Feld
was discussing frame ideas for a ballodanstantino offered the notion of a balloon surface
defined by pillows and grooves. The concept was that a nitinol cage would surround a nylon
balloon. As the balloon inflated, it would protrude through the cage. The inflated balloon wo
then display a pattern of pillows and grooves, exerting force against plaque lining a vessel w
With the concept for Chocolate established, Feld undertook to engineer the device,
directing and coordinating efforts of TriReme employeé&h Konstantino’s approval. By
October 2009, Konstantino applied for a provisional patent application, naming himself and H
as co-inventors. Within just a few months, Chocolate had progressed from an intellectual co
to physical prototypes. In January 2010, Konstantino and other TriReme employees attende
animal testing at Stanford for a Chocolate prototype.
Along with supervising and directing the employees at TriReme in their efforts to deve
Chocolate, Konstantino assumed the role of the businessman, conceptualizing the marketing
Chocolate and pitching it to investors under the guisecofporate entity called “Proteus.”

During the second half of 2009, Konstantino met with twenty to thirty investors, offering them
4
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opportunity to invest in Chocolate. In these pitches, Konstantino represented that the Chocalate

was being developed by “Proteus,” and that Chocolate’s intellectual property, design, prototypes,

business model, team, and partnerships were all completed. With representations of tleis sof

secured a grant from the Singapore Economic Development Board and continued to solicit
additional investors.

The similarities between AngioSculpt and Chocolate are obvious. Both are specialty
angioplasty balloon catheters. Both are comprised of a nylon balloon surrounded by a nitino
structure. Both are used to treat peripheral and coronary artery disease by inflating to open

occluded blood vessels. Neither leaves any metal behind in a blood vessel after use, unlike

a St

Both are sold to the same customers and make overlapping marketing claims. Both are sold at

premium pricing with roughly identical list prices. Given the similarities between the devices,

Konstantino himself identified AngioScore as a partner for the Chocolate opportunity in investor

presentations in 2009 and 2010.

Konstantino knew that the devices would compete with one another and contemporarjeou

documents show that not only did he so intend, but this information was used as part of his
investment pitch. In pricing Chocolate, Konstantino and employees at TriReme purposefully

priced Chocolate exactly $25 below the list prices for AngioSculpt and targeted the same

customers. Communications between Konstantino, Feld, and TriReme employees and officers

from late 2009 into 2010 confirm that all those involved with the development of Choeolate

Konstantino, TriReme, and Quattravere purposefully seeking to compete with the AngioSculpt

in the specialty balloon catheter market. This included touting Chocolate for all its competitive

advantages, including its potential as a drug-eluting balloon.
While he directed the development of Chocolate as both a medical device and busine

opportunity, Konstantino nonetheless remaioedngioScore’s board of directors. Pursuant

thereto, he was privy to all manner of confidential financial information, market information, gnd

competitive information regarding the performance of the AngioSdualjite and AngioScore’s
highly sensitive risk assessmen{®X 220 (July 2009 Board Meeting presentation, including

strategic focus, discussions of business challenges).) He knew that AngioScore was having
5
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difficulty developing a 100mm version of its AngioSculpt as of July 20092) @And,heknew

that the company was interedin pursuing a drug coated specialty balloon. (See PX 217
(February 21, 2009 email between board members discussing efforts to attain drug coated b
technology); PX 220 (July 2009 board presentation outlining future business strategy includir
“extra long” devices of 100mm and a drug coated device).) In addition, Konstantino knew thatet
financial status of AngioScore in late 2009 to early 2010 was relatively strong. AngioScore W
a prime position to raise further capital, had considerable cash reserves, and was in the prog
dedicating resources to improving its presence in the specialty balloon catheter market, ever
thoughit had just emerged from the expense of an unwarranted investigation. Indeed,
AngioScore’s December 2009 Monthly Report, distributed for the board meeting, reflected thg
cash @ hand totaled $15.3 million. The report described this figure as an “[o]utstanding result.”
(DX 1199.) That AngioScore could have exploited the Chocolate opportunity, had it been off¢
is not subject to reasonable dispute.

Notably, in December 2009, Konstantilmal a conversation with AngioScore’s CEO,
Trotter, regardingriReme’s development of a plain old balloorangioplasty (“POBA”) device
called “Glider.” At trial, both Trotter and Konstantino confirmed that this conversation took
place. Konstantino told Trotter that TriReme was too small to commercialize the Glider prod
and that he was in search of a funder. He offered the Glider to AngioScore for distribution

purposes. In his deposition, Konstantino explained that conversation as follows:

| share[d] with him the specifics of the product, the technical
features of this product. | share[d] with him how do we think this
product may fit in the marketplace, what we view [are] the features
or the advantages of this product. And | offered him to do some sort
of collaboration. Specifically we discussed or | offered two
collaborations or two opportunities. | domean opportunities in a
legal context. One was to distribute these. Told him, Tom, we are a
small company. We don’t have commercial capabilities. You have
that. This is not a product you put in the bag. We don't have
commercial capabilities. You do. This is another product you can
put in the bag. You can reduce the overhead or the overhead
location on sale slips. There are many perceived benefits. And |
also talked with him about the what you call the fact, maybe, that
AngioSculpt was not a highly deliverable product, at least this is in
the perception of physicians who are using the product.
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(See Trial Tanscript (“Trial Tr.”?) at 136:23-138:1 (reading Konstantino Dep. at 643:7-644:3).)
Trotter confirmed that when Konstantino revealed that TriReme had been working on

Glider, he expressed concern that TriReme was venturing into angioplasty balloons at all.

Because Konstantino had presented TriRem@#der as an ordinary POBA, however, the Glider

would not be acutely competitive with AngioSculpt. Notably absent from this conversation w

any mention of Chocolate, which had been in development for months, offered to others as g

corporate opportunity, and was about to undergo porcine testing.

After sitting through the February 3, 2010 AngioScore board meeting, Konstantino

the

approached Trotter and asked to meet privately. Referencing the December 2009 conversation |

which he had offered AngioScore the Glider POBA balloon, Konstantino told Trotter that
TriReme was “considering developing a specialty balloon catheter for peripheral indications,” and
that TriReme had been actively working on “something for the future” in specialty balloon
catheters.To say that Konstantino “downplayed” the facts surrounding Chocolate would be an

understatment. Konstantino did not inform Trotter that the development of TriReme’s specialty

balloon, which by that point had been called Chocolate for several months, was well underway.

He did not disclose his personal role in the development and conceptualization of the device

did he disclose that a prototype had been created, a patent application and been submitted,

testing had occurred, or that he had already engaged potential investors and funding sources.

Trotter was nonetheless shocked by this newsci8ty balloons were AngioScore’s focus. He

nor

anin

was of the belief that prior to that point, TriReme had been focusing on bifurcation stents and hac

only recently started to consider POBA devices, and even then, only the Glider POBA. Trott
informed Konstantino that he did not think further discussion was appropriate and asked him
leave.

Immediately following that meeting, Trotter relayed the conversation with Konstantino

memberf AngioScore’s board. The board expressed a universal belief that Konstantino shoul

? References t6Trial Tr.” refer to the consolidated transcript of trial, which appears in six,
sequentially paginated volumes at Docket Entries 616, 617, 622, 623, 637, and 638.
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resign as soon as possible. If TriReme developed a specialty balloon, Konstantino would hayve

directaconflict of interest. The board was concerned that TriReme was considering potentially

competing with AngioScore. At that point, no one at AngioScore knew that a competitive
specialty balloon device had been developed under Konstantino’s direction and control.

The next day, Trotter sent Konstantino an email entitled “Board of Directors Position,”

copying AngioScore’s attorney, John Sellers. In it, Trotter restated his concerns about TriReme

moving into the specialty balloon market, and stated that the board members with whom he lhad

spoken saw this as a “clear conflict of interest.” The “consensus opinion” was that Konstantino
“need[ed] to resign from the Board immediately [and] probably should not have participated in
yesterday’s Board Meeting.” Trotter told Konstantino that Sellers would be in touch to make
arrangements for his resignation.

Konstantino’s response was brief. Again, he did not disclose the existence, or
development status of the Chocolate device, nor did he disclose his intimate involvement wit
project. Rather, and importantly, he began his campaign of active misdirection. Thus, he
responded:“TriReme has not made any decision to make such [a] change and | was giving y
very early heads up smmething that may take placein the future, or may never happen[.]”

(emphasis supplied).

h the

On February 4, 2010, John Sellers responded to Konstantino in an email. Sellers infgrme

Konstantino that “e[] ven if you are just contemplating . . . you have important fiduciary duties
[and] ongoingconfidentiality obligations.” Later that day, the two men spoke on the telephone
five to ten minutes. Sellers agaimphasized Konstantino’s fiduciary obligations to AngioScore
as a director, including that a conflict of interest would exist if TriReme developed a potential
competing technology. They also discussed the logistics of Konstantino’s resignation from #
Board.

The next day, February 5, 2010, Konstantino replied to Sellersingppsotter, Suennen,
and Raffin:

As we discussed, I’'m surprised and disappointed that you and the
company jumped to the conclusion that | should resign from the
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board based on assumptions after receiving bits and pieces of
information. | amkeenly aware of my obligations as a board
member and this is precisely why | am coming to AngioScore
[now]; before any new project is started.

(PX 107 (emphasis supplied).) To investigate the issue further, Suennen reached out to former
AngioScore CEO, cdeunder, and one of AngioScore’s largest common stockholders, Ephraim
Heller, to discuss filling Konstantino’s board seat and to find out whether Heller knew if
Konstantino was working on a new specialty balloon catheter at that time. (See DX 1292.)

Although Konstantino had done work previously that Heller suspected may have conflicted with

his obligations to AngioScore, Konstantino had reassured him that all such activities had begn

precleared with AngioScore. Heller also stated that at that time, he believed that Konstanting wa

working to bring a “competitive product” to market, although it was not clear whether such devicg

was the Glider, of which AngioScore was already aware, or whether it was a specialty balloo

>

Suennen also spoke with Mike LyraJriReme board member. Lynn stated that he had no

knowledge or recollection that TriReme was working on a specialty balloon catheter.

Based on the above, the board decided to investigate whether Konstantino or TriRemg ha

in fact developed a competitive device. To that end, they questioned Konstantino pointedly. |On
February 10, 2010, John Sellers sent a letter to Konstantino entitled “Obligations to AngioScore,
Inc.” (PX 419.) Knowing only of the GlideAngioScore’s board sought information relative to

whether Konstantino had been working on a device that built off of the Glider model, such ag for

example adding a metal cage around the balloon structure. The top paragraph on the second pe

reads:

Our current presumption is that you have handled these matters in a
manner that fully protects AngioScore and fully complies with your
obligations to AngioScore.
AngioScore acknowledged that as of the date of Konstantino’s resignation, he and
TriReme had “every right going forward to develop products that may compete with AngioScore

as long as you do not use or disclose Angiog&tgreonfidential information or intellectual

property.” (Id.) Nonetheless, Sellers requested that Konstantino confirm that no such activities

9
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took place while Konstantino was on AngioScore’s board: “we respectfully request that you
promptly provide the AngioScore Board of Directors further information regarding these activj
in order to allow the Board to assess whether they are competitive to AngigS@dadre

In response, Konstantino’s counsel sent a letter on February 23, 2010 in which Konstantino
disavowed any development of a specialty balloon by TriReme and affirmed that he had no r,
the development of any such devi@pecifically, Konstantino’s counsel reiterated that prior to
Konstantino’s resignation on February 5, 2010, he was not “involved in any development work or
licensing of angioplasty balloon technology for the coronary or periphery ménketavolves
specialized features such as scoring, cutting, or drug eluting elements.” (PX 420 (emphasis
supplied).) Likewise, Konstantino represented that he was not involved “in any development or
licensing of angioplasty balloon technology for the coronary or periphery markets that makes
similar claims to that of the AngioSculpt product.” (Id.) Konstantino restated that TriReme was
“considering, in the future, the possibility of entering the field of specialized ballodhbut that
before February 5, 20107 riRemeha[d] not developed any products . . . that compete[d] with
AngioScore’s products.” (Id. (emphasis supplied).)

Although the board had no factual basis at the time for believing that such representat
were false, Konstantino’s letter was technically noresponsive to Sellers’s original question and
accordingly, AngioScore continued to pursue the matter.

In an email to the board, Trotter asked for opinions and feedback on Konstantino’s
response, and speculated that Konstantino may have been involved in developing a scoring

version of Glider to compete with AngioScore in the futlir&t that point, Trotter began to

% Two days later, Jim Andrews, AngioScore’s Chief Financial Officer, forwarded Trotter a
TriReme press release concerning its receipt of FDA 510K Clearance for the Glider PTA Bal
Catheter. (DX 1317.) Trotter forwarded the press release to the board of directors less than

minutes later. Given that the Glider opportunity was first presented to Trotter in December of

2009, Trotter noted that “obviously this has been in the works for many months (testing,

submission, approval, etc.) while Eitan was a member of our Board[.]” (Id.) He was concerned

that Konstantino had developed the Glider PTA Balloon Catheter while he had possession of

“considerable amount of [AngioScore’s] confidential Sales & Marketing, Product Development

and Regulatory information.” (DX 1317.) Although at that time Glider was a POBA and not a

specialty balloon, otter was concerned that Konstantino “may be planning to add a scoring
10
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prepare for potential legal action against Konstantino, should any “specialty balloon” come to
light. He asked AgioScore’s patent counsel, Jim Heslin, to monitor new patent applications for
scoring/cutting balloons to see what, if anything, Konstantino might file. And he asked Andrg
to research whether AngioScore’s insurance policy provided coverage for breaches of directors’
duties and obligations.

AngioScore continued to invegite its concerns regarding Konstantino’s involvement
developing a competitive product with Konstantino directly. Sellers followed up with another
letter on March 5, 2010 directed to counsel for Konstantino, and the boards of both TriReme
AngioScore. In it, Sellers remarked that previous representations by Konstantino had avoide
squarely addressing Aiigpcore’s concern, namely, that during Konstantino’s service as a board

member, he:

obtained proprietary and confidential information about AngioScore,

the peripheral market, and the role of specialty balloons in that

market, while at the same tingeveloping and pursuing plans

within TriReme topursue those same markets with another device.
(PX 421 (emphasis supplied)Sellers further stated that AngioScore’s board “specifically would
like to know whether prior to February 5, 2010, Mr. Konstantino and/or TriReme evaluated,
negotiated, or otherwise pursued the acquisition or licensing of any technology that compete
AngioScore’s products, and if so, why that opportunity was not provided to AngioScore in
accordance with Mr. Konstantino’s duties as a Board member of AngioScore.” (1d.)

Again, counsel for Konstantino responded, unequivocally and unambiguously denying

any such activity had taken plac€haracterizing AngioScore’s questioning as predicated on

element over time.” Raffin speculated that the lead time on Konstantino’s success for any such
scoring product would be three to five years out, and Trotter responded that while he agreed
likely timing of any such device, AngioScore “[n]eed[s] to watch him carefully.” (Id.) Raffin and
Trotter both testified that at this time, they were concerned singularly on the Glider balloon, \
was not directly competitive with AngioSiptt and Konstantino’s possible appropriation of that
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POBA platform to make a specialty balloon. Neither suspected that there was a separate specia

balloon platform already underway. Due to the differences between POBAs and specialty
balloons like AngpSculpt, the Court finds that the fact of Glider’s existence cannot be fairly said
to have put AngioScore on notice of Chocolate’s existence.
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“unsubstantiated accusations” against Konstantino, counsel informed AngioScore that should such
accusations continue ostantino will “have no choice but to consider his legal options.” (PX
423))

With that, AngioScore considered its inquiry complete. Konstantino’s representations had
sufficiently assuaged any and all concerns about whether he or TriReme had developed a sf
balloon. AngioScore was satisfied that nothing of the sort had occurred. Based on the natur
strength of Konstantino’s representations, a reasonable person would have come to the same
conclusion.

AngioScore only learned that Chocolate existed a year and a half later, in the second
of 2011, when a sales representative called the Washington Hospital Center and heard that
presentation had been made on a new device c&lledcolate. However, it was only after
Feld’s deposition in the spring of 2014, in connection with AngioScore’s patent case, that
AngioScore discovered all of the facts referenced above evidencing that Chocolate had beer
developed while Konstantino sat on AngioScore’s board. That discovery yielded the claims
herein addressed.

CONCLUSIONS OF LAW

As a member of AngioScore’s board of directors, Konstantino breached his
fiduciary duty to AngioScor e and usurped a cor por ate opportunity when he
developed Chocolate for his own benefit and failed to offer the opportunity to
AngioScore.

A. TheCorporate Opportunity Doctrine Framework

The corporate opportunity doctrine “represents but one species of the broad fiduciary
duties assumed by a corporate director or officer.” Broz v. Cellular Info. Sys., Inc., 673 A.2d 148,
154 (Del. 1996) As a fiduciary of a corporation, directors agree to “place the interests of the
corporation before his or her own in appropriate circumstances.” Id. “At the core of the fiduciary
duty is the notion of loyalty-the equitable requirement that, with respect to the property subje
to the duty, a fiduciary always must act in a good faith effort to advance the interests of his
beneficiary.” In re Mobilactive Media, LLC, No. CIV.A. 5725-VCP, 2013 WL 297950, at *21

(Del. Ch. Jan. 25, 2013) reargument denied, No. CIV.A. 5725-VCP, 2013 WL 1900997 (Del.
12

€cCic

e ar

half

A

Ch.




May 8, 2013) (citing Dweck v. Nasser, 2012 WL 161590, at *12 (Del. Ch. Jan. 18, 2012)).
Noting that corporate directors stand in fiduciary relationship to the corporations they

serve, the Delaware Supreme Court recognized in Guth v. Loft, Inc., 5 A.2d 503 (Del. 1939) that:
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public policy, existing through the years, and derived from a
profound knowledge of human characteristics and motives, has
established a rule that demands of a corporate officer or director,
peremptorily and inexorably, the most scrupulous observance of his
duty, not only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporation
committed to his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that
would work injury to the corporation, or to deprive it of profit or
advantage which his skill and ability might properly bring to it, or to
enable it to make in the reasonable and lawful exercise of its powers.
The rule that requires an undivided and unselfish loyalty to the
corporation demands that there shall be no conflict between duty
and self-interest. The occasions for the determination of honesty,
good faith and loyal conduct are many and varied, and no hard and
fast rule can be formulated. The standard of loyalty is measured by
no fixed scale.

Id. at 510. The corporate opportunity doctrine seeks to define the bounds of this duty where
director may be inclined to take a business opportunity for him or herself. See id. The rule

enunciated in Guth is this:

if there is presented to a corporate officer or director a business
opportunity which the corporation is financially able to undertake,
is, from its nature, in the line of the corporation's business and is of
practical advantage to it, is one in which the corporation has an
interest or a reasonable expectancy, and, by embracing the
opportunity, the self-interest of the officer or director will be
brought into conflict with that of [the] corporation, the law will not
permit him to seize the opportunity for himself.

Id. at 510-11. Thus,nder Delaware law, “[t]he elements of misappropriation of corporate
opportunity are: (1) the opportunity is within the corporation’s line of business; (2) the corporation
has an interest or expectancy in the opportunity; (3) the corporation is financialty akfdoit

the opportunity; and (4) by taking the opportunity for his own, the corporate fiduciary is place
a position inimical to his duties to the corporation.” In re Mobilactive Media, 2013 WL 297950,

at *21. Once the plaintiff has shown theach of the director’s duty of loyalty, the burden
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switches to the fiduciary to show that he or she did not seize a corporate opportunity “because

either the corporation was presented the opportunity and rejected it, or because the corporation

was notm a position to take the opportunity.” Grove v. Brown, No. 6793-VCG, 2013 WL
4041495, at *8 (Del. Ch. Aug. 8, 2013)elaware courts further recognize that “a director or
officer may take a corporate opportunity if: (1) the opportunity is presented to the director or

officer in his individual and not his corporate capacity; (2) the opportunity is not essential to t

corporation; (3) the corporation holds no interest or expectancy in the opportunity; and (4) thg

director or officer has not wrongfully employed the resources of the corporation in pursuing qgr

exploitingthe opportunity.” Broz, 673 A.2d at 155 (emphasis omittéd).
The rule set forth in the Delaware cases accords with economic and public policy, and

civic accountability. Put simply, men are not angels. We require structures to govern condu

D

See [EDERALIST NO. 51. The corporate structure necessarily requires a separation of ownership

and control, which produces a conflict: the shareholders are the principle bearers of risk, but the

board of directors are vested with the power to make managerial decisions. (See Trial Tr. at
646:7-21 (Testimony of Prof. Eric Talley).) Centralizing decisionmaking authority in a board
directors presents efficiencies insofar as sharehotderdiversify their interests, which, in turn,
has contributed to substantial economic growth and developmdnat 646:22-647:21.)
However, the concentration of decisionmaking power in individuals who do not necessarily b

the risk creates a misalignment of interestd. &t 647:23-649-9.) The general purpose of

* The parties dispute the precise interplay between the test enunciated in Guth, and the

counter-test, or corollary test, enunciated in Broz. The first test sets forth the elements of

ear

misappropriation of a corporate opportunity; the second test recognizes circumstances whereupc

a director or officer may take a corporate opportunity for himself. Although the tests appear

At

variance, in substance, they are concordant. The fundamental question is whether a corporate

director, standing in fiduciary relation to a corporation he serves, has fallen short of “the most

scrupulous observance of his duty not only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corporatior

committed to his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work injury to the
corporation, or to deprive it of profit or advantage which his skill and ability might properly bri
to it, or to enable it to make in the reasonable and lawful exercise of its povrth, 5 A.2d at
511. That these tests are concordant is evident from their overlap. Ciritically, both the Guth {
and the Broz corollary test turn on whether the corporation had an interest or expectancy in t
opportunity. Because the Court finds that AngioScore did have an interest or expectancy in
Chocolate, under both tests, Konstantino has breached his duty of loyalty.
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corporate governance principles, specifically, the duties of care and loyalty, is to control for the

moral hazards that arise when directors either shirk their responsibilities or self-$era¢. (
649:10-650:25.) Without strong corporate governance principles, the trust that underpins a
shareholder’s decision to invest will dissolve, with broader economic consequences to follow. (ld.
at 651:17-652:10.)

Whether a corporate opportunity has been usurpéfactual question to be decided by

reasonable inferences from objective fact&uth, 5 A.2d at 513.

B. The Corporate Opportunity Doctrine appliesto a director whoisalso an
inventor.

Throughout this case, defendants have argued that the corporate opportunity doctrine
cannot apply where, as here, a director invents a technology, even where such technology is
directly competitive with that of the corporation he serves. Defendants maintain that becauss
Chocolate was intellectual property belonging to Konstantino and the product of his own
innovation, this necessarily obviates any fiduciary obligation to offer Chocolate to AngioScorg¢
(DOB at 2-3.) The Court disagrees.

The fact of inventorship does not absolve a director of his fiduciary obligations with
respect to inventions he may develop that compete with the corporation he serves. To hold
otherwise would work an absurdity. Directors of corporations would be free to invent and de
competing technologies for their own benefit, concealing the same from the companies they
even where elements of those inventions would likely benefit the companies. This scenario

in stark opposition to the foundational principles of corporate governance, which demand thg

directors exalt the interests of the companies they serve above their own. Guth, 5 A.2d at 51

(“the rule . . . demands of a corporate officer or director, peremptorily and inexorably, the mo
scrupulous observance of his duty, not only affirmatively to protect the interests of the corpof
committed to his charge, but also to refrain from doing anything that would work injury to the
corporation, or to deprive it of profit or advantage which his skill and ability might properly bri
to it, or to enable it to make in the reasonable and lawful exercise of its pywsfsst seriously,
the extension of defendants’ preferred rule would have directors entertain divided loyalty. The
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position is untenable. See (d[t]he rule ... demands that there shall be no conflict between duty

and selfinterest”). The rule makes logical sense. A director can leave the corporation thereb

dissolving the duties he owes. A corporation cannot and therefore relies on untarnished fide

ity.

Defendants cite no case holding conclusively in their favor, but rather argue by analogy to

Equity Corp v. Milton, 221 A.2d 494 (Del. 1966). That case is distinguishable. First, the facts of

Milton counseled against a finding that the opportunity to that interest rightfully and in fairnes

belonged to the corporation. Milton, 221 A.2d 48&e also Thorpe v. CERBCO, Inc., No. CIV.Al

11713, 1993 WL 443406 (Del. Ch. Oct. 29, 1963Y¥hile courts have considered a number of
criteria in evaluating whether a director has usurped a corporate opportunity, the essence of
doctrine is ‘that a director may not appropriate something for himself that in all fairness shoulg
belong to his corporatiotY) (citing Milton, 221 A.2d at 497). Applying this standard, the Milton
court determined that the claimed opportunity was not, in fairness, one belonging to the
corporation- it was not of practical advantage to the corporationi(ses 497), in keeping with
the business of the corporation, nor did it fit into an established corporate poliay. sé¢aving
laid this foundation, the court statédf any doubt remains,” the shares that had previously been
controlled by Milton were later reacquired by him; simply put, the entire transaction from star
finish concerned Milton’s property. Essentially, because there was nothing wrong with a
corporate officer owning and controlling stock of his corporation, the court found that the duty
loyalty is not violated when a director shifts that ownership as he sedslfiat 498-99.) Thus,

there was conclusively no corporate opportunity at issue in Milton.

® Likewise, defendants’ reliance on Science Accessories Corp. v. Summagraphics Corp.,
425 A.2d 957 (Del. 1980) does not aid their position. The question presented in Summagra
was exceedingly narrow: did the trial court’s finding that no corporate opportunity existed (which

finding was not appealed to the Delaware Supreme Court), leave room for a separate claim for

breach of fiduciary duty? ldt 962 (“The thrust of SAC’s fiduciary breach of duty argument is

that the trial court’s conceded finding that Brenner’s concept was not an opportunity available to

SAC but one that defendants could take for themselves is not determinative of SAC’s right to

equitable relief by reason of defendants’ breach of so-called “independent” fiduciary duties owed

to SAC.”). The Delaware Supreme Court thus considered the scope of fiduciary duty law and

concluded that where no corporate opportunity is found to exist, as was the case in

Summagraphicshat conclusion “finally determines the right of the corporate officer to treat the

opportunity as his own.” Id. at 964 (quotation omitted)). The fact that no corporate opportunity
16
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The logic enunciated in Milton does roinpel a finding in defendants’ favor here. The
essential question is whether a director has appropriated something for himself that, in all fai
should belong to his corporation. The determination of this question is always one of fact to

determined from the objective facts and surrounding circumstances. Johnston v, X&ene

rnes

be

A.2d 919, 923 (Del. 1956). Here, the Court is confronted with facts establishing that Konstantino

aware of AngioScore’s competition-sensitive information, its then-existing financial condition,
design challenges, and business objectives, developed a competing device while on AngioScore’s
board and took affirmative steps to exploit it himself while conce#lifrgm AngioScore. At the

same time, Konstantino was aware that he owed AngioScore fiduciary duties. On these fact

, th

UJ

Konstantino invented the competitive technology does not serve his argument that he should be

absolved of his fiduciary obligations to AngioScore. Rather, it works the opposite effect:
Konstantino’s failure to abide by his duty is plainly all the more offensive. For these reasons,
Court finds that it cannot indulge defendants’ position and find that the corporate opportunity
doctrine does not apply.

At the same time, AngioScdseposition is equally untenable. AngioScore posits that by

virtue of Konstantino’s position as a director, AngioScore had a right to the Chocolate outright,

the

and that therefore Konstantino was obligated to give the opportunity to AngioScore. The logical

extension of this position demonstrates its implausibility. Were this the case, Konstantino’s

invention assignment agreement would have been superfluous in the first instance, and so, t

existed in Summagraphiess critical to the court’s reasoning, and essential to its holding. See

id. (“No case authority has been cited by appellant to support the proposition that key corporate
personnel are under a duty to disclose to their employer and not divert from him a business
proposition that has been found not to be available and essential to the corporation.”).

Furthermore, to the extent defendants argue that Summagraphics samctiaptogee’s acts in
anticipation of eventual competition, the limits of this freedom are deéihed: a fiduciary’s

right to make such arrangements is “by no means absolute,” particularly in instances where the
fiduciary engages in “usurpation of [the] employer’s business opportunity,” and “the ultimate
determination of whether an employee has breached his fiduciary duties to his employer by
preparing to engage in a competing enterprise must be grounded upon a thoroughgoing
examination of the facts andt@umstances of the particular case.” 1d. at 965 (citations, quotations
omitted). Here, the Court finds that Konstantino did usurp (indeed, created and then usurpe(
corporate opportunity, and that his machinations were not merely preparatory.
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would all invention assignment agreements between directors and the corporations they ser
The Court cannot overlook the effect such a rule would work in the context of intellectual pro
and emerging technologies. Critically, holding that directors who are also innovators must

relinquish to the corporations they serve technologies falling within that corporation’s line of

e.

perty

business, in which the corporation has an interest or expectancy, or which aligns with its busjnes

purpose and objectives, would serve to undermine innovation. Indeed, holding as AngioSco
requests would subvert fundamental principles of intellectual property respecting inventors’ rights,

which are designed to encourage, not discourage, ingenuity and innovation. The fact that th

(e

S C¢

concerns a medical device, which is currently being used in medical procedures in this country,

only serves to underscore the public interest in innovation.

With these positions, the parties posit a tension: do fiduciary duties extend so far as tp

compromise, potentially fatally, innovation; or, by contrdsts a director’s ingenuity and

innovation provide an escape route from his fiduciary duties? Neither extreme prevails. A court

must apply the principles of the law in such a way that balances the wise public policy behind the

Guth rule, with the public policy counseling in favor of innovation. For this reason, the Court

finds that although AngioScore was owed fiduciary duties by Konstantino, those duties did not

entitle AngioScore to outright ownership of the Chocolate opportunity at any point in time.
Rather, what Konstantino’s fiduciary duty demanded was that he offer AngioScore the opportunity
to acquire the rights to the Chocolate. The Court need not venture as to specifics of such a
transaction, but having chosen to remain on AngioScore’s board, the offering must occur to satisfy
both the law of fiduciary duties and the public interest in innovation. Offanmgportunity to
AngioScore meetBelaware’s demand that directors not undertake any activity that would work
harm to the corporation they serve and prioritize the interests of those corporations above th
own. See In re Mobilactive Media, LLC, 2013 WL 297950, at *24t (he core of the fiduciary
duty is the notion of loyalty . . . with respect to the property subject to the duty, a fiduciary a
must act in a good faith effort to advance the interests of his beneficiary.”). It also accords with
directors’ duty not to “do anything’ that would“deprive’ the corporations they servef profit or

advantage which [their] skill and ability might properly bring td iGuth, 5 A.2d at 510. And, it
18
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remains faithful to the general principle that a director can establish conclusively no breach gf his

fiduciary duty where, in keeping the interests of the corporation he serves first in mind, the

corporation is presented the opportunity and rejects it. See Grove, 2013 WL 4041495, at *8.

By

ensuring that transparency and good faith predominate, the application of the rule in this manner

assures that any conflict will be resolvable.

C. Application of the Corporate Opportunity Doctrine

1. Chocolate was an “opportunity” when Konstantino was on
AngioScore’s Board, and as such, falls under the Corporate
Opportunity Doctrine.

Longstanding law requires that certéuapportunities” be offered to the corporation. The
definition of an “opportunity” is “a favorable juncture of circumstances” or “a good chance for
advancement or progress.” MERRIAM-WEBSTER New Collegiate Dictionary (9th ed. 1988). The
evidence adduced in this case establishes conclusively that as of the date Konstantino resig
from AngioScore’s board of directors, Chocolate was a concrete business opportunity. By th
point, Chocolate had developed from a mere idea into a concrete opportunity. It had been in
development for approximately five months. The initlahinstorming” discussions in the second
half of 2009 had resulted in the creation of many engineering design models, followed by phy
models and prototypes. By January of 2010, the Chocolate design was so complete that
prototypes were suitable for testing, and in fact, was the subject of a porcine study at Stanfol
which TriReme employees and Konstantino attended.

Not only was Chocolate sufficiently developed to enable testing, development of
Chocolate had advanced to the point that Konstantino felt it appropriate to market it as an
opportunity for investors. The fact that much development remained is no relevant to whethg
opportunity had already manifested. Defendants cannot escape that during the second half
2009, Konstantino offered between twenty and thirty investors the opportunity to invest in
Chocolate. In preparation for investor meetings, Konstantino prepared slide presentations in
which he described the Chocolate technology, extolled its competitive, medical virtues, and

delineated the phases for potential investment. In a November 2009 presentation seeking fy
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from the Singapore Economic Development Board, Konstantino statatld¢ Chocolate “IP,
Concept design, Prototypes, business model, Team, [and] partnerships” were all “completed.” In
furtherance of his financial objectives, Konstantino corresponded with potential investors. In
communications, he represented tihdcolate’s “initial design already works well and attracts a
lot of attention” and thatChocolate’s product design was completed.

Such claims were not mere puffery designed to solicit investment. In early 2010, desi
the Chocolate was essentially complete. Ind€adgcolate’s 510K application in 2011 referenced

testing completed on Chocolate’s nitinol cage designs created in January 2010. Based on thes

suc

na

Q

1%

facts, that Chocolate had been developed to the point sufficient to render it a concrete busingss

opportunityprior to Konstantino’s resignation from AngioScore’s board of directors cannot be

reasonably disputed. If the Chocolate opportunity was sufficiently concrete for twenty to thirty

investors, it was sufficiently developed to be offereAngioScore. The Court so finds.
2. Chocolate falls within AngioScore’s line of business.
An opportunity is within a corporation’s line of business if it is “an activity as to which

[the corporation] has fundamental knowledge, practical experience and ability to pursue, whi

logically and naturally, is adaptable to its business having regard for its financial position, and is

one that is consonant with its reasonable needs and aspirations for expansion.” In re Mobilactive
Media, 2013 WL 297950, at *21 (citing Guth, 5 A.2d at 514). This factor is to be broadly
construed.ld. (citing Dweck, 2012 WL 161590, at *13).

The Court finds that Chocolate falls within AngioScore’s line of business. Since its

founding in 2003, AngioScore has designed, manufactured, and marketed angioplasty ballogn

catheters surrounded by a nitinol structure that are used for the treatment of cardiovascular gise:

and sold under the brand name AngioSculpt. The evidence demonstrates conclusively that

AngioSculpt and Chocolate are similar in both purpose and function. AngioSculpt and Chocolate

are both angioplasty balloon catheters consisting of a nitinol cage surrounding a semi-compl

ant

balloon. Both are used to open occluded or narrowed blood vessels at lesion sites by inflating to

compress plaque deposits against the vessel wall and then deflating for removal from the patient’s

body. Both devices were cleared by the FDA with overlapping indications for use. Indeed, tk
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are no indications for which the peripheral Chocolate device is cleared that the peripheral

AngioScore device is not and the devices make similar marketing claims. Both specialty bal
and as such, enjoy premium pricing over that of plain old balloon angioplasty (POBA) produd
In fact, Chocolate is priced at $25 per unit less than the AngioSculpt. Moreover, as set forth
more detail below, Chocolate is a competitor to the AngioSculpt with a common customer b

Under Delaware law, the “line of business” element is to be broadly construed. The Court
finds it met here. The similarities in terms of purpose and function establish that AngioScore
“fundamental knowledge and practical experience” to pursue Chocolate. That AngioScore has
historically focused on products that “scored” plaque is of no moment, for the devices are
materially similar and their differences amount to variations on a common theme. For examy
both devices are comprised of nylon balloons encased in nitinol cages. No other specialty
balloons on the market use nitinol cage on a semi-compliant ballttenBoston Scientific
Cutting Balloon uses surgical steel, and the Vascutrak uses stainless steel guitierwitker,
given the overlapping features and design, AngioScore’s manufacturing and distribution process
could have easily been modified to accommodate Chocolate. BHoeblate’s component parts
were essentially the same as those of the AngioSculpt.

Based on the above findings, the conclusion is inescapabl@hibailate is “logically and
naturally . . . adap#ld to [AngioScore’s] business.” See In re Mobilactive Media, 2013 WL
297950, at *21 (citation omitted).

3. AngioScore had an interest or expectancy in Chocolate.

“[F]or a corporation to have an expectant interest in any specific property, there must
some tie between theoperty and the nature of the corporate business.” Grove, 2013 WL
4041495, at *8 (internal quotes omittedy requiring “a tie to the ‘nature of the corporate
business,’” this factor“implicates many of the issuediscussed above concerninggoScore’s
line of business. See Beam ex rel. Martha Stewart Living Omnimedia, Inc. v. Stewart, 833 A

961, 973 (Del. Ch. 2003) (citing BroZ73 A.2d at 156). Even if there is a “tie” between the line

® Nonetheless, those devices also compete with AngioSculpt.
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of a corporation’s business and the potential opportunity, however, the Court may decline to find
an interest or expectancy where facts establish that a corporation is shifting away from its
historical line of business, where it disavows such interest, and where it lacks the capacity to

capitalize on the interest. In Broz, for example, the Delaware Supreme Court found that ther

E We

no interest or expectancy where a corporation was divesting in the area of venture from whigh th

potential opportunity arose, and where its business plan did not contemplate any new acquisjition

Broz, 673 A.2d at 156. The inquiry requires a court to use its judgment to discern whether, diven

the factual context of each particular case cthrporation had an interest, “actual or in
expectancy or whether the acquisitiorf property for a director’s own use “may hinder or defeat
the plans and purposes of the corporation in the carrying on or development of the legitimate
business for which it was created.” Johnston, 121 A.2dt 924 (citations omitted) (emphasis in
original).

As detailed in the preceding discussion, the Court finds‘tbate tie” exists between
Chocolate and the nature of AngioScore’s business. The devices are both angioplasty balloon
catheters that serve similar purposes and are constructed from the same materials. Well be
the loose connection that the “some tie” standard evokes, however, the Court finds that in 2009
and early 2010, AngioScore had an actual and expectancy interest in Chocolate by virtue of
then-existing needs and business puegas well as Chocolate’s unique features and potential

benefits to AngioScore. The Court so finds for three main reagdn€hocolate’s design

yonc

—

S

configuration could have proven helpful, and at a minimum, would have been seriously considere

in solvingAngioScore’s then-existing problem with creating AngioSculpt devices at 100mm
lengths; (2)Chocolate’s potential as a drug-eluting specialty balloon technology was in keeping
with AngioScore’s business goal to bring such a device to market; and (3) AngioScore had ar

interest in keeping a direct competitor out of the relatively small specialty balloon market.

Collectively, these conclusions compel a finding that AngioScore had an interest and expectancy

in Chocolate as of, at the latest, the date Konstantino resigned from its board. The Court

elaborates:
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First, in late 2009, AngioScore needed a balloon design amenable to longer length
catheters. AngioScore was facing design challenges with its 100mm AngioSculpt. At the sa|
time, drawings and prototypes of 100mm Chocolate balloons existed. Jeffrey Bleam,
AngioScoreés Vice President of Research and Development, explainediipawy’s difficulty
executing its 100mm AngioSculpt balloon. Part of the engineering challenge had to do with

ensuring that the balloon would inflate uniformly while inside the nitinol cage. In the longer

me

lengths, the balloon was less likely to inflate uniformly every time. The concern was that ungven

inflation would result in an uneven distribution of force, jeopardizing the safety and effectiveness

of the device. The company devoted significant resources to resolving this problem. Although

research began in 2009, AngioScore did not release a 100mm balloon until 2011. Even as
AngioScore finalized its first generation 100mm AngioSculpt, there remained issues with
deployment. The company then devoted further engineering resources to design a second
generation balloon. Ultimately, the engineering team discovered that by adding cross-length
the metal struts, they were able to ensure more even deployment of the balloon. The secon(
generation 100mm balloon was released in 2013, presenting the critical cross-struts.

Had AngioScore known about the importance of the cross-struts back in 2009 and 20
likely never would have released the first generation 100mm AngioSculpt. To that end, the
Chocolatés design would have been of considerable help. The cross-lengths added to the
AngioSculpt 100mm resemble, at least conceptually, those which present as radial struts on
Chocolate device, and which had been a part of the Chocolate design since its early develop
in 2009. Bleam testified that had he gained access to the Chottelategue elements could
have benefitted the design of the 100mm AngioSculpt. He stated that the radial strut configu
was‘“pretty interesting, specificaliyand its cross-application was relatively
obvious. Accordingly, the Court finds it plausible tBabcolate’s design would have aided
AngioScore’s pursuit of a 100mm balloon.

Secondthe Court finds theChocolate’s avowed potential as a drug-eluting specialty
balloon as of late 200&corded with AngioScore’s business goal of bringing a drug-eluting

balloon to market, and AngioScore would have therefore been interested in such technology
23
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member of AngioScore’s board, Konstantino knew that AngioScore’s strategy included bringing

drug-eluting balloon to marketn fact, the issue was discussed at AngioScore’s 2010 board

meeting, which Konstantino attended. (See PX 246 (AngioScore February 2010 Board Meeting

presentation, giving overview of then-existing cash balance, notably above budget, research
development items, including drug-coated devices).) The fact that Konstantino was soliciting
investments upon representations thiadcolate was an “ideal platform for drug delivery” (see PX
85) establishes conclusively that Chocolatald have aligned with AngioScore’s stated business
objectives, long-term research and development plan, and business purpose. Moreover,
Konstantino’s attendance at AngioSeds board meetings confirms that he both knew and
understood AngioScore’s desire to enter this portion of the market.

Third, the Court finds that based on the evidence adduced at trial, AngioScore would
been interested in Chocolate because rejecting the Chocolate opportunity carried financial
implications for the company: namely, the potential entry of a competitive device into the
specialty balloon catheter marketplace ai#lely reduction in AngioScore’s market share.In so
finding, the Court notes that AngioScore competes in a relatively small, specialty balloon cat
market. In late 2009 and early 2010, there were only two general types of balloon cathbeers

specialty balloon marketthose that scored or cut, as in the case of the Boston Scientific Cultti

Balloon and the AngioSculpt, and the Vascutrak, which possesses stainless steel guide wires.

market was thus defined by the nature of the devices then available. Chocolate presented a
paradigm-shifting design: a cage designed to create pillows and grooves in such a way as tq
focal force on the balloon surface as it pushes through the openings in the cage. The entry ¢

a device into a small, competitive marketplace previously limited to devices whose purpose

and
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) Cre
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have metal come into contact with a vessel wall would have significant implications for revenues.

As a young company, revenue growth was a primary concern for AngioScore. (See Trial Tr.
488:17-22; 489:15-490:4 (Raffin).) The business judgment revealed during the course of
testimony, in combination with common sense, leads the Court to conclude that AngioScore

would not have simply done nothing had Chocolate been offered in a timely fashion.
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Defendants advance primarily thraguments in opposition to the interest and expectan
element. (See DRB at 7-8.) The Court finds none persuasive based on the evidence in this

First, defendants argue that AngioScore would have rejected Chocolate heeasscused

cy

case

singularly on developing the AngioSculpt line of scoring balloons. Second, defendants argue tha

AngioScore disclaimed any interest in Chocolate when Konstantino’s invention assignment

agreement terminated at the conclusion of his employment with AngioScore, and relatedly, that

the only entities with legally cognizable interests in Chocolate were Konstantino and Feld,
Chocolate’s inventors. Third, defendants maintain that AngioScore would have passed on the
Chocolate opportunity due to personality conflicts with Konstantino. The Court addresses, a
rejects, each in turn.

As to the first argument, for the reasons set forth above, the Court is not convinced th
AngioScore would not have been interested in Chocolate. Put differently, the Court is not
persuaded that AngioScore would have refused the opportunity. The fact that Chocolate dog
engage in an identical mechanism of action to that of the AngioSculpt is not enough to overc
the weight of eidence supporting the Court’s finding that AngioScore would have been interested
in Chocolate.

Defendants argue thamgioScore’s 2009 rejection ohnunnamed scoring device
establishes that AngioScore would not have been interested in ChocolateScargsomid-2009
rejection of a new scoring balloevas based in part on Trotter’s belief that there was no strong
need to add another scoring device to the market. (See DX 1099.) The Court is not convinc
this decision bears on whether AngioScore had an interest or expectancy in Chocolate. The
opportunity presented in early 2009 related to another concrete product. AngioScore was
permitted to evaluate the design features. In light of this concrete opportunity, Trotter explai
that AngioScore etlined to pursue the proposed technology because “there was nothing
particularly impressive about it.” (Trial Tr. at 627:25-628:1 (Trotter direct).) He further added
that he “didn’t see that there was any innovation there that would be valuable to AngioScore.” (Id.
at 628:1-2.) The fact that Chocolate represented a new confeatl force through the creation

of balloon pillows, rather than scorirgsets it apart from the opportunity AngioScore
25
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contemplated and rejectetiloreover, as set forth above, AngioScore would have been interested

in Chocolate for its presentation of longer lengths and for its potential as a drug-eluting devic

Defendants further rely on answers board members provided in response to a survey

conducted by a consultant, Sarah Lugaric. Board members were directed to answer the follgwin

guestionDo you support acquiring another company, technology, or product line? (yes/no,

timing, description). The board’s responses fell onto a spectrum some directors were open to it
others less so. Three of the seven directors were opposed to acquiring another company,
technology, or product line; four indicated that they would be open to it with certain reservatiq
Defendants seize on these answers to argue that the board never would have been intereste
Chocolate. The Court disagrees. First, the Lugaric question was hypothetical and abstract.
Second, the question relatedhieombers’ inclination to acquire more than simply a new produet
it also concerned whether the members would be interested in the acquisition of another con
The directors were not considering a concrete, potentially paradigm-changing technology. T
did not know that Chocolate existed. The answers to this survey thus cannot undermine the
Court’s finding that AngioScore had an interest or expectancy in the Chocolate.

Defendants’ second argumeméduces to this: AngioScore did not renew Konstantino’s
invention assignment agreement. Therefore, AngioScore had no intdfeskiantino’s
inventions. Chocolate was one such invention. Therefore, AngioScore had no interest in
Chocolate. (DRB at 7.) Under the terms of an invention assignment agreement and as a mg
contract law, this would appear to make sense. However, the rights and obligations to which
parties agree in the context of an employee/employer invention assignment agreement are
fundamentally different from the nature of the issue presented here: whether, in developing
Chocolate, and secreting it from the corporation he served for his own personal benefit,
Konstantino violated his duty of loyalty to AngioScore. Simply because AngioScore would n

longer automatically have property rights in anything Konstantino invented does not obviate

Konstantino’s obligation to adhere scrupulously to his duty to place the interests of AngioScore

above his own financial gain. The lack of an invention assignment agreement does not absg

director of his fiduciary obligations with respect to inventions he may develop that compete W
26
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the corporation he serves. To hold otherwise would undermine the basic fabric upon which the

duty is based.

Last, defendants maintain that AngioScore would have passed on the Chocolate
opportunity due to personality conflicts between Konstantino and members of the AngioScor
board. Throughout the trial in this case, the defense returned to its theory that at some point
between 2006 and 201f¢mbers of AngioScore’s board had essentially blacklisted Konstantino.
While the Court agrees that personality conflimay have existed, defendants’ resort to

overstatement undermines their credibility and any relevance the true facts might have had.

the exception of Ozdil, with whom Konstantino had previously had an altercation, and possibly

11

Witl

Tom Trotter, who was less than pleased to hear that in December 2009 Konstantino and TriRem

were embarking on building a POBA (the Glider), the Court finds that Konstantino was genenally

well-regarded and respected by his other fellow board members in the time period leading up to

his resignation. No board members who testified stated that prior to the events giving rise to

litigation, they had anything but amicable and professional interactions with Konstantino. No

this

ne

witnessed any effort by any other board member to push Konstantino off the board, nor did gny

board member witness any hostility between AngioScore and Konstantino. No evidence, be
Konstantino’s ruminations, supports any inference that board members possessed anti-Semit
feelings toward Konstantino. Board members Raffin and Suennen testified credibly that no g
harbored such feelings and that they themselves are Jebaktantino’s claim that he was
ostracized at AngioScoiig further undermined by evidence that AngioScore’s CEO, Trotter, was
helping Konstantino further his non-AngioScore business pursuits, including fundraising for
TriReme, around the same time Konstantino and Feld were developing Chocolate. Specifica
August of 2009, Trotter emailed Ivan Pirzada in an attempt to get Konstantino funding. (PX 1
In December 2009, Trotter sent Konstantino a tip on potential funders for TriReme. (PX 241
The Court thus finds that therenis merit to Konstantino’s claim that AngioScore would not have

worked with him on Chocolate. Furthermore, and to state the obvious, personality conflicts

between board members do not obviate their fiduciary duties to the companies they serve. T

law expects and demands that board members rise above such concerns.
27
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Accordingly, the Court finds that AngioScore had an interest and expectancy in the

Chocolate opportunity.

4. AngioScore had the financial capacity to exploit the Chocolate
opportunity.

The Court finds that AngioScore had the financial ability to exploit Chocolate. In so
finding, the Court is mindful that under Delaware law, this prong implicates broader policy

concerns more favorable to the corporation. Such concerns stem from the inherent conflict

between, on the one hand, a director who has control and responsibility for the financial security

of the corporation he serves, and on the other hand, the director’s potential personal interest in

ensuring that the company not have secured financial footing so as to permit usurpation of what

otherwise might be a corporate opportunity. Thus, once the plaintiff has made such a prima
showing of financial ability, a fiduciary “faces a significant burden in establishing that a

corporation was financially unable to take advantage of a corporate opportunity.” Norman v.

Elkin, 617 F. Supp. 2d 303, 312 (D. Del. 2009) (citing Gen. Video Corp. v. Kertesz, No. 1922;
VCL, 2008 WL 5247120, at *19 (Del. Ch. Dec. 17, 2008) (finding financial inability must amo

to insolvency such that the company is practically defunct); but see Yiannatsis v. Stephanis hy

Sterianou, 653 A.2d 275, 279 (Del. 1995) (declining to addpt‘insolvency-in-fact test’”’;

stating insteadhat courts should consider “a number of options and standards for determining

financial inability, including but not limited to, a balancing standard, temporary insolvency

standard, or practical ins@ncy standard”)). Defendants have not established AngioScore’s

inability to capitalize on the Chocolate opportunity. To the contrary, AngioScore has establis

that it could have capitalized on Chocolate had Konstantino offered the opportunity.
Evidence regarding what it would have cost to develop Chocolate varies, but in all eve

reflects an initial amount that fell below the amount of cash AngioScore had on hand at the e

2009 and beginning of 2010. According to an email from November 17, 2009, Konstantino

estimated capital requirement of approxirha®&3 million. (PX 70.) By May 2010, Konstantino

had secured sufficient capital to pursue the Chocolate “all the way to first commercial sale”; the

total raised to that point was $4.5 to 5 million. (PX 547; Belson dep., discussing Feb 2010
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Chocolate presentation that placed the cost of developing Chocolate at roughly $2 million U$

beyond the Singaporean EDB grant, PX 78).) Finally, with respect to the amount of money

required to acquire an assignment of the intellectual property rights to Chocolate, the record

that value in the amount of $370,000 cash and a royalty of 5%. (Trial Tr. at 237:8-18.) In the

event such right was acquired, however, there is nothing to suggest that AngioScore would H
been obligated to develop Chocolate.
Based on the above figures, even assuming that Chocolate would have cost $5 millio)
develop, the Court finds that AngioScore was able to exploit this opportunity through several
avenues. First, AngioScore had approximately $17 million cash on hand in October 2009, at
excess of $15 million cash on hand at the end of 2009. Second, as a going concern with exi
relationships, AngioScore could have obtained funds from external investors, such as Oxforg
Finance, or other venture capital funds. In December 2009, for example, Oxford Capital
expressed a willingness to lend between $10 and $20 million to AngioScore. Third, AngioSc
could have redirected research and development money it was currently using to fix the desi
problems for its 200mm AngioSculpt product. This financial position existed notwithstanding
downsizing and resources expended in response to a Department of Justice investigation.

The practicalities of new technology comparfia@sher support the Court’s conclusion.
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Konstantino himself admitted that startup companies in Silicon Valley, such as AngioScore and

TriReme, are frequently short on cash and face the prospect of running out of money. He fu
stated that the fact that such a company is‘matfitable’ doesn’t mean that the copany is “not
successful.” For example, TriReme was not able to gslAntares product, a stent, in the United
States, and Antares made only negligible sales abidegpite TriReme’s limited financial
position, TriReme was able to develop Chocolate

Based on the foregoing, the Court finds that AngioScore was able to exploit the Chocy
opportunity. Despite having been privy to Angiofg’s confidential financial documents as a
member of AngioScore’s board of directors (see e.g., PX 246, February 2010 board meeting
presentation including proposed budget, discussion of cash on hand), Konstantino never bro

the subject of Chocolate with AngioScore.
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5. By takingthe Chocolate for himself, Konstantino placed himself in
a position inimical to hisfiduciary duties to AngioScore.

The result of the above findings compels the conclusion that by taking the Chocolate
opportunity for himself and companies he preferred, to the exclusion of AngioScore, Konstan
placed himself in a “position inimicable to his duties to the corporation.” Broz, 673 A.2d at 155.
In essence, he became a competitor to AngioScore. It is axiomatic that as such, absent som
knowing waiver by AngioScore, Konstantino could never fulfill his duty of loyalty to AngioSco
Any financial gain Konstantino enjoyed stemmed fiGhocolate’s success in the limited
specialty balloon markgein which AngioScore is a key player. Indeed, while sitting on
AngioScore’s board, Konstantino participated in a strategy where, by design, Chocolate woulg
compete with AngioScore. Chocolaterice was explicitly tied to AngioSculpt pricing, i.e.
exactly$25 less than AngioScore’s products. That Chocolate was priced just below the
AngioSculpt was intended talrive rapid adoption” and “get faster uptick” in the specialty
balloon catheter market. Moreover, Konstantino himself extolled the advantages of Chocola
compared to scoring ballooriacluding AngioScore’s devices, as he sought to secure funding for
Chocolate.

This factor is therefore mets & each element of AngioScore’s breach of fiduciary duty
claim.

. The Statute of Limitations does not bar AngioScore’s claims.

“A claim for breach of fiduciary duty accruasthe time of the wrongful act.” Sutherland
v. Sutherland, No. CIV.A. 2399-VCN, 2010 WL 1838968, at *8 (Del. Ch. May 3, 2010); see
Pomeranz v. Museum Partners, L.P., No. CIV.A. 20211, 2005 WL 217039, at *8 (Del. Ch. Jg
24, 2005). The parties agree as follows: (i) the relevant statute of limitations for breach of

fiduciary duty claims is three yedrs(ii) the acts giving rise to the instant claim occurred in 200

tino

e

e

n.

" Under Delaware law, the doctrine of laches governs the timeliness of claims brought in

equity. Courts sitting in equity will apply by analogy the statute of limitations for substantive
claims in order to apply the doctrine of laches. Pomeranz, 2005 WL 217039, at *2. Here, th
years is the relevant limitations period.
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and 2010; and (iii) more than three years elapsed between those acts and when plaintiff bro,
its claim (here, June 27, 2014). The central issue is whether equitable tolling is available.
Plaintiff bears the burden of establishing that such tolling is warranted. Pomeranz, 2005 WL
217039, at *2. Defendants claim the statute has run because AngioScore was on notice by |
than February 5, 2010, the date of Konstantino’s resignation.

Three bases for tolling exist under Delaware law: (1) the inherently unknowable doctri

(the “Discovery Rule”), (2) equitable tolling, and (3) fraudulent concealment. As set forth in

Smith v. McGee, No. CIV.A. 2101-S, 2006 WL 3000363, at *3-*4 (Del. Ch. Oct. 16, 2006), the

contours of each of these bases is as follows:

A limitations period may be tolled under the inherently unknowable
doctrine so long as “the discovery of the existence of a cause of
action is a practical impossibility.” Specifically, “there must have

been no observable or objective factors to put a party on notice of an
injury, and plaintiffs must show that they were blamelessly ignorant
of the act or omission and the injury.” Plaintiffs may establish
“blameless ignorance” by showing justifiable reliance on a person
whom they have “no ostensible reason to suspect of deception.”

Such proof tolls the limitadns period until a plaintiff had “reason to
know” of a wrong.

Equitable tolling is appropriate “where a plaintiff reasonably relies

on the competence and good faith of a fiduciary.” Underlying this
doctrine is the idea that “even an attentive and diligent [investor]
relying, in complete propriety, upon the good faith of [fiduciaries]
may be completely ignorant of transactions that ... constitute self-
interested acts injurious to the [Partnership].” This doctrine also
tolls the limitations period until an investor knew or had reason to
know of the facts constituting the wrong.

Fraudulent concealment, unlike the doctrines of inherently
unknowable injuries and equitable tolling, “requires an affirmative

act of concealment by a defendanttactual artifice’ that prevents a
plaintiff from gaining knowledge of the facts or some
misrepresentation that is intended to put a plaintiff off the trail of
inquiry.” Nevertheless, “mere ignorance of the facts by a plaintiff,

where there has been no such concealment, is no obstacle to
operation of the statute.” Like the previously mentioned doctrines,
tolling exists only “until his rights are discovered or until they could

have been discovered by the exercise of reasonable diligence.”

Id. (citing In re Dean Witter P'ship Litig., 1998 WL 442456 (Del. Ch. July 17, 1998)). Under
31
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Delaware law, tolling is proper only until a plaintiff is properly put on inquiry notit&hen
plaintiffs are on inquiry notice, the statute of limitations begins to run. Inquiry notice does no
require full knowledge of the material facts; rather, plaintiffs are on inquiry notice when they
have sufficient knowledge to raise their suspicions to the point where persons of ordinary
intelligence and prudence would commence an investigation that, if pursued, would lead to t}
discovery of the injury.” Pomeranz, 2005 WL 217039, at *3 (citation omitted).

The Court finds tolling appropriate here based on the third of these theories: namely,
Konstantino’s purposeful, fraudulent concealment, although much of the analysis would also
overlap with the first two approachesolling is warranted because Konstantino “engaged in

fraudulent concealment of the facts necessary to put [AngioScore] on notice of tie Atént

v. Alex. Brown. Mgmt. Servs., Inc., No. CIV.A. 762-N, 2005 WL 1594085, *19 (Del. Ch. June 2

2005). Specifically, Konstantino’s “affirmative act[s] of concealmenin early 2010, during the
time in which AngioScore sought information relating to whether he had developed a special
balloon, constituteSan ‘actual artifice’” that prevergd AngioScore from gaining knowledge of
the facts. In re Dean Witter, 1998 WL 442456, at *5 (citation omitted). Having reviewed the
evidence of record and observed the testimony at trial, the conclusion is inescapable that let
authored by Konstantino’s counsel contained intentional misrepresentations that were intended
put AngioScoreoff the trail of inquiry” Id.

In Konstantino’s February 3, 2010 meeting with Trotter, Konstantino told €rdktat
TriReme was‘considering developing a specialty balloon catheter for peripheral indicataon,
that TriReme had been actively working ‘@omething for the futuiein specialty balloon
catheters. (Trial Tr. at 574:8-12; 602:22-25 (Trotter); see PX 107.) This conversation itself \
deceptive in nature, for Konstantino did not in any way indicate that the development of
TriReme’s specialty balloon, which by that point had been called Chocolate for several months,
was well underway. Nor did he disclose his personal role in the development and
conceptualization of the device, that a prototype had been created, that animal testing had

occurred, or that he had already engaged potential investors and funding sources.

32

[

y

ers

vas




United States District Court

Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N N N N DN P P R R R R R R R
0o N o o A WO N R O O 0O N o A W N - O

Even lacking these details, the news of a possible specialty balloon at TriReme resulted ir

an investigation led by AngioScore’s lawyer. Trotter sent Konstantino an email entitled “Board of

Directors Position,” copying AngioScore’s counsel, John Sellers. (PX 107.) In it, Trotter restated

his concerns about TriReme moving into the specialty balloon market, and stated that the board

members with whom he had spoken saw this as a “clear conflict of interest.”

Konstantino then engaged in a series of communications intentionally designed to assuag

AngioScore’s concerns, disavowing that any such device existed or had been developed, muc

less that he had any personal role in the development of a specialty balloon. For example, in

response to Trotter’s email, Konstantinostated that “TriReme has not made any decision to make

such a change and | was giving you very early heads sqorigihing that may take place in the
future, or may never happen[.]” He added;there is no reason to be trigger happy.” (PX 107
(emphasis supplied).)

Thereafter, Konstantino continued in his misdirection. The next day, February 5, 201(

Konstantino wrote an email to Sellets’ing Trotter, Suennen, and Raffin. (Id.) In it, he stated:

As we discussed, I'm surprised and disappointed that you and the
company jumped to the conclusion that | should resign from the
board based on assumptions after receiving bits and pieces of
information. | amkeenly aware of my obligations as a board
member and this is precisely why | am coming to AngioScore now;
before any new project is started.

(Id. (emphasis supplied).)
The board nonetheless continued investigating whether Konstantino or TriReme had i

developed a competitive device. At that point, Konstantino himself was the most authoritativ

source of information regarding what activities, if any, he had actually undertaken with respe

=

=

n fa

D

Ct to

bringing a competitive product to market. Thus, the board undertook to ask Konstantino whether

he had done so.
What followed were several letters from Konstantino, through counsel, in which
Konstantino unequivocally refuted any notion that he had worked on a specialty balloon cath

or that any such device had been developédle he was on AngioScore’s board.
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In the first such letter, dated February 23, 2010. Konstérttounsel specifically

reiterated that prior to Konstantino’s resignation on February 5, 2010, he was not “involved in any
development work or licensing of angioplasty balloon technology for the coronary or periphery,
marketsthat involves specialized features such as scoring, cutting, or drug eluting e ements.”
(PX 420 (emphasis supplied).) Likewise, Konstantino represented that he was not ifiwolved
any development or licensing of angioplasty balloon technology for the coronary or periphery
markets thamakes similar claimsto that of the AngioSculpt product.” (Id. (emphasis supplied).)
Konstantinorestated that TriReme was “considering, in the future, the possibility of entering the
field of specialized balloons for peripheral applicatibms that before February 5, 2010,
TriReme*“ha[d] not developed any products . . . that compgtevith AngioScore’s products.” (Id.
(emphasis supplied).)

In response, AngioScore expressed conteitrduring Konstantino’s service as a board

member, he:

obtained proprietary and confidential information about AngioScore,
the peripheral market, and the role of specialty balloons in that
market, while at the same tindeveloping and pursuing plans
within TriReme to pursue those same markets with another
device.
(PX 421 (emphasis supplief)Again, Konstantino unequivocally and unambiguously denied th
any such activity had taken place. (PX 42@haracterizing AngioScore’s questioning as
predicated orfunsubstantiated accusations” against Konstantino, counsel informed AngioScore
that should suchccusations continue, Konstantino will “have no choice but to consider his legal
options.” (Id.)
At that point,Konstantino’s representations had sufficiently assuaged any and all concern
about whether he or TriReme had developed a specialty balloon. AngioScore was satisfied 1
nothing of the sort had occurred. Given the nature and strefijinstantino’s representations, a
reasonable person would have come to the same conclusion.
“Equitable exceptions to statutes of limitations are narrow and designed to prevent

injustice” Pomeranz, 2005 WL 217039, at *13 (citations omitted). The equitable exception t
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the normal rule is warranted here. AngioScore acted diligeanits 2010 investigation. That
Konstantino now disavows the intent of his obvious affirmative, misleading representations,
particularly those cloaked in formality as letters from his attorneys, is self-serving and bears
credibility for truthfulnes$. He cannot now hide behind thectual artifice” he constructed to
prevent AngioScore from gaining knowledge of the facts. AngioScore undertook an earnest,
broad-based inquiry intthe nature of Konstantino’s activities. Instead of answering

AngioScore’s queries in good faith and with candor, Konstaritimaswers were designed to put
AngioScore“off the trail of inquiry” and disabuse AngioScore of the notion that any fiduciary
breach had occurred. The truth was sharply at oddsdwitktantino’s representations.

Because& onstantino’s artifice worked to his desired ends, the three-year statute of
limitations cannot now shield him frosngioScore’s claim. AngioScore was not on inquiry
notice until it learned, in connection with the discovery in its patent case, that Chocolate had
developed befor&onstantino left AngioScore’s board. It filed this claim mere months after that.
The claim is timely.

[I1.  TriRemeand Quattro aided and abetted Konstantino’s breach of fiduciary duty.
A. Thestandard for aiding and abetting liability is met.

Unde California law,“‘[1]iability may . . . be imposed on one who aids and abets the
commission of an intentional torttiie person (a) knows the other’s conduct constitutes a breach
of duty and gives substantial assistance or encouragement to the other to so act or (b) gives
substantial assistance to the other in accomplishing a tortious result and théspmsgpoonduct,

separately considered, constitutes a breach of duty to the third person.”” Casey v. U.S. Bank Nat'l

8 Asa prime example of Konstantino’s artifice, in 2009, while he was on AngioScore’s
board he filed a patent application for Chocolate. In March 2010, after engaging in
correspondence with AngioScore’s lawyers, he switched patent counsel and filed a second
provisional patent application. The strategy underpinning Konstantino’s second patent application
decision is apparent. By filing a second provisional patent application in March 2010,
Konstantino sacrificed five months of patent priority. However, by citing the March 2010
application instead of the earlier 2009 application in his March 2011 patent application,
Konstantino was able to ensure that the patent application from 2009, which listed him as a ¢
inventor of Chocolate at a time when he was on AngioScore’s board, would not become public.
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Ass'n, 127 Cal. App. 4th 1138, 1144 (2005) (citations omitted); Neilson v. Union Bank of
California, N.A,, 290 F. Supp. 2d 1101, 1133 (C.D. Cal. 2003) (noting that California courts ¢
Restatement (Second) of Torts section 876 to hold that “liability may properly be imposed on one
who krows that another’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and substantially assists or
encourages the breath(citations omitted). AngioScore must establish that defendant
corporations TriReme and Quattro actuilgw of Konstantino’s fiduciary duty breach. Casey,
127 Cal. App. 4tfat 1145(“[E]ven ‘ordinary business transactions’ . . . can satisfy the substantial
assistance element of an aiding and abetting claim if the [defendant] actually knew those

transactions were assisting the [fiduciary] in committing a specific tort [breach of fiduciary du

Knowledge is the crucial element.”). Additionally,“causation is an essential element of an aiding

and abetting clairi,and AngioScore must show that the aiders and abettors provided assistang
that was a substantial factor in causiggioScore’s harm. Neilson, 290 F. Supp. 2d at 1135.
For corporations;[i]t is the general rule that knowledge of an officer or director of a
corporation will be imputed to the corporatiorSee Brown v. Brewer, No. CV 06-37&HK
(JTLx), 2008 WL 6170885, at *7 (C.D. Cal. July 14, 2008) (quoting TeatRets Sys. of La. v.
Aidinoff, 900 A.2d 654, 671 n.23 (Del. Ch. 2006)). California follows the well-established
principle that the acts and knowledge of an officer or agent can be attributed to a corporation

principal. In re Cal. TD In\LLC, 489 B.R. 124, 129 (Bankr. C.D. Cal. 2013).

® As was recognized in In re Cal. TD InL.C, the attribution or imputation rule is subject
to the “adverse interest” exception, whereby an officer’s acts adverse to a corporation will not
generally be imputed to the corporation, which is in turn subjebe “sole actor” exception,
where courts may impute the actions of officers even where adverse to the corporations if th
officer is the “sole person in control of [the corporation].” 489 B.R. at 129-30. Defendants have
not argued that any such exception would apply in this case.
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1. TriReme knowingly provided substantial assistance.
The Court finds that TriReme knew Konstantino’s conduct constituted a breach of duty
and gave substantial assistance or encouragement for Konstantino to persist in his breach.

Accordingly, TriReme igiable for aiding and abetting Konstantino’s breach of fiduciary duty.

First, the record is replete with evidence that TriReme employees provided substantia|

assistance to Konstantino at every step of the design and modeling process for Chocolate.
Konstantino remained on AngioScore’s board of directors, TriReme engineers helped him develop
and build the Chocolate device. Such individuals included ¥dldyson Delos Santos, a senior
engineerMaria Pizarro, TriReme’s Director of Research and DevelopmEnand Gary Binyamin,
TriReme’s technology manager. These individuals were engaged in creating and fine-tuning th

engineering design of Chocolate. They created prototypes of Chocolate and undertook testi

Vhil

11

ng O

the devices. They attended the porcine study of the Chocolate device at Stanford in January 20:

Not only did TriReme employees design and test the Chocolate idea prior to the time Konstantin

left AngioScore’s board, they did so under his general supervision. KonstantasolriReme’s

% The role of Feld with respect to TriReme at titise is unclear. On TriReme’s
September 2009 board meeting, Feld is identified as TriReme’s Vice President of Research and
Development. However, in his testimony, Feld stated that around this time, he was a consul
for TriReme. (Trial Tr. at 863:17-21.) The Court is wary of letting the distinction, however, e
form over substance. Feld was a cofounder of TriReme. He testified that he speaks to
Konstantino at least weekly, if not more. Even as a consultant, he was paid by TriReme on &
monthly basis, had access to all the TriReme employees who were working on Chocolate, af
used TriReme employees in the pursuit of Chocolate. (Trial Tr. at 863:17-864:20.)

" During trial, Pizarro persisted in her efforts to obfuscate the true nature of TriReme’s
involvement in the Chocolate opportunity. During cross-examination, however, this quickly
became apparent. For example, after acknowledging that she had been involved in a Decen
2009 presentation to MedTronic regarding the status of TriReme’s projects, including Chocolate,
Pizarro denied that “there was development work performed on Chocolate in 2009,” disputing the
meaning of the word “development.” (Trial. Tr. at 1069:2-1070:9.) The evidentiary record,
however, was starkly to the contraras Pizarro well knows. As early as October 2009, Pizarrg
was on emails concerning Chocolate prototypes, relaying engineering updates including suc
information as: “we are building the 100mm balloons over as we speak.” (PX 89.) Despite the
obvious connectiorRizarro maintained that only “possibly” did such reference refer to Chocolate.
(Trial Tr. at 1071:23-25.) Similar attempts to equivocate and evade continued throughout he
testimony, compromising fatally any shred of credibility.
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CEO, was on emails contributing to the discussibriReme’s HR and Marketing Manager
provided critical suppottb Konstantino’s efforts by applying for funding for a grant from the
Singaporean government.

Second, the Court finds that based on the evidence of record, TriReme employees an
management knew that Konstantino was on AngioScore’s board while such work was undertaken.
The conclusions all but inescapable that they knew Konstantino’s work on Chocolate constituted
aviolation of his fiduciary duties as a board member. Throughout the later part of 2009 and §
into 2010, TriReme employees, as well as Konstantino, knew-vmdleed, intended that
Chocolate would compete with AngioScore, and Kaistantino remained on AngioScore’s
board of directorsAs TriReme’s CEO, Konstantino knew he owed AngioScore fiduciary duties
solely by virtue of his board seat. (PX 101 (February 2009 letter Konstantino signed confirm
that he remained bound by fiduciary duties as a dirgct®izarro, a former AngioScore engineer
knew AngioScore’s line of business and knew that Konstantino was serving on AngioScore’s
board of directors while Chocolate work was done at TriReme. (Trial Tr. at 1028:1093325-
1094:3.) Feld knew not only thEbnstantino remained on AngioScore’s board of directors and
remained subject to fiduciary duties, and that Chocolate competed with AngioSculpt, buttalsd
Konstantino had previously obtained a waiver from AngioScore for purposes of working on
bifurcated stents with TriRemé&ng, TriReme’s HR Manager, also knew that Konstantino
remained on AngioScore’s board while she helped him obtain financing for a product directly
competitive with AngioScore’s products.

2. Quattro/Proteus knowingly provided substantial assistance.

The Court finds that during the development of Chocolate, Quattro existBdaasus; an
unincorporated associatiofn March of 2010, “Proteus” incorporated under the name Quattro.

For the reasons set forth below, the Court finds that Quattro/Proteus is liable for aiding and
abetting Konstantino’s breach.

First, Proteus wasn “unincorporated association” that predated Quattro and was capable
of being sued.Under California law, an “unincorporated association” is defined in California

Corporations Code section 18035. Subsection (a) of that provision provides that an
38
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“Unincorporated association” is an unincorporated group of two or more persons joined by mutpal
consent for a common lawful purpose, whether organized for profit oiGadt.Corp. Code §
18035 (West).

Although case law on this provision generally concerns entities like churches, political

parties, professional or trade associations, social clubs, and homeowners associations, the doctr

and the breadth of what qualifies as an “unincorporated association” was explained in Barr v.
United States Methodist Church, 90 Cal. App. 3d 259 (1979). There, the court of appeals
explainedhat the trend in the state and nation was to “assure legal status where in fairness it is
appropriate” and included in such consideration the dictates of fairness where “persons dealing
with the association contend their legal rights have been violated.” Barr, 90 Cal. App. 3d at 266-
67. An unincorporated association need not have the formalities of quasi-corporate organization

“Courts have even assessed liability against a church association with no officers where there were

only nine persons whose sole business transaction (aside from small purchases of printed rgligia

material) was the purchase, by down payment, of a station wagon.” Id. at 267 (citation omitted).
Likewise, criminal street gangs have been found to qualify@acorporated associations”
capable of being sued. People exrel. Totten v. Colonia Chiques, 156 Cal. App. 4th 31, 41
(2007).*2

Proteus easily satisfies the criteria under Section 18035. During the development of
Chocolate, Proteus was held out as if a corporation. It consisted of at least three members, Jam

Dreher, Konstantino, and Feld, and was formed for the lawful purpose of raising money and

12 1n Totten, a criminal street gang was found to be an unincorporated association capabl
of being sued for injunctive relief. The court noted that “[s]tatutes must be given a reasonable and
common sense construction in accordance with the apparent purpose and intention of the
lawmakers—one that is practical rather than technical and that will lead to a wise policy rathel
than mischief or absurdity.ld. (citation omitted). Upon review of the purpose of California
Corporations Code 18035, and in view of legislative histbrycourt of appeal found that “it
would border on absurdity to conclude that, by the 2004 addition of Corporations Code section
18035, subdivision (gd)which included the element of “lawful purpose” in the definition of an
unincorporated association], the Legislature intended to shield criminal street gangs from liability
and injunctive relief by rendering them immune from civil suits. Totten, 156 Cal. App. 4th at 41.
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investor interest in the Chocolate technolofiywestors were informed that “Proteus” was the
entity developing Chocolate and seeking funds therefor, and Konstantino represented himse|f as
Chairman of the entityAs Proteus’s chairman, Konstantino signed a contract to raise funds for
Chocolate’s development. Fairness would dictate that investors who gave money to Proteus
would have been able to seek recourse against Proteus. Barr, 90 Cal. App. 3d at 266-67.
Konstantino held himself out as a Chairman of Proteusedigontracts as such, sought money
from individuals under the guise of this entity, and later, to investors, charactemized’s
transition to“Quattrd” as merely a name change. Not only did Konstantino himself understang
thatQuattro was “previously Proteus,” but by characterizing the transition from Proteus to Quattro
as a simple change in name, he was able to retain for Quattro the benefits Proteus had obtained
Indeed, the lack of distinction between Quattro and Pragessscomplete that on the basis that
the difference between these entities was merely one of nomenclature, contracts signed betyeer
“Proteus” and third partiesvere amended to substitute the name “Quattro Vascular Pte Ltd” for
“Proteus Vascular Systems Pte Ltd.” (PX 7.) The unfairness of immunizing Quattro is amplified
here, where defendants now offer a hypertechnical argument that because Quattro did not fgrma
exist as an incorporated entity at the tim&ofistantino’s breach, it cannot be liable for acts it
undertook when it was known as Protétidt is not lost on the Court that almost exactly one
month after Konstantino resigned frakagioScore’s board, the name change occurred and
Quattro officially incorporated, with the agreement of Dreher, Konstantino, and Feld. Thereafter,
Quattro continuedh Proteus’s efforts. Defendants cannot hide posthumously behind the name
change.

Proteus/Quattro was inextricably involved in, and had actual knowledgemftantino’s

breach. Indeed, it was formed with the specific purpose of furthering that breach. Konstantino, &

13 Even the term “Proteus” carries a meaning that pointedly undermines defendants’
position. Proteus was a Greek sea god capable of assuming different foERRIAMAWEBSTER
New Collegiate Dictionary (9th ed988). An entity presenting “protean” qualities has the
“ability to assume different forms.” Id. The Court finds that Proteus lived up to its name by latgr
assuming the name “Quattro” while retaining its original essence.
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Proteus’s Chairman and Quattro’s Director, formed the organization for purposes of raising fund;

for Chocolate, which included seeking funding from the Singaporean government, and later,
Quattro as the corporate entity to hold intellectual property rights in Chocolate. Dreher
implemented a business strategy for seeking early investors and funds. On this basis, the C

finds that Proteus, as an unincorporated association, knovdiidgti/and abetted Konstantino’s

breach of fiduciary dutyln March of 2010, when Proteus incorporated as Quattro, it maintained

its debts and liabilities. See Sec.-First Nat. Bank of L.A. v. Cooper, 145 P.2d 722, 731 (Cal. Ct.

App. 1944).

V. QT Vascular isliable asa successor in interest to theliabilities of Quattro and
TriReme.

\°Z4

LSe

purt

The decision whether to impose successor liability involves broad equitable consideration:

See Ray v. Alad Corp., 19 Cal.3d 22, 34 (Cal. 1977); see also Rosales v. Hi&enematron,
Inc., 67 Cal. App. 4th 187, 196 (Cal. Ct. App. 1998). Each case of successor liability must bg

\1%4

assessed on its own unique set of facts. See CenterPoint Energy, Inc. v. Super. Ct., 157 Cal. Ar

4th 1101, 1122 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007). Under California law, a corporation that purchases the
of another does not assume the liabilities of the selling corporation unless: “(1) there is an express
or implied agreement of assumption, (2) the transaction amounts to a consolidation or mergs
the two corporations, (3) the purchasing corporation is a mere continuation of the seller, or (4
transfer of assets to the purchaser is for the fraudulent purpose of escaping liability for the sq
debts.” Ray, 19 Cal.3d at 28.

As a preliminary matter, successor liability under California law regamesset transfer,
not merely the purchase of stock. Sunnyside Dev. Co., LLC v. Opsys Ltd., No. C 05 0553 MH
2007 WL 2462142, at *6 (N.D. Cal. Aug. 29, 200 ptlatch Corp. v. Superior Court, 154 Cal.

App. 3d 1144, 1150-51 (Cal. Ct. App. 1984). The evidence on this point is admittedly limited|

However, in view of the evidentiary record¢luding its observation of the critical witness on thi
issue, the Court finds that an asset transfer occurred. This conclusion is based on testimony
defendants’ 30(b)6 corporate designgelomi Brosh, QT Vascular’s Vice President of Business

Operations. Brosh was designated by defendants to testify on the relationship between QT
41
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Vascular, Quattro, and TriReme. He testified that QT Vascular assumed both the assets and
liabilities. (See Brosh Dep. at 277:19-2814)5 Specifically, Brosh testified that the shareholdefs
of Quattro and TriReme agreed to form QT Vascular. In exchange, the shareholders would
receiveshares of QT Vascular stock, and QT Vascular would receive “100% of all existing stock,
shares, assets, and liabilities in each of Qud#nd,] TriReme.” (Id.)

Persons designated as corporate representdfsresl] testify as to matters known or
reasonably available to the organization.” Fed.R. Civ. P. 30(b)(6). A Rule 30(b)(6) deposition
notice serves a unique function: it is the sworn corporate admission that is binding on the
corporation. Hardin v. Wal-Mart Stores, Inc., No.©8-0617 AWI BAM, 2011 WL 11563217,
at *2 (E.D. Cal. Dec. 2, 2011) (citing Gales v. Winco Foods, 2011 WL 3794887 (N.D. Cal. 201L1)
(“As a 30(b)(6) witness, her testimony is a sworn corporate admission binding on the
corporation?). If the notice of deposition or subpoena served on the entity sufficiently describes
the matters on which questions will be asked, the entity is under a duty to designate and proguce
“one or more officers, directors, or managing agents, or designate other persons who consent to
testify on its behalf . .. Rule 30(b)(6)Mitchell Eng’g v. City & Cnty. of S.F., 2010 WL
455290, at *1 (N.DCal. Feb. 2, 2010) (“A 30(b)(6) witness testifies as a representative of the
entity, his answers bind the entity and he is responsible for providing all the relevant information
known or reasonably available to the entity.””) (quotation marks and citation omitted); Great Am.
Ins. Co. of N.Y. v. Vegas Constr. Co., Inc., 251 F.R.D. 534, 541 (D. Nev. 2008). Still, other courts
hold that “testimony given at a Rule 30(b)(6) deposition is evidence which, like any other
deposition testimony, can be contradicted and used for impeachment purpaséshét such
testimony does not “bind” the designating entity “in the sense of [a] judicial admission.” A.l.

Credit Corp. v. Legion Ins. Co., 265 F.3d 630, 637 (7th Cir. 2001). The Ninth Circuit has not|yet

14 Designated portions of Brosh’s two-day video deposition testimony were played during
trial (see Trial Tr. at 970) and the designated transcript for that testimony appears at the end|of
Day Five of the trial transcript. (See Dkt. No. 637 (Trial Transcript Volume Five) at 205.)
Citations to Brosh’s deposition include only designated portions played during trial.
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decided the issue. Coalition for a Sustainable Delta v. McCamman, 725 F. Supp. 2d 1162, 1

(E.D. Cal. 2010).

In the absence of specific direction from the Ninth Circuit, the Court joins those courts
who have adopted a middle ground and holds that defendants cannot rebut the testimony of
Rule 30(b)(6) witness when, as here, the opposing party has relied on the Rule 30(b)(6) testi
and defendants have provided no adequate explanation for the rebuttal offered at trial. See
Constructors v. Am. Zurich Ins. Co., 49 F. Supp. 3d 814, 829 n.11 (W.D. Wash; B9dé)v.
Stanley Tools, 107 F. Supp. 2d 992, 993 (E.D. La. 2040y 31 Fed. Api{x. 151 (5th Cir. 2001)
(per curiam) (unpublished); State Farm Mut. Auto. Ins. Co. v. New Horizont, 250 F.R.D. 203
Pa.2008) (“The better rule is that the testimony of a Rule 30(b)(6) representative, although
admissible against the party that designates the representative, is not a judicial admission
absolutely binding on that party,” but the party still may not “retract prior testimony with

impunity” and courts can disregard inconsistent testimony when the movant has relied on it);

Technical Inst. v. Silicon Valley, Inc., No+484-3349, 2006 WL 237027, at *5 (S.D. Tex. Jan. 31

2006) (affidavit did not create an issue of material fact because it conflicted without explanat
with Rule 30(b)(6) testimony).

With this in mind, the Court expounds on the basis for its finding. Brosh testified that
prepared for the depositioie went over materials, spoke with the defendants’ financial team,
and with the research and development engineers. (Brosh Dep. at 33:11-19.) He provided 1
names of individuals with whom he spoke. (Brosh Dep. at 34:06-35:24; 36:09-14.) He estin
that he spent approximately twenty hours preparing for the deposition, and that he met with
counsel in preparation. (Brosh Dep. at 34:06-35:24; 62:08-19; 62:23-63:05.) He also spent
preparing on his own, including reading the QT Vascular IPO documents. (Brosh Dep. at 72
73:06.) Because Mr. Brosh is not a native English speaker, a translator was present for his
deposition, as was his English-speaking counsel, and he was free to ask for translation assis
during the deposition. (See Brosh Dep. at 59:09-12.)

In addition, the pattern of questioning by Angio&¢ocounsel during the critical

moments of Brosh’s deposition permitted both sufficient review of the relevant documents, and
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was sufficiently clear to provide Brosh an opportunity to understand what was being asked a
answer accordingly. Each question was constructed in the following format: counsel identifi
document and presented it to Brosh. She then read a brief sentence or phrase from the doc
supporting a conclusion that certain factual events occurred. She would then ask if the relev

sentence or phrase accurately set forth what actually happened. (See Brosh Dep. at 272:07

273:19-21: 273:24-274:04; 277:19-277:22; 280:03-11; 281:02-15.) She did this no fewer than

four times. Brosh agreed every time. (See id.)

To the extent Brgh’s answers were inaccurate or erroneous, he was free to submit errata
following the transmittal of his deposition transcript. He elected to do so. Indeed, Brosh
submitted fairly extensive errata, in two parts, wherein he amended his answers for purposes
accuracyfifty -five times. (Dkt. Nos. 593-7, 593-8.) Tellingly, Brosh did not seek to amend or
correct the answers given with respect to QT Vastagequisition of assets from TriReme and
Quattro. To the extent defendants believed that his testimony remained in some way deficie
they were free to offer another person for deposition as to these issues. They did not do so.

Moreover, Brosh’s testimony that an asset transfer and liability assumption took place v
corroborated by contemporaneous documents reflecting that QT Vascular would be the prod

a merger between TriReme and Quattro. (PX 32; PX 43.) It is therefore not wholly controve
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by the evidence of record. At trial, defendants offered public statements of the corporate graup

(comprising QT Vascular, TriReme US, TriReme Singapore, and Quattro), such as their initig
public offering documents and their 2013 annual report, to contrBueti’s statements. Those
documents purport tdemonstrate that by virtue of an arms’-length corporate reorganization, QT
Vascular acquired all stock in Quattro and TriReme, with only certain liabilities. In exchange
therefor, the shareholders in each of TriReme and Quattro received shares of QT Vascular’s stock.
The Court is not convinced that these representations, standing alone, overcome the weight
evidence to the contrary Brosh’s testimonythe manner in which the defendants’ key players,
including Konstantino, Brosh, Haig,Z2rro, and Feld, conducted business affairs, and the fact {
the bulk of the management of these three defendant companies is entrusted to the same psg

Although some of these individuals simultaneously occupy differentirotége various defendant
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corporations, these roles do not appear to be distinct. It also cannot be overlooked that Brogh, a
insider himself, reviewed the IPO document in preparation for his testimony and nonetheless
testified that QT Vascular acquired all assets and liabilities of TriReme and Quattro.
Based on the foregoing, the Cofinds Brosh’s answers to the questions most relevant tg
whether QT Vascular assumed all of TriReme’s and Quattro’s assets and liabilities and that given
the sufficiency of their reliability, AngioScore appropriately relied upon his answers. To the
extert that defendants seek to rely on contradictory testimony provided by Randall Farwell, QT
Vascular’s CFO, who was never deposed, and was first disclosed as a witness on the eve of ftrial.
long after discovery had closed, they cannot do so. Rule 30(b)(6) is a powerful and necessary
discovery tool, andngioScore was entitled to rely upon Brosh’s representations in developing its

case. To the exteBirosh’s testimony on this subject was inaccurate, there were multiple ways fg

-

defendants to correct or clarithe evidentiary record and they have failed to provide any adequate
reason for why they did not do so, or wBosh’s testimony should be rebutted. Their failure to
do so cannot be the basis for permitting an eleventh-hour witness tdeéigtants’ preferred
version of events. To hold otherwise would be to permit a trial by ambush, which the federal
discovery rules are designed to avoid.

Having found that underlying the formation of QT Vascular was a transfer of assets and
liabilities from TriReme and Quattro, the Court now turns to whether QT Vascular is a succesgsor
in interest to the liabilities of Quattro and TriReme. Again, a corporation acquiring the assetg of
another corporation will be found to have succeeded in interest to the acquiradtcar{so
liabilities if any one of the following applie$(1) there is an express or implied agreement of
assumption, (2) the transaction amounts to a consolidation or merger of the two corporationg, (3)
the purchasing corporation is a mere continuation of the seller, or (4) the transfer of assets to the
purchaser is for the fraudulent purpose of escaping liability for the’selédrs.” Ray, 19 Cal.3d
at 28.

AngioScore argues that the first and second of the above theories apply here. As to the

first— express or implied agreement to assume liabilitias explained above, the Court finds that
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QT Vascular assumed the liabilities of Quattro and TriReme. Accordingly, imposing success
liability is proper.

As to the second whether the transaction amounted to a de facto mertiper Court also
finds that evidence supports a finding that this occurred. The de facto merger doctrine applig
under California law when “one corporation takes all of another’s assets without providing any
consideration that could be made audidao meet claims of the other’s creditors” or when “the
consideration consists why of shares of the purchaser’s stock which are promptly distributed to
the seller's shareholders in conjunction with the sellejuidation.” Ray, 136 Cal. Rptat578.

To determinavhether a transaction “cast in the form of an asset sale actually achieves the same

practical result” as a merger, the Court considers the following factors: “(1) was the consideration
paid for the assets solely stock of the purchaser or its parent; (2) did the purchaser continue
same enterprise after the sale; (3) did the shareholders of the seller become shareholders of
purchaser; (4) did the seller liquidate; and (5) did the buyer assume the liabilities necessary {
carry on the business of the sellerSchwartz v. Pillsbury Inc., 969 F.2d 840, 846 (9th Cir. 1992
(citing Marks v. Minn. Mining and Mfg. Co., 187 Cal. App. 3d 1429, 1436 (Ct. Ct. App. 1986))

Here, QT Vascular assumed the assets and liabilities of Quattro and TriReme, and in
consideration, gave QT Vascular stock to the former shareholders of Quattro and TriReme.
purchasing company, QT Vascular, continued in the enterprise of Quattro and TriReme after
formation: manufacturing and selling the Chocolate device. The shareholders of Quattro an
TriReme became shareholders of QT Vascular, and QT Vascular assumed the liabilities of e
It cannot be said that under these facts, the transaction resulting in QT Vascular did not achi
the same practical result as a merger. See Marks, 187 Cal. Apill&1I7-38 (finding a
“reorganization” between a parent and a subsidiary constituted a de facto merger).

For these reasons, the Court finds that QT Vascular is the successor in interest to the

liabilities of Quattro and TriReme.
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V. By usur ping a cor por ate opportunity, defendants violated California’s Unfair
Competition Law.
Under California Business and Professional Code section 17200, éasgaqnlawful,
unfair or fraudulent businesict or practiceis prohibited. Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200
(West). “Because . . . section 17200 is written in the disjunctive, it establishes three varieties

unfair competitior—acts or practices which are unlawful, or unfair, or fraudulent”. .Aleksick

of

v. 7-Eleven, Inc., 205 Cal. App. 4th 1176, 1184 (Cal. Ct. App. 2012). AngioScore argues that on

of these three bases apply hetieit defendants’ acts constitute “unlawful” predicate acts to

establish liabilityunder California’s Unfair Competition Law (“UCL”).*®

A “violation of another law is a predicate for stating a cause of action under the UCL's

unlawful prong.” Graham v. Bank of Am., N.A,, 226 Cal. App. 4th 594, 610 (Cal. Ct. App. 2014)

(citing Berryman v. Merit Prop. Mgmt., Inc.,152 Cal. App. 4th 1544, 1554 (Cal. Ct. App. 2007
“By proscribing anyunlawful’ business practice, [S]ection 17200 borrows violations of other laws
and treats them as unlawful practices that the unfair competition law makes independently
actionable. Virtually any law-federal, state or localcan serve as a predicate for a [UCL]
action?” Law Offices of Mathew Higbee v. Expungement Assistance Servs., 214 Cal. App. 4th
553 (2013) (quotations omitted}el-Tech Commc'ns, Inc., 20 Cal. 4hl195 (Kennard, J.,
concurring and dissenting) (explaining that in 1963, the state legislature‘adtedul”

business practices to thetlof proscribed conduct and thereby “expanded the definition of unfair
competition with respect to conduct violating statutory prohibitions, for now any business pra
that violated an independent statutory duty was an instance of unfair competition that could K
enjoined even if the underlying statute did not specifically authorize injunctive’yétightion
omitted). Common law violations may suffice as predicate acts under the UCL. Yanting Zha|

Superior Court, 57 Cal. 4th 364, 380 (Cal. 2013hder the statute, “[p]revailing plaintiffs are

15" Although in prior briefing, AngioScore arguéddht defendants’ actions qualify as
“unfair” predicate acts for purposes of establishing UCL liability, the Court understands that
AngioScore has essentially withdrawn that argument. (Dkt. No. 658 (““AngioScore does not
request that the Court find that f8edants’ conduct also constitutes “unfair” acts and practices
under the UCL.”)).
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generally limited to injunctive relief and restitution.” Korea Supply Co. v. Lockheed Martin
Corp., 29 Cal.4th 1134, 1144 (Cal. 2003) (quoting Cel-Tech Commc'ns, Inc., 20 Cal.4th at 17%
Accordingly, the Court addresses the issue below.

AngioScore seeks the extraordinary remedy of injunctive relief and asks that the Cour|
permanently enjoin defendants from continuing to sell Chocolate. In evaluating this request,

Court has considered whether AngioScore has met its burden to establish that: (1) it has suf

9).

t
the

ere(

an irreparable injury; (2) remedies available at law, such as monetary damages, are inadequite f

compensate for that injury; (3) considering the balance of hardships between the plaintiff and
defendant, a remedy in equity is warranted; and (4) the public interest would not be disserve
permanent injunction. eBay Inc. v. MercExchange, L.L.C., 547 U.S. 388, 390 (2006). Having
considered these factors, the Court declines to award AngioScore’s requested injunction.

The Court possesses broad discretion in imposing equitable remedies upon finding a

violation of the UCL. Yanting Zhang, 57 Cal. 4th at 371 (citations omitted). Even when an ul

business practice has been shown, the UCL does not require the imposition of equitable religf.

Cortez v. Purolator Arr Filtration Prods. Co., 23 Cal.4th 163, T&0 2000) (“The court's
discretion is very broad. Section 17203 does not mandate restitutionary or injunctive relief wi
an unfair business practice has been shown.”). Here, the Court is satisfied that the remedies set
forth below fully and fairly compensate AngioScore for its past and future harms, and adequa
addresssdefendants’ wrongdoing. AngioScore has conceded that the existence of such relief
obviates the need faninjunction. (Dkt. No. 658 at 5.) See E.B.C. Trust Corp. v. JB Oxford
Holdings, Inc., 2005 WL 6214851, at *5 (C.D. Cal. Aug. 26, 2q0%unctive relief‘requires a
showing that other adequate relief is not available” and where “the plaintiff pursues other remedies
in addition to seeking relief under [UCL] the court may conclude that those other remedies ol
the need for injunctive relief.”) (citations omitted). Furthermore, as discussed more below, an
injunction is directly contrary to the public interest. Accordingly, the Court declines to award

AngioScore its requested injunction.
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REMEDY
I Legal Framework

The law abhors one who betrays his or her fiduciary duty. Thifsan officer or director
of a corporation, in violation of his duty as such, acquires gain or advantage for himself, the |
charges the interest so acquired with a trust for the benefit of the corporation, at its election,
it denies to the betrayer all benefit and profiGuth, 5 A.2cat510. The bounds of this rule are
considerable, for it rests upon the “broader foundation of a wise public policy that, for the purpos
of removing all temptation, extinguishes all possibility of profit flowing from a breach of the
confidence imposed by the fiduciary relation. Given the relation between the parties, a certai
result follows; and a constructive trust is the remedial device through which precedence of s¢
compelled to give way to the stern demands of loyaltgl. at 270 (emphasis supplied). Where a
plaintiff has proved that its interests have been subverted by a diithyadry, “the corporation
may elect to claim all of the benefits of the transaction for itself, and the law will impress a try
favor of the corporation upon the property, interests and profits so actjuidect 273.

While it is true that damages flowing from a breach of fiduciary duty are to be liberally
calculated, Thorpe by Castleman v. CERBCO, Inc., 676 A.2d 436, 444 (Del. 1996) (citing
Milbank, Tweed, Hadley & McCloy v. Boon, 13 F.3d 537, 543 (2d Cir. 1994)), the Delaware
Supreme Court has held that where certain claimed damages were not proximately caused |
breach, those damages were not recoverdblleThus, causation remains a consideration for
damages even in the context of fiduciary duty breaches. Thorpe, 676&t424f Boyer v.
Wilmington Materials, Inc., 754 A.2d 881, 907 (Del. Ch. 1999) (noting lack of causal relations
finding authority to award damages where the breach of duty caused economic harm to a
corporation) (citing Thorpe, 676 A.2d at 445). So, too, does causation remain at issue in the
of aiding and abetting the commission of a tort. See Bancroft-Whitney Co. v. Glen, 64 Cal. 2(
327, 352 (1966)(t is clear from the evidence . . . that Bender was aware of or ratified Glen's
breach of his fiduciary duties in all but a few respects, that he cooperated with Glen in the brg

and that h received the benefits of Glen’s infidelity . . . . Under all the circumstances, Bender an
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Bender Co. must be held liable for their part in Gddoreach of his fiduciary duties. They
encouraged the sowing and reaped the beriBiity cannot now disclaim the burden.”).
1I. Defense of Causation
Defendants have argued throughout this case that AngioScore has failed to prove tha
defendants’ behavior caused harm to AngioScore either because (i) the devices do not compete,

(i) Feld had an independent right to develop Chocolate. The Court is unpersuaded.

First, Chocolate and AngioSculpt compete. More than sufficient evidence exists in the

record to support a finding th@hocolate’s presence in the market has harmed AngioScore. The
Court explains:

In the angioplasty balloon market, there are two basic categories of products. First ar
plain old balloon catheters, or POBAs, which come in three basic forms: compliant, semi-
compliant, and non-compliant. Within that field, POBAs come in different types (small, large
standard, and high-pressure). (PX 294 at 251.) POB&wiged between approximately $150 tg
$200 per unit. (Trial Tr. at 412:7-9 (Viano direct).) Specialty balloons comprise a sub-markg
within the broader angioplasty balloon market, and are priced as high as $1000, depending ¢
length. (See id.) Within that sub-market, there are relatively few playdrsat 49.) As of
2013, the specialty balloon catheter market was primarily occupied by four companies: Bost
Scientific, C.R. Bard, Abbott Laboratories, and AngioScore. The market share at that time rg
that AngioScore was in closemgetition with Boston Scientific’s flagship product, the Cutting
Balloon: AngioScore occupied 48.1% of the specialty balloon market and Boston Scientific
occupied 47.1%. C.R. Bard held only 3.3% of the market with its specialty balloon, the
Vascutrak. Abbott Laboratories held only 1.3%. (PX 294 at 249.)

The similarities between Chocolate and AngioSculpt from a competitive viewpoint are
overwhelming. Both are specialty balloons. Both contain balloons made with nylon element
Both have a nitinol cage surrounding the balloon. Neither device leaves anything behind in &
vessel after it has inflated; no stent remains, for example. The purposes for the devices are
same: to open occluded blood vessels and enable more blood flow. The devices share the 3

target customers, both of which are specialized: interventional cardiologists and vascular surn
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(Trial Tr. at 407:20-408:3 (Viano).) The fact that the two products do not use identical

mechanisms of action does not mean that they do not compete.

The obviousness of the competitive relationship between the devices becomes undeniabls

upon a review of defendants’ own pre-litigation communications regarding their goals for
Chocolate, then being developed and marketed. Konstantino himself made multiple written
references that touted the competitive benefits of the Chocolate compared to the AngioSculg
(See PX66 (November 2009 Chocolate presentation referencing that Chocolate would “reduce
dissections”; dissections would occur with a scoring balloon, i.e., AngioSculptPX 124 (January
2010 email from Konstantino forwarding information memorandum outlining benefits of
Chocolate as Proteus’s proprietary device; identifyingingioScore as one of “only a couple
companies” marketing specialty balloon products); PX 132 (October 2011 email from Vardit
Benjamin to Konstantino and kpgattaching “TriReme’s Competitor Analysis” spreadsheet;

identifying the AngioSculpt as competitor); PX 127 (February 2011 email Konstantino forwar

(o d

led

his wife for purposes of his patent application background discussion, identifying AngioSculpt as

an “altemative tool” to Chocolate).) Chris Haig further confirmed the market similarities betwee
Chocolate and AngioSculpt. As Chocolate was being developed, TriReme faced the questio
where to price its new specialty balloon catheter device. In October 2011, an email from Ste
Dreaden entitled “AngioScore Competitive Information” relayed “competitive field intel on
AngioScore” in terms of their pricing. (PX 130.) The email itself and responses make clear that
TriReme priced Chocolate just $25 underghiscore’s prices. (See also PX 135.)

Thus, for every size Chocolate was available, it was priced at exactly $25 below its
AngioScore counterpart. Notably, Haig admitted that pricing for the Chocolate was keyed off
AngioSculpt, as opposed to Vascutrbécause AngioSculpt was “on the higher side” of the
pricing spectrum and had higher clinical value. However, at that time they were first pricing
Chocolate, TriReme lacked clinical data on the value of Chocolate, further evidencing that
defendants beliedeAngioSculpt was the “closest competitor” to Chocolate. (PX 143.)

Konstantino himself approved the pricing.
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Ample other evidence of record reveals that TriReme considered Chocolate competiti

with AngioSculpt. On December 30, 2011, following Choed$ai10K approval, for example,

Haig forwarded a powerpoint deck to Konstantino extolling the virtues of Chocolate. (PX 137.)

Included was a slide entitled “Chocolate — pricing strategy” that stated that Chocolate was “price
competitive to other “specialty” catheters to drive rapid adoption” and noted specifically that
AngioSculpt was priced at $852ld() Sales discussions at TriReme focused substantially on

distinguishing Chocolate from AngioSculpt in order to gain market share over the other

competitive specialty balloons. To that end, in December 2012, high level discussions occurred

TriRemeconcerning such things as how to describe Chocolate’s relative advantages compared to

the AngioScore and Vascutrak when communicating with potential customers. (PX 142.)
Although the devices are different in some w&yH, of these balloons fall under the “specialty
balloon” category.” (Id.) The differences are finely tunech defendants’ parlance, AngioScore
was described as a “focal force” balloon; Chocolate was described as a “distributed force” balloon.
Defendants maintain that Chocolate is “the opposite of a scoring balloon” because when inflated,

the balloon itself protrudes through the nitinol cage, forming crowns or pillows that impress u

the plaque. This, they claim, contrasts with the AngioSculpt, which is designed such that the

pon

nitinol element itself presses into the plaque. Again, the Court finds that these differences do no

do not demonstrate lack of competition. TriReme acknowledged as much when it was marketing

Chocolate.The differences, to the extent the parties’ documents acknowledge them, were focused
on helping each side market its own product as aggiesther side’s product — indeed, the

Court finds that such documents, on the whole, reaffirm that the devices were competing wit
another, not that they were so different that they did not compete.

Defendants’ succeeded in their attempt to compete with the AngioSculpt. Frank Viano,
Eastern Area of VP of Sales for Spectranetics (which acquired AngioScore), testified on the
competitive relationship between Chocolate and AngioSculpt. With over 20 years of experie
in the area of selling cardiovascular angioplasty devices, including experience working with
AngioScore’s other competitors such as Boston Scientific, Viano attested that he has persong

seen sales of AngioScore products affected by the advent of Chocolate. According to Viano
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Chocolate is the closest competitor to AngioSculpt in the field of specialty balloons. Viano also

confirmed that POBAs and stents are not competitors with AngioSculpt.

Loss of AngioSculpt sales have been directly attributed to Chocolate. (Trial Tr. at 444:20-

445:21 (Viano, discussing losing five to ten units a month to Chocolate, incitglgades to Dr.

Garcia, defendants’ industry expert).) Viano testified that he has been asked to reduce prices for

AngioSculpt approximately twenty-five to thirty times. Corroborating that testimony, in March

2013, for example, Viano was asked via email by a sales and service representative in Mary

and Rhode Island to reduce the AngioSculpt price because Chocolate had been offered at a

and

low

price. (PX 152.) He estimated that requests to reduce prices for AngioSculpt sales have ocg¢urre

at approximately ten to fifteen percent of the 200 or 250 hospitals falling under his jurisdiction. Ir

response to the competition from Chocolate, Viano explained that he has directed his sales
representatives to provide more sales focus time on the AngioSoulgell our features, clinical
success, and track record to the hospitals in é&miare robust fashion.” (Trial Tr. at 418:18-
419:5 (attesting to diversion of resources at AngioScore due to counter market threats by
Chocolate and including lowering prices for AngioSculpt).)

Defendants place much reliance on the fact that AngioScore initially disclaimed any
similarity between the devices when Chocolate was first released. The Court finds such
arguments unpersuasive. Initial reactions to Chocolate on lehalioScore’s marketing team

expressing skepticism that Chocolate could compete with AngioSéuale, not dispositive of the

guestion of whether, in fact, these devices compete. As explained above, the fact that the device

are different in design does not undermine their competitiveness with one another. Based on

similar reasoning, the fact that in June 2014, Viano created a chart outlining the advantages
AngioSculpt as compared to Chocolate for distribution to the AngioSculpt sales team does n

support a finding that the devices are not competing with one another. If anything, it affirms

'8 Notwithstanding these assessments, which the Court finds reflected an optimistic
viewpoint designed to motivate AngioScore’s sales force, Viano confirmed that even at the
beginning he viewed Chocolate as a “competitive threat” to the AngioSculpt and instructed his
sales team to “knock it down right away.” (DX 1581.)
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(DX 1770.) Viano testified that he and a colleague created the chart in response to TriReme’s
recent acquisition of a 510(k) clearance for their Chocolate PTCA Balloon. At that point, they
understood that the Chocolate device was an “immediate competitive threat.” Accordingly, the

chart was designed to identify all the ways in which AngioScore’s device was superior.

Defendants’ criticism that AngioScore’s submission of sales documents do not
demonstrate a direct corroboration or ao®ne link between decrease in sales, and, in particul
Chocolate as the source of the loss, is not dispositive. The proffered evidence more than mg
legal standard. Leaving aside the weight of evidence confirming that AngioScore was forced

lower its prices on its products due to pressure from Chocolate, and that defendants themse

ar,
pets
to

Ves

claimed that clinicians were replacing AngioScore devices with Chocolate (PX 164), defendants

argue that Chocolate did not impesiggioScore’s market share because the two devices are
“complementary.” The only practitioner evidence directly supporting this notion is testimony
from Dr. Garcia, defendants’ industry expert. Defendants place more weight on this testimony
than it can bear. Dr. Garcia, whose testimony is of marginal weight given his pre-existing
relationship with the defendants, testified that Chocolate and AngioSculpt are complementar
staed that Chocolate and AngioSculpt can be used “in concert, in the same patient.” (Trial Tr. at
911:16-25.) But Dr. Garcia himself could not recall ever having used a Chocolate and
AngioSculpt in this manner. Nor could he recall any medical studiesireeading such
complementary usage. Furthermore, he admitteditfiaidants’ promotional materials did not
tout Chocolate as “complementary” to another product. (Trial Tr. at 932:4-933:3.) Indeed,
defendants’ goal was to have physicians replace their use of AngioSculpt with Chocolate, and gain
market share. (PX 164 (noting that clinicians are replacing the use of Scoring/Cutting
(AngioScore) devices with Chocolate).)

Defendants’ second argument is that due to Feld’s independent right to assign his interest

y, ar

in Chocolate, defendants enjoyed an independent right to develop Chocolate. Thus, they reasor

that AngioScore cannot demonstrate that theions caused AngioScore’s harm, and that

AngioScore cannot establish that had the opportunity been offered by Konstiantioald have
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been able to acquire an exclusive right to Chocolate. The Court rejects this conclusion as cd
to the facts of record and reasonable inferences therefrom.
Defendants’ position hinges on the notion that Feld would never have assigned his righ
AngioScore under any circumstances. The Court finds this argument implausible. Feld testi
that while he was the engineering leader on the device, Konstantino was the one with the bu
acumen. Indeednideposition, Feld stated that he had no involvement with “the business side.”
(Trial Tr. at 862:21-863:1.He had incomplete knowledge of who Chocolate’s first investors
were and was not involved in determining who could be a potential partner for Chocolate. (T
Tr. at 863:10-14.) Konstantino was responsible for handling such things. Based on this and
of Feld’s testimony, the Court finds that Feld would have assigned his interest wherever and tq
whomever Konstantino recommended. That Feld whg« to Konstantino’s business decisions
and did not exert any independent control over these decisions is further evidenced by the 4
despite Feld’s critical role in designing the device, he was paid only $70,000 for his interest in
Chocolate while Konstantino was paid $250,086ld’s undeniable deference to Konstantino’s
independent business decisiamfurther underscored by the fact that Konstantino received a
2.85% royalty in Chocolate where Feld received only 2.15%. Had Konstantino offered the
opportunity to AngioScore, the Court is steadfastly confidenttisatl on Feld’s lack of business
acumen, allegiance to Konstantino, and fundamental character, he would have followed
Konstantino’s lead. For this reaspdefendants’ insistence that Feld’s independent right somehow

underminesAngioScore’s harm does not persuadBeld’s claim he disliked AngioScore and

would not have wanted Chocolate to belong to AngioScore, is belied by the objective facts and

only raised conveniently in the context of ongoing litigation.
In sum, the Court finds that plaintiffs have offered sufficient evidence to establish that
defendants’ conduct- Konstantino’s breach and defendants’ aiding and abetting that breach —

intentionally, and directly caused AngioScore harm.
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III. Remedy Awarded
A. Konstantino may retain no benefit he received as a result of hisbreach.

Under Guth, the remedies availabie breach of duty case are designed to “den[y] to the
betrayer all benefit and profit. Guth, 5 A.2d at 510. AngioSeohas proved that its interests
have been subverted by a disloyal fiduciand may now “elect to claim all of the benefits of the
transaction for itself Id. at 273; see also Thorpe, 676 A.2d at @4ince disloyalty has been
established, the standard . require that a fiduciary not profit personally from his conduct, and
that the beneficiaryot be harmed by such conduct.”).

Accordingly, Konstantino may retain no benefit of his breach. The result, while
potentially viewed as harsh, is designed to deter such conduct from occurring in the first plag
differs from contractual remedies and does more than return AngioScore to the posiiion that
would have been in had the breach never occurred. It serves to deter future transgressions.
wit, Konstantino’s personal disgorgement shall include the $250,000 he received in agreeing to
assign his intellectual property rights to Chocolate, as well as the 2.85% royalty on Chocolats

sales. It also includes his shares in QT Vascular stock, which total roughly 15 million, and hi

existing stock options. Furthermore, Konstantino must disgorge any and all monies he colle¢

e. |

To

\1%4

S

ted

in any sale of such stock, the monies he has received relative to his royalty share, and any monic

he has made in connection with his monthly consulting retainer relative to Chocolate.

B. TheCourt awards AngioScoreits past and futurelost profits asthe most
appropriate equitable remedy.

In light of the fact that the underlying claim is equitable in nature, the Court has broad
discretion to address inequity. See Gotham Partners, L.P. v. Hallwood Realty Partners, L.P
A.2d 160, 175 (Del. 2002) (citing Weinberger v. UOP, Inc., 457 A.2d 701, 715 (Del. 1983)
(noting “the broad discretion of the Chancellor to fashion such relief as the facts of a given case
may dictate”); Int’| Telecharge, Inc. v. Bomarko, Inc., 766 A.2d 437, 439 (Del. 2000) (noting th
this Court “defer[s] substantially to the discretion of the trial court in determining the proper
remedy”)). Beyond the disgorgement of benefits Konstantino personally received as a result

breachthe Court finds it appropriate, given the totality of the circumstances, to fashion a rem
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in order that defendants may be deterred from future breaches and to compensate AngioScare, :

“the beneficiary must not be harmed by such condugyer, 754 A.2d at 906.

As set forth above, AngioScore has proved that Chocolate’s market presence has cost it
market share and resulted in lower profits; the causation element is satisfied. But it must be
that the harmsesulting from defendants’ wrongdoing are difficult to quantify, especially given th
industry and the infancy of Chocolate. The Cgtfdrtunately, has broad discretion to tailor

remedies to suit the situation as:isss.” Cantor Fitzgerald, L.P. v. Cantor, No. CIV.A. 16297,

note

11%

2001 WL 536911, at *3 (Del. Ch. May 11, 2001). Cognizant of this framework, AngioScore hHas

presented myriad alternative remedies that it believes would work to the same equitable ends.

example, AngioScore has presented measurements of the following alternative remedies: (i

disgorgement odefendants’ past profits from Chocolate; (ii) an injunction on the sale of

Chocolate; (iif) awarding AngioScore its lost profits sustained to date, and a reasonable estimate

into the future; and (iv) awarding AngioScore the present value of Chocolate, which represents it

value into the future. The Court first explains why a lost profits award is, in its estimation, the
most appropriate for this case, and next explains why the other proposed remedies are want

The Court finds that AngioScore’s calculated lost profits, reflective of both its harm to this
point and into the future, is sufficiently well-established to remfegyioScore’s harm, and
represents an appropriate degree of opprobrium for defeneanotsgful behavior. Thus, the
Court awards AngioScore (i) its current lost profits of $2.97 million, representing the profits it
would have generated had business not been diverted to defendants, and (ii) its future lost p
where, as here, the Court declines to issue an injunction and permits Chocolate to stay on th
market. That value is $17.064 million, representing AngioScore’s lost profits on future sales from
2014 through the second quarter of 2019. (PX 383; Trial Tr. at 759:22-760:2.)

Defendants’ dispute as to AngioScore’s lost profits calculation centers on the definition of
the “market” in which AngioSculpt and Chocolate compete, and the corresponding market share

used to calculate Angcore’s lost sales.” For reasons explained extensively above and

7 As explained extensively above, although defendants maintain that Chocolate has T
caused AngioScore to suffer lost profits, the Court disagrees. The evidence demonstrates
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incorporated by reference, the Court finds the specialty balloon market to be the relevant mayket

for purposes of analysis, not the whole angioplasty balloon catheter market. Of particular im

port

is that specialty balloons are priced significantly higher than POBAs and are designed to address

more complex medical problems where only four devices are employed: AngioSculpt, Chocolate

Vascutrak, and Cutting Balloon. Defendants themselves have long recognized that Chocola
would compete with AngioSculphd priced their device accordingly. Thus, AngioScore’s lost
profits model, which limits the relevant market to that of specialty balloons rather than POBA
provides an accurate estimatieflosses AngioScore has suffered due to Chocolate’s market

presenceé® Having addressed this objection, the Court awards AngioScore $2.97 million,

representing its lost profits from December 2011, when Chocolate entered the market, to June

2014, when AngioScore filed its claim.

(e

Next, AngioScore is awarded $17.064 million, which represents one measure to address

future harms, namely, AngioScore’s calculation of its future lost profits througmid-2019*° In

declining to award AngioScore’s estimated present values for Chocolate, which total either $46 o
$96 million, the Court weighed and balanced myriad considerations. The Court has endeavq
remain faithful to the purposes of remedies for breach of fiduciary duty: the deprivation to thg
wrongdoer of benefits borne of the breach, and the goal of ensuring that a plaintiff will not

continue to be harmed. The Court also finds ématward must be commensurate with the

conclusively that the devices do compete, and that defendants in fact intended that AngioScq
would experience lower profits due to Chocolate.

18 Defendants’ expert, Prowse, used an iData report in his competing calculation.
Although in their briefing, defendants do not dispute the suitability of the Millennium Researc
Group Reports for the calculation AngioScore’s relevant market share 2013 and 2014, and upon
which Gary Olsen, AngScore’s expert, relied in formulating his market share lost profits
analysis, the Court notes that both parties use the Millennium Research Group reports regulg
the course of their business. Thus, the Court finds it the more reliable of the two for purpose
this analysis.

9 The end date certain is defined by the useful life of the AngioSculpt product with wh
Chocolate has been shown to compete. (Trial Tr. at 761:19-762:2.) Notably, the time period
reflects a conservative approach. (Trial Tr. at 763:3-8.)
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highest degree of opprobriufor defendants” wrongful conduct, cognizant that here, had
Konstantino resigned from AngioScore’s board before Chocolate became an opportunity, this
dispute would not exist. AngioScore possessed no right to be offered the Chocolate opportu

absenKonstantino’s board membership. Thus, the appropriate remedy is also one that does

nity

not

work to the destruction of new innovative technology. This is critical, as there is a public benefit

derived from healthy advancement and competition in the marketplace, particularly in the arsg
medical devices. Put differently, the Court finds that equity demands that any remedy be
sufficient to repair and deter without being gratuitously extreme.

With these principles in mind\ngioScore’s alternative remedies are less satisfying. For
example AngioScore’s first proposed remedy — an injunction barring the sale of Chocolats
not appropriate here, where the parties concede that a monetary award will serve as an ade(
remedy. Moreover, the Court cannot overlook the harm such an injunction would work on th
public interest. That AngioScore asks the Court to remove from the quiver of practicing
physicians one arrow with which they might treat a patient is brazen, particularly where they
seek monetary damages, albeit as an alternative. The Court sees limited benefits in removirn
the avowedly limited field of specialty balloon catheters a device that has been approved for
medical use in treating complex disease. An injunction is plainly inappropriate.

Next, given the infancy of Chocolate, calculating an award basdef@nlants’ past
profits is less satisfyingf. Here, AngioScore contends that profits defendants have earned to ¢
due to Chocolate total $5,038,000. (ARB at 21.) Unsurprisingly, defendants dispute this am
The disagreement turns on the fact that Chocolate is a new product being developed in a stg

environment.

Y In cases concerning aiding and abetting a breach of fiduciary duty, disgorgement is

a of

Juat

11

also

g fr

late
pun!

rt-u

one

available remedy. See Am. Master Lease LLC v. Idanta Partners, Ltd., 225 Cal. App. 4th 14
1481 (2014), as modified (May 27, 2014¢e also Triton Const. Co. v. E. Shore Elec. Servs., In
No. CIV.A. 3290-VCP, 2009 WL 1387115, at *28 (Del. Ch. May 18, 2009) affd, 988 A.2d 93¢
(Del. 2010) (finding that where defendants aided and abetted the breach of fiduciary duty, thg
jointly and severally liable for the damages imposed to remedy those breaches) (citing Goth4
Partners, 817 A.2d at 173).
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AngioScore’s calculation centers on the delta between the sales price of the device les
actual cost to manufacture, less a deduction for some marginal costs. Defendants, by contrg

argue that all their research and developnféR&D”) costs should be considered in determining

past and future lost profits. Both positions suffer from want of certainty, and were proffered t
Court without any industry context or a fulsome recOras R&D costs can be treated in various
ways from an accounting perspectiveFurther, Defendants cannot dispute that the product ha
been successful enough to generate revenues of approximately $11 million in 2014 and an
anticipated $20 million in 2015; and that optimism in the product is great, as evidenced by
defendants’ ability to raise $40 million in aninitial public offering and a market capitalization
estimated at $170 million. On the whole, this approach is not as compelling as a remedy baj

AngioScore’s established record of profits.

%1 For example, AngioScore contends that the only evidence the Court should considg
with respect to defendants’ costs should be the testimony of defendants’ 30(b)(6) witness. (Brosh
Dep. at 235:04-14.) The position does not persuade. Brosh was designated as a witness to
guestions relating to annual revenues and annual profits realized in connection with the
manufacture and sale of Chocolate devices in the United States and worldwide. (Dkt. No. 59
4, Topic 5.) The topic, although connected conceptually to the notion of R&D costs, did not
expressly state that Brosh’s testimony would concern the same. Importantly, counsel’s questions

S th

\St,

D the

U7

sed

=

ans

13-3

of Brosh, which form the substance of his designated testimony, did not seek to elicit testimgny

concerning the R&D costs associated with Chocolate. Rather, the designated portions of hig
deposition concern the costs to defendants of manufacturing each unit, the amount TriReme
Quiattro for the manufactured units, and the profit margin realized upon market sale. (See B
Dep. at 228:01-05; 228:14-17; 229:06-14.) Thus, Brosh was not asked, nor did he testify to,
incurred as part of defendants’ development of Chocolate. AngioScore cannot reasonably be
heard to argue that it in any way understood Brosh’s designated testimony to concern such costs,

nor that the testimony of Randall Farwell, QT Vascular’s Chief Financial Officer, as to such costs,
should be barred. Accordingly, the Court finds the Brosh testimony inconclusive and unhelpt
the Court’s endeavor to discern the most appropriate measure for assessing defendants’ profits in

this particular industry for this particular product. See Restatement Third of Restitution § 51,

pay
osh
Cost

ul ir

con

h (“Denial of an otherwise appropriate deduction, by making the defendant liable in excess of net

gains, results in a punitive sanction that the law of restitution normally attempts to avoid.”).

2 Not only are R&D costs treated differently across industries, but at times they are s
costs. Further, prior to Chocolate, defendants had never manufactured a specialty balloon.

Ink
Thu

they had to invest in some amount of infrastructure in order to develop Chocolate. Itis not clear

that such costs should not be considered sunk costs as well. Ultimately, defendants chose r
be fully forthcoming with their financial information, with the result that they cannot now hide
behind their own lack of disclosures and claim no profit.
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Next, the Court finds both of AngioScore’s present value calculations lack adequate
foundation. First, AngioScore relies upon terminal value for purposes of deterfiliogate’s
present valueSuch calculations formed the basis for Gary Olsen’s present value calculation. (See
PX 381; PX 383.) The use of a terminal value is most commonly used to evaluate the value
firm, rather than the future value of a discrete device or invention. (Trial Tr. at 122G"1-Tfe)

application of a terminal value to a going concern company assumes that the company will

of a

continue beyond an explicit forecast period. Plaintiffs have failed to provide sufficient foundgtion

showing that such a measurement is appropriate in the context of valuing a new device or produ

As an alternative to its terminal value calculation for Chocolate’s present value,

AngioScore contends in its post-trial briefing that the application of a multiple to current revenue

in order to calculat€hocolate’s present value is appropriate. Applying that multiple to

AngioScore’s 2014 revenue results in a total of $35 million, which AngioScore argues represents

another measure @thocolate’s present value. The Court finds that this, too, lacks foundation.
Olseris testimony does not support a finding that this is a satisfactory method of calculating the
value of a technology, as opposed to a going concern. As with the use of a terminal value,

AngioScore’s proof at trial concerning the appropriateness of using a revenue multiple effectively

relied on the fact that this valuation technique was used in valuing QT Vascular as a going conce

with a stabilized revenue stam not the Chocolate as a new technology. (Trial Tr. at 777:5-13

(Olsen, testifying that use of a revenue multiple is a common way to value a company and noting

that AngioScore and QT Vascular have been valued using a multiple applied to revenue); Tr

al T

at 780:2-7see also Trial Tr. at 1246:18-1251:25 (Prowse, testifying that such measures are ysed

to value companies).)

23 Terminal value calculations play a part in appraisal proceedings which require valugtion

of a company. See Del. L. of Corp. and Bus. Org 8§ 9A%NTION IN A DELAWARE APPRAISAL

PROCEEDING 2006 WL 2454231 (noting that the discounted cash flow analysis utilizing a terminal

value is a valid methodology for purposes of determining the value of appraised ‘Sharegpe

of a company is equal to the present value of its projected future cash)flofszioScore’s cited
case in support of applying a terminal value, In re Orchard Enterprises, Inc., No. CIV.A. 571
CS, 2012 WL 2923305 (Del. Ch. July 18, 2012), concerned an appraisal of stock values and
not apply a terminal value to a brand new technological device.
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In sum, the Court finds that equitable considerations counsel in favor of awarding
AngioScore a remedy in the form of its past and future lost profits. Such a remedy repairs af
deters without being punitive.

C. Corporate defendantsareliable for damages AngioScor e has sustained.

As aiders and abettors Hfonstantino’s breach of fiduciary duty, defendants are jointly and
severally liable. See Casey, 127 Cal. App.atthl144 Neilson, 290 F. Supp. Zat 1133 (noting
that California courts cite Restatement (Second) of Torts section 876 to hold that “liability may
properly be imposeon one who knows that another’s conduct constitutes a breach of duty and

substantially assists or encourages the brépgfitations omitted); see also Gotham Partners,

817 A.2d at 160. Based upon the detailed discussion above, this liability should extend to the

corporate defendants. See Bancroft-Whitney, 64 Cal.2d at 352 (finding that where defendant
aiders and abettors wefaware of or ratified director’s breach of his fiduciary duties in all but a
few respects, . . . cooperated with [the director] in the breach, and . . . received the benefits
director’s] infidelity . . .. [they] must be held liable for their parttie director’s breach of his
fiduciary duties. They encouraged the sowing and reaped the benefit. They cannot now disg
the burden.”).

CONCLUSION

In summary, the Court finds that Konstantino not only breached his fiduciary dhaties,
actively hid his transgressions to avoid detection. As a result, he exploited the Chocolate
opportunity for his own gain rather than providing the opportunity to AngioScore, as he was
bound to do. While such a duty would not have existed had he resigned before Chocolate b
an opportunityKonstantino’s breach resulted in measurable harm to AngioScore.

A director’s duty to the corporation he serves cannot be ignored under the mantra of
innovation. Should a director walk that path, the innovation must be offered, the conduct
transparent, and the fidelity to one’s duty paramount. While conflicts between the desire to
innovate and the obligations of board membership may arise, a director always has the optig
resign. Here, Konstantino did neither, and thus, a remedy must be awarded to address the |

The Court further finds that Quattro and TriReme aided and abetted the breach of fiduciary d
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and that QT Vasculas liable for the acts of Quattro and TriReme.
Accordingly, the CourORDERS the following measures of damages:
1. Konstantino shall disgorge the benefits he obtained by way of his breach; and
2. Defendants ariable for AngioScore’s past and future lost profits, totaling $2.97
million and $17.064 million, respectively, for a total of $20.034 million.
No later tharduly 13, 2015, the parties shall submit a joint statement including language

for a form of judgment, approved as to form, to be issued upon conclusion of the patent trial.

Y VONNE GiﬂZAL é/ROGERS E

NITED STATESDISTRICT COURT JUDGE

IT IS SO ORDERED.

Dated:July 1, 201
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FINDINGSOF FACT

Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

Konstantino and Feld began
development of Chocolate while
Konstantino served on AngioScore’s
Board. Konstantino and Feld jointly
conceived of the idea for Chocolate
no later than the Fall of 2009.

Trial Tr. at 846:20-847:13, 850:3-25 (Feld
direct), 1290:25-1293:6 (Konstantino
4/21/2015 direct); DX 1609.

Konstantino was a member of

AngioScore’s Board of Directors from
March 2003 until February 5, 2010.

Trial Tr. at 133:7-11, 1275:21-23, 1288:25-
1289:3.

Konstantino knew he owed fiduciary
duties to AngioScore as a member
its Board of Directors.

Trial Tr. at 133:7-11; PX 101 (letter of
February 10, 2009, confirming matters
relating to Konstantino’s transition from
employee and board member, to solely bog
member; noting that as such, he remained
subject to fiduciary duties to the Company.

Konstantino and non-party Feld
jointly conceived of the idea for
Chocolate during a telephone call.
While serving on AngioScore’s

Board, Konstantino conceived of an
idea for an angioplasty balloon that
had pillow and groove formations
when inflated, and had a telephone
call with Feld. The two men then
“brainstormed” together. Konstanting
conceived of the notion of a balloon
with pillows and grooves; Feld
suggested this could be achieved w
a nitinol cage. This was the balloon
catheter that later became known ag
Chocolate.

Trial Tr. at 1290:25-1291:21 (Konstantino
4/21/2015 direct stating that Feld was the fi
to suggest a nitinol cage to achieve pillows
and grooves); 1292:22-1293:6; Trial Tr. at
846:20-847:13 (Feld direct, explaining that
Konstantino and Feld were “brainstorming”
and Feld was talking about using a frame o
cage for what would eventually become
Chocolate; later clarifying that he later
thought that “it might be a good idea and tha
| should spend some time trying to create a
model for this”); DX 1609; PX 109 at 0004.
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

While the precise extent of
development of Chocolate as of
February 5, 2010 is not certain, it wa
developed sufficiently to constitute g
corporate opportunity as of that datg

Trial Tr. at 139:20-141:21 (Konstantino
direct, “In 2009, and before I left the
AngioScore board, | had an idea, one of thr,
or four other ideas that | had at the same tir
Around mid-January 2010, | made a decisiq
to pursue this idea, and that’s pretty much

it.””); 328:6-15 (Haig direct, noting that as of
February 3, 2010, Chocolate was sufficient
developed such that it could be presented 4
part of the “scope of products that TriReme
was working on”); see also PX 80.

In October 2009, TriReme’s Board
was notified of the Chocolate
opportunity.

Trial Tr. at 1096:19-1097:11 (Pizarro cross-
exam). See also Trial Tr. at 1291:22-1292:
(Konstantino 4/21/2015 direct) (Konstanting
stated that he met with “maybe 20 to 30”

different investors in the second half of 200

On October 12, 2009, while serving
on AngioScore’s Board, Konstantino
drafted and applied for a provisional
patent application on the Chocolate
technology, naming himself and Felq
as co-inventors.

Trial Tr. at 200:15-201:10; PX 63; PX 64
(October 2009 patent application listing Fel
as co-inventor).

While Konstantino was serving on
AngioScore’s Board, Feld and
TriReme employees assisted with th
Chocolate design, prepared
engineering drawings on TriReme
templates, built prototypes, and
performed bench tests.

Trial Tr. at 152:5-153:4, 153:11-154:21,
155:3-156:25, 850:18-851:18, 863:17-864:3
881:5-24, 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8
PX 65; PX 67; PX72; PX74; PX87; PX 89
PX 90; PX91; PX92; PX93; PX 109 a
0004; PX 618; PX 619; PX 620; Delos Sant
Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12
18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:19-22,
96:23-25, 97:1-2.

While Konstantino was serving on
AngioScore’s Board, a TriReme
employee showed Chocolate to
physicians.

PX 76 (January 2010 email between Ong,
Pizarro, Haig re physician feedback;
confirming Chocolate was shown to at leas
one physician); Trial Tr. at 364:13-365:15
(Haig direct).
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

10.  While Konstantino was serving on | PX 11 (Report from Stanford study); PX 18
AngioScore’s Board, he and seven (recording attendees from TriReme at test)
other TriReme employees attended | Trial Tr. at 172:13-173:6, 248:11-23.
animal testing on Chocolate at
Stanford sponsored by Quattro, ther
known as Proteus, in January 2010.

11. While serving on AngioScore’s Trial Tr. at 239:8-240:24, 243:19-244:3,
Board, Konstantino sought to raise | 1292:1-3 (Konstantino direct); PX 2
funds from third-party investors and| (December 2009 email between Cheng anc
the Singapore Economic Developmg Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate device, attaching
Board in connection with Chocolate,| powerpoint presentation for Singapore
with assistance from several TriRen Economic Development Board); PX 3
employees. (January 2010 engagement letter between

Proteus and Maida Vale Associates signed
Konstantino referring to financial advisor
arrangement for Proteus); PX 85 (Decembé
2009 email between Konstantino, Ong, and
Foo (Maida Vale) re Proteus’s executive
summary on Chocolate, requesting Foo sig
nondisclosure agreement); Ong Dep. at 16
9, 16:11-19, 16:23-17:8, 17:11, 21:4-10,
22:21-23:2, 29:22-30:17, 127:19-22, 128:4-
10.

12. During the second half of 2009, Trial Tr. at 1292:1-3 (Konstantino direcbee
Konstantino offered 20 to 30 investg also Trial Tr. at 878:15-21, 879:1-9 (Feld
the opportunity to invest in Chocolat| examination by Court, stating that

Konstantino met with “dozens of investors™ in
the 2009 time frame).

13.  In presentations seeking to raise funl PX 2 at 0013 (December 2009 email betwe

for Chocolate, Konstantino describe
Chocolate as an “Investment
Opportunity.”

Cheng and Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate

device, attaching powerpoint presentation f
Singapore Economic Development Board)
PX 85 at 0014 December 2009 email betwg
Konstantino, Ong, and Foo (Maida Vale) re
Proteus’s executive summary on Chocolate,
requesting Foo sign a nondisclosure
agreement).
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

14. In a November 2009 presentation | PX 2 at 0010 (November 2009 presentatjor]
seeking funding from the Singapore| Trial Tr. at 239:8-240:24; see also PX 85 al
Economic Development Board, 0011 (email to Kah Foo transmitting
Konstantino stated that the Chocolal] November 2009 presentation); Trial Tr. at
“IP, Concept design, Prototypes, 162:12-19 (Konstantino direct).
business model, Team, [and]
partnerships” were all “completed.”

15. In December 2009 correspondence | PX 73 at 0001 (December 2009 email
with Dr. Kah Foo, with whom between Konstantino, Foo, and Ong); Trial
Konstantino was working to get Tr. at 160:23-25, 1319:17-1320:2
financing for Chocolate, Konstanting (Konstantino).
represented that the “initial
[Chocolate] design already works wé
and attracts a lot of attention.”

16.  InJanuary 2010, Konstantino sent [} PX 124 at 0003 (January 2010 email where
Kah Foo, with whom Konstantino wg Konstaitino transmits “Proteus Information
working to get financing for memorandum” reflecting status of Chocolate
Chocolate, a memorandum stating t| development to that point); Trial Tr. at 144:
the “Proof-of-Concept of the 13, 160:23-25.

[Chocolate] design has been
completed.”

17.  Other presentations dated before PX 585 at 0015 (October 2009 powerpoint
Konstantino left AngioScore’s Board | status of Chocolate, reflecting that “Front-end
stated that the Chocolate “product R&D: product design completed”); see also
design” was “completed.” PX 78 at 0014 (February 2010 presentatior

Chocolate).
18.  The first Chocolate 510(k) was PX 197 (510K notificaton for Chocolate PT/

submitted on April 8, 2011.

Balloon catheter); PX 201; Trial Tr. at
1009:14-1010:5.
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

19.  The two kinds of testing on which th{ PX 11 at 0004; PX 197 at 0003, 0011 (510}
first Chocolate 510(k) relied to get | notificaton for Chocolate PTA Balloon
FDA clearance-mechanical bench | catheter); PX 599 at 0004 (Stanford report
testing and pre-clinical animal RPTA013-2, June 18, 2010, noting device
testing—used samples of Chocolate | used was RD 18.20); PX 618; PX 619; PX
products with constraining structure | 620; Trial Tr. at 870:17-871:13, 1009:14-
designs created before Konstantino| 1011:7, 1089:20-1091:6, 1331:11-1332:22.
left AngioScore’s Board.

20.  The mechanical bench testing PX 197 at 0003 (510K natificaton for
submitted to the FDA with the first | Chocolate PTA Balloon catheter); PX 618;
Chocolate 510(k) used samples of | PX 619; PX 620; Trial Tr. at 870:17-871:13
design version RD_20, which was | 1089:20-1091:6.
drawn on January 13, 2010.

21.  The pre-clinical animal testing PX 11 at 0004 (Stanford report reflecting
submitted to the FDA with the first | RPTQ013-1); PX 197 at 0011 (510K
Chocolate 510(k) was performed on| notificaton for Chocolate PTA Balloon
samples of design version RD_18.2( cateter noting in vivo study RPTQ-013:
the same version used in the Janual PX 599 at 0004 (Stanford report reflecting
2010 animal testing. RPTAOQ013-2, testing on RD 18.20); Trial Tr.

at 1331:11-1332:22.

22.  Chocolate was a sufficiently concret| Trial Tr. at 200:15-201:10; PX 63 (October
concept in October 2009 for 2009 email confirming filing of patent
Konstantino to so describe and defir| application); PX 64 (October 2009 patent
in an application to the U.S. Patent | application).
and Trademark Office.

23. Konstantino’s filing of a provisional Trial Tr. at 200:15-201:10, 201:21-23; 202:(

patent application for Chocolate
evidences that Chocolate was a
sufficiently concrete opportunity at
that time such that an entity or
individual could acquire rights.

20 (Konstantino discussing his filing of pate
applications for Chocolate); PX 64 (Octobe
2009 patent application); PX 422; PX 427
(patent documents; applications).
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

24.  Konstantino’s filing of a provisional PX 2 at 0007, 0013 (December 2009 email
patent application was specifically | between Cheng and Ong re Proteus’s
identified in his presentations to Chocolate device, attaching powerpoint
investors. presentation for Singapore Economic
Development Board); PX 85 at 0008, 0014;
PX 124 at 0003; Trial Tr. at 144:15-145:6,
242:12-17.
25. Since its founding in 2003, Trial Tr. at 68:12-22.

AngioScore has designed,

manufactured, and sold specialty

angioplasty balloon catheters under

the brand name AngioSculpt.

26. Konstantino was the principal Trial Tr. at 841:1-22 (Feld direct), 1276:15-
inventor of AngioSculpt and filed a | 1277:12, 1277:19-1278:4 (Konstantino
patent application that described a | 4/21/2015 Direct); DX 1371; DX 1652 at 5;
drug-coated angioplasty balloon DX 2015 (Konstantino’s resume).
before AngioScore was founded ang
incorporated.

27.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate are both Trial Tr. at 159:7-16, 180:6-8, 325:18-326:1]
specialty angioplasty balloon 326:20-22, 408:23-409:12, 526:12-19,
catheters. 577:25-578:3, 924:5-17.

28.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate both hay Trial Tr. at 180:22-25, 410:5-21, 411:5-18,
a nitinol structure surrounding a nylq 579:13-21; PX 195 at 0002; PX 197 at 000¢
semi-compliant balloon. PX 501.

29.  No other specialty balloons on the | Trial Tr. at 896: 16-23 (Garcia); 410:12-21
market use nitinol cage on a semi- | (Viano); Trial Tr. at 411:5-18 (Viano).
compliant balloon- the Boston
Scientific Cutting Balloon uses
surgical steel and the Vascutrak use
stainless steel guide wires.

30.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate are both Trial Tr. at 181:1-10, 579:13-21; PX 189; P}

used for the treatment of peripheral
and coronary artery disease by
opening occluded blood vessels

195; PX 201; PX 211.
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

without leaving metal behind.

31.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate have bo| Trial Tr. at 420:12-20, 1015:12-16, 1016:8-
been cleared by the FDA with 11; PX 195; PX 201.
overlapping indications for use.

32.  There are no indications for which th Trial Tr. at 1016:8-11; see also PX 195; PX
peripheral Chocolate device is clear| 201.
that the peripheral AngioScore devig
iS not.

33.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate are sold Trial Tr. at 181:11-20, 749:15-751:20; PX
to the same customers. 152; PX 164.

34.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate make | Trial Tr. at 422:11-428:5; PX 501; PX 531;
overlapping marketing claims. PX 533.

35.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate are both Trial Tr. at 158:22-23, 159:2-3, 411:19-
sold at premium pricing over plain o| 412:11, 746:8-749:2; PX 294 at 0219; PX 1
balloon angioplasty (“POBA™) at 0014.
products.

36.  AngioSculpt and Chocolate have Trial Tr. at 336:16-340:7; PX 135 (Decembg
approximately the same list price. | 2011 email from Dreaden to other TriReme

employees regarding Chocolate pricing,
attaching tables confirming that at each
available size, Chocolate is exactly $25 les
per unit than AngioSculpt); PX 137 at 0014
37.  While Chocolate is a specialty ballo¢ Trial Tr. at 538:9-539:9; PX 452 (photograp

catheter, it is not a “scoring device.”
Testing of Chocolate however
confirms that the device bears into @
impresses upon plaque before the
balloon inflates to the point of
protrusion beyond the nitinol cage.

of molding clay). Based on its classification
of the Chocolate PTCA balloon as a Class
device, the FDA does not consider Chocola
to be a scoring balloon. Trial Tr. at 995:2-1
1002:14-20, 1003:7-13 (Kuehn direct).
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Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

38.

To determine whether Chocolate
scores, Jeffrey Bleam, an AngioSco
engineer with over 20 years of
experience in the medical device
industry, performed an experiment i
which he inflated the Chocolate
device within a cylinder of modeling
clay. Chocolate’s nitinol struts left
impressions in the modeling clay.

Trial Tr. at 538:9-539:9, 525:9-526:11; PX
452: PX 610.

39.

There is no evidence of record that
rebuts the findings froBleam’s test,
nor any reason that the impressions|
the modeling clay observed by Mr.
Bleam were not reflective of how
Chocolate would perform in a vesse

See DX 1985; DX 1986 (noting diameter at
various levels of pressure); Trial Tr. at

378:15-381:14-60, 382:5-22 (Haig testifying
that Chocolate is not a scoring device).

40.

A 2010 TriReme document states tf
Chocolate has a “[d]ual mechanism of
action” whereby the first stage
involves “[p]laque disruption by

initial metal to plaque contact.” At the
second stage, when inflated, the
balloon protrudes past the cage.

PX 78 at 0010; Trial Tr. at 1083:21-24,
1084:3-1085:18.

41.

Defendants’ FDA submissions state
that Clocolate’s nitinol constraining
structure “provides for focal force
transmission up to nominal pressure
and multiple balloon pillows
expanding beyond the CS at high
pressure. Pillow dilatation is regiona
providing for strain relief within the
vascular wall and a gentle expansio
mechanism.”

PX 599 at 0003; Trial Tr. at 1331:11-13.
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42. Defendants’ FDA submissions state PX 207 at 0004; Trial Tr. at 1087:2-1088:5.
that “the inflation of the Chocolate
Balloon closely resembles the
commercially available VascuTrak
balloon with the potential for
increasedocal force at low pressure.”

43, Even if Chocolate did not score, Trial Tr. at 91:22-92:6, 490:17-22, 540:9-14
AngioScore would still have been | 579:13-581:2; see also Trial Tr. at 208:24-
interested in the opportunity. 209:7, 1295:19-1296:7; PX 2 at 0012; PX 7

at 0018; PX 85 at 0013.

44. Konstantino’s actions demonstrate Trial Tr. at 207:22-25, 208:24-209:7,
that he thought that AngioScore 1295:19-1296:7.
would have been interested in
participating in the Chocolate
opportunity.

45.  Konstantino repeatedly referred to | PX 2 at 0012 (December 2009 email betwe
AngioScore as a potential partner in| Cheng and Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate
the Chocolate opportunity in device, attaching powerpoint presentation f
presentations in 2009 and 2010. Singapore Economic Development Board)

PX 78 at 0018; PX 85 at 0013; Trial Tr. at
207:22-25, 208:24-209:7.

46.  On February 3, 2010, Konstantino | Trial Tr. at 1295:19-1296:7; see also Trial T
approached Tom Trotter with the at 207:22-25, 208:24-209:7.
intent to present Chocolate as an
investment opportunity because he
thought AngioScore would be
“interested in investing” in it.

47. In December 2009, Konstantino Trial Tr. at 136:4-138:6, 571:25-572:14; PX
pitched Tom Trotter about 423 at 0002.

AngioScore distributing the Glider
product.
48. Glider is a POBA, not a specialty Trial Tr. at 138:7-21, 158:15-20, 571:25-

balloon.

572:14, 573:3-4; PX 423 at 0002.

72




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N N N N DN P P R R R R R R R
0o N o o A WO N R O O 0O N o A W N - O

Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

49.  AngioSculpt is more similar to Trial Tr. at 138:13-21, 158:15-159:16,
Chocolate than it is to Glider. 325:18-326:10, 326:20-22, 408:23-409:12,
526:12-19, 571:25-572:14, 573:3-4, 577:25
578:3, 924:5-17.
50. Distributors of medical devices Trial Tr. at 247:2-10.
sometimes also invest in the compa|
manufacturing the device.
51.  AngioScore could have found Trial Tr. at 87:23-88:10, 91:1-16, 530:5-16

Chocolate’s nitinol cage design useful
in the 2009 to 2010 timeframe to
address the challenge it faced in
designing devices longer than
100mm.

(Bleam direct), 532:7-536:5 (describing
process of adding cross-struts to the
AngioSculpt device to ensure even inflation
difficulties with 200mm length balloon)s,
539:15-25 (Bleam direct, explaining that
Chocolate’s radial struts could have assisted
AngioScore’s development of a 100mm
device), 540:22-541:1 (Bleam direct, stating
that he would have considered Chocolate fq
development despite its not being a “scoring
balloon,” describing modeling clay
experiment, stating that it is “definitely a
possibility” that AngioScore could have
released a more ideal 100mm balloon soon
had it been aware of Chocolate), 541:12-20
(Bleam direct, stating that had someone
shown him the Chocolate design while he w
working on developing the 100mm
AngioSculpt, that could have affected the
money AngioScore spent developing these
balloons), 564:1-23 (Trotter direct, discussi
July 2009 board meeting presentation
referring to AngioScore’s difficulty with
developing extra long catheters), 579:22-
581:2 (Trotter direct, discussing same, stati
that Chocolate opportunity could have save
AngioScore cost and development money f
its longer length balloons).
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52.  While Konstantino served on PX 67 (November 2009 email between Felq
AngioScore’s Board, drawings and and Delos Santos discussing performance
prototypes of 100mm Chocolate Chocolate prototypes, including a 100mm
devices existed. device); PX 89; PX 620; Trial Tr. at 871:10-

13, 1070:17-1071:25, 1090:23-1091:6; Delc
Santos Dep. at 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18, 77:21
25, 78:1.

53.  The first Chocolate 510(k) submissi¢ PX 197 at 0002; Trial Tr. at 1012:4-25.
sought FDA clearance for devices a
long as 120mm.

54.  After the initial generation of its Trial Tr. at 532:7-533:8, 534:1-535:24; PX
longer length product experienced | 596; PX 622; DX 1706 at 20.
design challenges, AngioScore
introduced a new version of its
100mm AngioSculpt in 2013 with
improvements.

55.  While Konstantino was on Trial Tr. at 87:23-88:10, 91:1-16, 530:5-16;
AngioScore’s board, AngioScore was| 532:7-536:5, 564:1-23, 579:22-581:2; PX 2
having difficulty designing a 100mm| (July 2009 board meeting presentation
AngioSculpt, and Konstantino knew| discussing business challenges).
of the same.

56.  The Chocolate device possibly coul( Trial Tr. at 91:1-16, 539:15-25, 540:22-541
have assisted in AngioScore’s work to | 541:12-20, 579:22-581:2.
address the design problems
associated with the 100mm
AngioSculpt.

57.  The Chocolate opportunity could haj Trial Tr. at 87:23-88:10, 91:1-16 (Andrews

aided AngioScore’s effort in
developing longer-length specialty
balloons.

direct discussing difficulty designing 100mn
AngioSculpt), 530:5-16 (Bleam direct re
same), 532:536:5 (“the challenge for this
particular device . . . [was ensuring] even
deployment of the struts around the balloon” .
.. “we added cross-links to the metal that goe
over the hlloon” to “help[] with even
deployment™), 539:15-25 (testifying that
knowledge of the Chocolate design could
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have been of assistance in developing the

100mm device), 540:22-541:1, 541:12-20,

564:1-23, 579:22-581:2, 871:10-13, 1012:4
25, 1070:17-1071:25, 1090:23-1091.:6; PX

PX 89; PX 197; PX 620.

58.  AngioScore could have been Trial Tr. at 490:5-16 (Raffin direct), 579:22-
interested in Chocolate in the 2009 { 581:2, 697:7-698:2; PX 217 (February 200¢
2010 timeframe insofar as it present email between board members discussing
long-term potential as a drug-eluting effort to attain drug coated balloon
specialty balloon. technology; PX 220 (July 2009 board

presentation outlining future business strate
including “extra long” devices of 100mm and
drug coated device).

59. While Konstantino was on Trial Tr. at 87:23-88:10, 164:14-165:17,
AngioScore’s Board, AngioScore was | 166:9-15, 214:15-215:6, 566:6-568:13,
working on developing drug-eluting | 579:22-581:2; PX 226; PX 246 (AngioScore
specialty balloon technology. February 2010 Board Meeting presentation

giving overview of then-existing cash balan
notably above budget (p.6), research and
development items, including drug-coated
devices (p.13)); DX 1199.

60. Konstantino did not disclose PX 420 at 0004.

Chocolate or its potential as a drug-
eluting specialty balloon to
AngioScore. Instead, in a letter to
AngioScore’s counsel dated February
23, 2010, he denied involvement in
“any development work . . . of
angioplasty balloon technology . . .
that involves specialized features [.

17
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61.  While serving on AngioScore’s Trial Tr. at 160:20-162:4; PX 85 (Novembel
Board, Konstantino was promoting | 2009 Proteus presentation) at 0008; see alg
Chocolate as an “ideal platform for PX 2 at 0007 (December 2009 email betwe
drug delivery” in his efforts to obtain | Cheng and Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate
financing for his undisclosed project| device, attaching powerpoint presentation f

Singapore Economic Development Board).

62. Given the limited specialty balloon | Trial Tr. at 488:17-22; 489:15-490:4 (Raffin

catheter market, AngioScore would
not have simply done nothing had
Chocolate been presented. During
relevant time period, there were only
two general types of balloon cathete
in the specialty balloon market
those that scored or cut, as in the ca
of the Boston Scientific Cutting
Balloon and the AngioSculpt, and
Vascutrak, which had stainless stee
guide wires. Chocolate presented a
paradigm-shifting design: a cage
designed to create pillows and
grooves in such a way as to create
focal force on the balloon surface as
pushes through the openings in the
cage. As a young company, revenu
growth was a primary concern for
AngioScore. It would have, at a
minimum, issued an offer to acquire
rights to the technology.

direct; 408:18-410:21 (Viano); 438:19-
439:21.
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63.

AngioScore’s earlier rejection of an
offer of a new scoring balloon does
not establish that it had no interest @
expectancy in Chocolate. The
opportunity then presented related t
another concrete product.
AngioScore was permitted to evalug
the design features. In light of this
concrete opportunity, Trotter
explained AngioScore declined to
pursue the proposed technology
because “there was nothing

particularly impressive about it.” He
further added that he “didn’t see that
there was any innovation there that
would be valuable to AngioScore.”
The fact that Chocolate represented
new concept focal force through the
creation of balloon pillows, rather
than scoring- sets it apart from the
opportunity AngioScore contemplats
and rejected.

See DX 1099Trial Tr. 627:25-628:1 (Trotter
direct); 628:1-2.

Personality conflict issues would not
have prevented AngioScore from

being interested in the Chocolate, n
would AngioScore have declined to
exploit the Chocolate opportunity.

On the whole, Konstantino was well
regarded by members of the board.

FFsupra 51-61; PX 234 (August 2009 emal
in which Trotter emailed Ivan Pirzada in an
attempt to get Konstantino funding); PX 241
(In December 2009, Trotter sent Konstantin
a tip on potential funders for TriReme); Tria
Tr. at 483:14-484-1 (Raffin); 692:16-21
(Suennen).

65.

As a member of AngioScore’s Board,
Konstantino had long-standing
exposure to, and access to,
AngioScore’s confidential

information. Certain of this
information was forwarded to others
involved in the development of
Chocolate.

PX 246 (February 2010 board meeting
presentation); PX 444; PX 445; Trial Tr. at
174:7-15, 175:2-19, 176:4-11, 177:3-24,
213:7-15, 214:15-215:6.
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66. Konstantino used information PX 246 (AngioScore February 2010 Board
obtained by virtue of his role on Meeting presentation, giving overview of
AngioScore’s board when developing | then-existing cash balance, notably above
Chocolate. budget (p.6), research and development ite

including drug-coated devices (p.13)); PX 4
(October 2009 email from Konstantino
forwarding China Market information sent t¢
AngioScore board); PX 445 (November 20(
email from Konstantino to Dreher forwardin
Trotter’s analysis of the VascuTrak device);
Trial Tr. at 174:7-15, 175:2-19, 176:4-11,
177:3-24, 213:7-15, 214:15-215:6. That
Konstantino and Feld jointly developed
Chocolate does not undermine the fact that
virtue of his seat on AngioScore’ board,
Konstantino had access to information on tf
angioplaty balloon market, AngioScore’s
competitive standing in that market, and
utilized such information in his pursuit of
Chocolate.

67.  Konstantino attended AngioScore’s Trial Tr. at 138:22-139:4, 213:7-15.
February 2010 Board meeting.

68. At the same time Konstantino PX 222 (Feb. 5, 2010 email between
attended AngioScore’s February 2010 | Konstantino and Haig re meetings to discug
Board meeting, TriReme’s Vice Chocolate); PX 223 (Feb. 9, 2010 emails re
President of Marketing & Business | same); Trial Tr. at 163-164:2, 164:8-16,
Development, Christopher Haig, 331:3-333:6 (Konstantino direct discussing
traveled to Germany to meet with a | Haig’s visit to Germany in February 2010).
drug coating technology company
about Chocolate.

69.  AngioScore never disavowed an FFinfra 70-85.

interest in Chocolate.
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70.

The survey of AngioScore Board
members and management by Sara|
Lugaric was directed to an abstract
and hypothetical opportunityi.e.,

the acquisition of “another company
technology or product line.”

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 578:4-15, 696:7-13.

71.

The Lugaric survey did not present
either the specific Chocolate
opportunity or a product resembling
the Chocolate opportunityi.e., a
specialty balloon with a nitinol
structure surrounding the balloon th3
would leverage AngioScore’s existing
sales force and that had been
developed by AngioScore’s co-
founder and co-creator of the
AngioSculpt technology.

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 68:14-16, 91:17-21,
131:6-21, 136:8-137:22, 159:7-16, 180:22-2
181:11-20, 325:18-326:10, 326:20-22,
408:23-409:12, 410:5-21, 526:12-19, 577:2
578:3,579:13-21; 924:5-17, 1276:15-17.

72.

Several participants in the Lugaric
survey testified that they interpreted
the question abotfacquiring another
company, technology or product line”
as referring to products outside of
AngioScore’s core business of
specialty balloons.

Trial Tr. at 129:15-25, 578:16-579:21.

73.

A majority of the Board members
surveyed by Lugaric were receptive
the possibility of “acquiring another
company, technology or product line.”

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary).

74.

Thomas Raffin responded to the
Lugaric survey that he “[w]ould
consider” “acquiring another
company, technology or product line”
and noted that this would “not [be]
easy.” Dr. Raffin would have
considered Chocolate as such a
possibility if it had been presented.

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 488:7-22, 489:15-
490:22.
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75.

Lisa Suennen responded to the
Lugaric survey that she would have
been “[p]otentially” interested in
“acquiring another company,
technology or product line,” if that
acquisition “is accretive or adds some
significant strategic value.” Ms.
Suennen was open to having
AngioScore incorporate new
technology into its product lineup an
would have considered pursuing
Chocolate had that opportunity beer
presented.

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 696:24-698:2.

76.

Jeanette Welsh responded to the
Lugaric survey that she would have
been interested in “acquiring another
company, technology or product line”
“only if the acquisition leverages the
very expensive Sales force
AngioScore has.”

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 131:6-21, 181:11-20.,

77.

Konstantino responded to the Lugar
survey that he would support
“acquiring another company,
technology or product line” “to
leverage sales force,” and that
AngioScore “[c]an identify
complementary or adjacent vasculat
technology” “[p]referably for the
peripheral market” and “should be
looking for product with premium
pricing for distribution and[/]or
acquisition.”

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary).
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78.

Although Tom Trotter responded to
the Lugaric survey by stating that he
did na think “acquiring another
company, technology or product line”
was necessary to get AngioScore
where it needed to go, he interprete
the question as referring to products
outside the area of the balloon
angioplasty and would have been
interested in Chocolate had it been
offered.

PX 214 at 0002 (Lugaric survey responses
summary); Trial Tr. at 578:4-581:2.

79.

AngioScore’s Board—not its
managementwould have made the
ultimate decision whether to accept
reject the Chocolate opportunity had
been offered.

Trial Tr. at 488:23-489:13.

80.

AngioScore did not consent to
Konstantino’s pursuit of the
Chocolate opportunity, nor did it
waive any interest or expectancy in
that opportunity.

FFinfra 81-85.

81.

Konstantino never disclosed
Chocolate to AngioScore while
sewing on AngioScore’s Board.

Trial Tr. at 71:25-72:18, 138:7-12, 138:22-
139:19, 212:25-213:15, 271:14-272:4,
272:18-19, 280:1-25, 282:6-283:24, 486:2-
487:10, 523:12-16, 571:25-573:4, 580:15-1
633:7-14, 634:5-7, 693:6-11; PX 107 at 00C(
0003; PX 420 at 0004 (February 23, 2010
letter from Konstantino through counsel); P
423 at 0006.
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82.

AngioScore’s Board took
Konstantino’s request to pursue
“endovascular bifurcation stents and
delivery systems for bifurcation
stents” with TriReme very seriously
and adopted a formal resolution that
granted Konstantino permission to
pursue this limited business
opportunity and waived AngioScore’s
rights solely in that particular
opportunity.

PX 98; Trial Tr. at 264:6-22.

83.

AngioScore’s original Board
resolution dated July 26, 2005 only
allowed Konstantino to provide
advisory services to TriReme and
specified that such services would b
without compensation.

PX 98 at 0001.

AngioScore later gave Konstantino
permission to pursue additional role
at TriReme but never waivedit
interest in anything other than
bifurcation stents.

DX 1014; Trial Tr. at 561:24-562:4, 689:4-
690:13, 721:13-722:2, 864:4-8.

85.

Chocolate is not a bifurcation stent.

Trial Tr. at 1322:2-3, 1322:8-9, 1322:14-16

86.

Konstantino did not offer testimony
thatcontradicted Lisa Suennen’s
testimony that he told her TriReme
would not compete with AngioScore

Trial Tr. at 689:4-690:13.

87.

Konstantino’s claim that he did not
believe he needed AngioScore’s
consent to develop Chocolate is not
credible.

PX 101 (letter of February 10, 2009,
confirming matters relating to Konstantino’s
transition from employee and board membe
to solely board member; noting that as suck
he remained subject to fiduciary duties to t
Company.)
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88.  On February 10, 2009, Konstantino | PX 101 (letter of February 10, 2009,
signel a letter confirming that “[a]s a | confirming matters reténg to Konstantino’s
member of the Company’s Board of transition from employee and board membse
Directors,” he was “of course also . .. | to solely board member; noting that as sucl
subject to fiduciary duties to the he remained subject to fiduciary duties to t
Company under applicable law, like| Company).
all directors.”

89. Immediately before his resignation | PX 107 at 0001.
from AngioScore’s Board,

Konstantino told AngioScore that
“precisely” because he was “keenly
aware of [his] obligations as a board
member,” he approached AngioScore
supposedly “before any new project is
started.”

90. In late 2006, Feridun Ozdil and Trial Tr. at 1280:14-17; 1281:17-
Konstantino had an argument and | (Konstantino); DX 1993; Trial Tr. at 483:14-
their relationship soured. Despite th 484-1 (Raffin); 692:16-21 (Suennen).
conflict of interest, Konstantino
remained respected by other memb¢
of the board.

91.  AngioScore had the financial capaci DX 1199 (AngioScore’s December 2009
to exploit the Chocolate opportunity] Monthly Report noting $15.3 million cash o

hand).

92. Konstantino told potential investors | PX 547; Trial Tr. at 209:17-211:21; PX 258
that it would cost between $1.5 PX 78 at 0017.
million and $5 million to
commercialize Chocolate.

93.  Amir Belson, a TriReme Board Belson Dep. at 238:12-16, 238:21-23, 239:

Member, testified that that $3.5
million to $4 million would be
sufficient to commercialize Chocolat
and that he had “done things like this
for less.”

10, 239:13-19; PX 78 at 0017.
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94.

Bleam, AngioScore’s Vice President
of R&D, testified it would cost
AngioScore $1 million to $2 million
to develop a “specialty balloon with
nitinol over the balloon,” with
potentially more money needed for
more complex versions.

Trial Tr. at 542:23-543:4.

95.

Given that AngioScore already had
the infrastructure to produce a
specialty angioplasty balloon using :
nitinol exterior structure, the cost to
exploit Chocolate would have been
incremental. All the Chocolate’s
component parts were essentially th
same as those of the AngioSculpt.

FF supra 27-28; infra 106.

96.

As of the date of its sale to
Spectranetics, AngioScore had sper
approximately $100 million
developing different varieties of the
AngioSculpt.

Trial Tr. at 582:6-15; 593:21-594:14.

97.

AngioScore had approximately $17
million cash on hand in October 200
when Konstantino filed a provisiona
patent application on Chocolate.

Trial Tr. at 76:4-9; PX 63; PX 64 (October
2009 patent application).

98.

AngioScore had in excess of $15
million cash on hand at the end of
2009, just over a month before
Konstantino resigned from
AngioScore’s Board.

PX 621; Trial Tr. at 74:4-75:21; see also P
246 at 0016; Trial Tr. at 213:4-215:6; DX
1199.

99.

AngioScore could have exploited th¢
Chocolate opportunity by borrowing
the necessary funds.

PX 242 (December 2009 email from Trotter
to AngioScore board detailing meeting with
Oxford Financial and Oxford’s willingness to
lend up to $20 million); Trial Tr. at 76:13-
79:16.
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100. In December 2009, Oxford Finance | PX 242 (December 2009 email from Trotter
stated a willingness to lend to AngioScore board detailing meeting with
AngioScore up to $20 million, and | Oxford Financial an@®xford’s willingness to
even more if necessary. lend up to $20 million).

101. AngioScore borrowed $10 million | Trial Tr. at 79:4-16.
from Oxford in late 2010, and an
additional $5 million in 2011.

102. AngioScore could have exploited thq Trial Tr. at 79:18-80:3 (Andrews Direct),
Chocolate opportunity through equit| 696:14-697:11 (Suennen Direct).
financing.

103. AngioScore successfully raised Trial Tr. at 79:18-80:3.

“about $111 million” through six
different equity rounds, including in
2011.

104. Psilos, an AngioScore investor wih | Trial Tr. at 696:14-697:11 (Suennen direct)
Board seat, and others invested mo| PX 320 at 0050-0051.
money in AngioScore in 2011.

105. AngioScore could have redirected | Trial Tr. at 91:1-16, 539:15-25, 540:22-541.
R&D money it spent to develop the | 541:12-20, 579:22-581:2.
100mm AngioSculpt in order to
exploit the Chocolate opportunity.

106. AngioScore would not have needed| PX 214 at 0002; Trial Tr. at 131:6-21, 186
incur many of the post- 137:22,1170:21-1172:15, 1174:12-1176:17
commercialization costs that PX 388.
defendants attribute to Chocolate.

107. Several AngioScore Board membery PX 214 at 0002; see also Trial Tr. at 136:8-

including Konstantino, specifically
called out AngioScore’s excess sales
capacity in responding to the Sarah
Lugaric survey.

137:22.
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108. By taking the Chocolate opportunity| See e.g., FF infra 110-162; 200-220.
for himself, Konstantino placed
himself in a position inimical to his
duties to AngioScore.

109. By taking the Chocolate opportunity| See e.g., FF infra 110-162; 200-220.
for himself, Konstantino did not act i
good faith or in the best interest of
AngioScore. By taking the Chocolat
opportunity for himself, Konstantino
placed his own financial interest
above AngioScore’s. Konstantino did
not reasonably believe he was actin
in the best interest of AngioScore on
in a way that was not adverse to
AngioScore.

110. Konstantino viewed placing his own| Trial Tr. at 133:23t34:1 (“‘Q. Did you
interests above AngioScore’s interests | believe that you had a duty to place
as acceptable. AngioScore’s commercial interests above

your own personal financial interests? A. N
I did not believe that.””).

111. While sitting on AngioScore’s Board | Trial Tr. at 91:1-16, 161:12-162:4, 164:14-
of Directors, Konstantino knew that | 165:17, 166:9-15, 208:24-209:7, 530:5-16,
AngioScore “might be interested” in 564:17-565:5, 579:22-581:2, 1012:4-25,
the Chocolate opportunity. 1070:17-1071:25, 1295:19-1296:7; PX 2

(December 2009 email between Cheng and
Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate device, attaching
powerpoint presentation for Singapore
Economic Development Board identifying
AngioScore as potential partner for Chocola
at p. 12); PX 69; PX 78 at 0018; PX 85; PX
89; PX 197; PX 226; PX 620.

112. Konstantino profited from taking the| Trial Tr. 775:5-13; Brosh Dep. At 228:1-5,

Chocolate opportunity for himself.

14-17, 229:6-14; 235:4-5, 235:21-236:14,
254:25-255:12.; PX 383; PX 388.
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113. AngioScore was harmed by Trial Tr. at 139:20-141:23, 149:13-152:17,
Konstantino’s decision to develop 159:7-16, 185:1-186:3, 186:7-189:4, 325:21
Chocolate, because it competes in t| 24; PX 15 at 0005; PX 66; PX 107; PX 419
same specialty balloon market. PX 420.

114.  While sitting on AngioScore’s Board | PX 124 at 0007; PX 125 at 0009; Trial Tr. &
of Directors, Konstantino intended | 185:1-186:3 (Konstantino admitting that a
that Chocolate would compete with | December 13, 2009 presentation described
AngioSculpt. Chocolate as “[a] step up from scoring,”

which “refer[s] to AngioScore”); id. at 186:7-
189:4 (Konstantino admitting that a
November 2009 TriReme presentation mad
the identical claim regarding reducing
dissections that AngioScore makes).

115. Konstantino claimed that Chocolate| Trial Tr. at 185:1-186:3; PX 15 at 0005.
was a “step up from scoring”
balloons, such as AngioSculpt.

116. TriReme’s sales force directly Trial Tr. at 343:19-344:7.
compared Chocolate to the
AngioSculpt.

117. TriReme’s sales force named Trial Tr. at 343:19-344:7; PX 127; PX 132 4

AngioSculpt as Chocolate’s “closest
competitor.”

0002; PX 143; PX 154.

87




United States District Court
Northern District of California

© 00 N o o b~ w N P

N N N N N N N N DN P P R R R R R R R
0o N o o A WO N R O O 0O N o A W N - O

Findings of Fact

Supporting Evidence

118. TriReme used AngioSculpt to set th( Trial Tr. 335:9-336:15 (Haig admitting that
price of Chocolate, believing it woul( TriReme targeted “AngioScore accounts” to
give Chocolate a competitive “get a faster uptick on Chocolate” because
advantage. these were accounts e “pricing had

already been established for specialty
balloons”); id. at 336:16-340:7 (TriReme
setting Chocolate list price at launch in
December 2011 to be exactly $25 below th¢
price of AngioSculpt); id. at 348:10-349:4
(pricing Chocolate “competitive with other
specialty catheters to drive rapid adoption,”
and listing AngioSculpt and two other
balloons); PX 130; PX 135 (December 2011
email from Dreaden to other TriReme
employees regarding Chocolate pricing,
attaching tables confirming that at each
available size, Chocolate is exactly $25 les
per unit than AngioSculpt); PX 137 at 0014
PX 143.

119. Konstantino never disclosed Trial Tr. at 71:25-72:18, 138:7-12, 138:22-
Chocolate to AngioScore, including | 139:19, 212:25-213:15, 271:14-272:4, 272:
during his December 2009 19, 280:1-25, 282:6-283:24, 486:2-487:10,
conversation with Trotter regarding | 523:12-16, 571:25-573:4, 633:7-14, 634:5-]
Glider. 693:9-11; PX 107 at 0001, 0003; PX 420 at

0004; PX 423 at 0006.
Trial Tr. at 136:4-7, 138:7-12, 580:15-17.

120. While sitting on AngioScore’s Board | PX 107 at 0001, 0003; Trial Tr. at 71:25-
of Directors, Konstantino concealed| 72:18, 138:7-12, 138:22-139:19, 212:25-
the Chocolate opportunity from 213:15, 271:14-272:4, 272:18-19, 486:2-
AngioScore. 487:10, 575:19-24, 580:15-17, 633:7-14,

634:5-7, 693:6-11.
121.  While serving on AngioScore’s Trial Tr. at 212:25-213:3 (Konstantino).

Board, Konstantino did not seek
funding from any current AngioScors
Board member.
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122.

Two days before Konstantino
resigned from AngioScore’s Board,
Konstantino sat through an entire
AngioScore Board meeting without
disclosing Chocolate to AngioScore

Trial Tr. at 138:22-139:4, 213:7-15 (Trotter)

123.

After the February 3, 2010
AngioScore Board meeting,
Konstantino had a brief discussion
with Tom Trotter and told him that h
and TriReme were considering
pursuing a specialty balloon, and
Trotter asked Konstantino to leave.

Trial Tr. at 574:1-19, 602:17-25 (Trotter).

124.

During Konstantino’s brief discussion
with Trotter on February 3, 2010,
Konstantino did not disclose
Chocolate or defendantsngoing
development work on a specialty
balloon.

Trial Tr. at 138:22-139:19 (Konstantino).

125.

On February 4, 2010, Trotter emaile
Konstantino relaying the board’s
unanimous belief that he should
resign. Konstantino emailed
AngioScore’s Board on February 4,
2010 stating that AngioScore was
being “trigger happy” by asking him

to resign from AngioScore’s Board of
Directors.

PX 107; PX 108 at 0002-0003.

126.

Konstantino’s February 4, 2010 email
to AngioScore’s Board stating that
AngioScore was being “trigger

happy” by asking him to resign from
AngioScore’s Board was incorrect
because defendants began develop
Chocolate in 2009.

Trial Tr. at 141:1-21 (Konstantino direct,
explaining that “around mid-January 2010, |
madea decision to pursue this idea”), 152:5-
153:4(same, “Q. . .. [P]rior to . . . your
February 5 resignation, you were involved i
development work relative to Chocolate? A
Yes, I agree with you.”, 153:11-154:21 (same
discussing TriReme employee involvement
Chocolate development); 155:3-156:25
(same), 171:5-172:6 (same, discussing
Stanford porcine study), 172:13-173:6 (sam
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883:8-23 (Feld cross, discussing developm
in fall 2009), 1070:17-1073:1 (Pizarro cross
discussing models), 1078:11-1079:8 (same
PX 67; PX72; PX74; PX87; PX89; PX 90
PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 108 at 0002-0003
Delos Santos Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:
77:7,77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11
96:19-22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.

127. Konstantino emailed AngioScore’s PX 108 at 0002-0003.
Board on February 4, 2010 stating
that “TriReme has not made any
decision to make such a change ang
was giving you very early heads up
something that may take place in thg
future, or may never happen.”

128. Konstantino’s February 4, 2010 email | Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
to AngioScore’s Board stating 154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
“TriReme has not made any decision 173:6, 883:8-23, 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-
to make such a change and | was | 1079:8; PX 67; PX 72; PX 74; PX 87; PX 8¢
giving you very early heads upto | PX 90; PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 108 at
something that may take place in th{ 0002-0003; Delos Santos Dep. at 48:23-25
future, or may never happen” was 51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:
incorrect because defendants begarn 90:23-91:11, 96:19-22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.
developing Chocolate in 2009.

129. Konstantino spoke to John Sellers g Trial Tr. at 145:8-14, 271:14-272:4, 272:18-
February 4, 2010 and did not disclog 19, 318:18-19; PX 108 at 0001.

Chocolate or that defendants were
already developing a specialty
balloon.
130. Konstantino emailed AngioScore’s PX 108 at 0001-0002.

Board on February 5, 2010 stating
that he was “keenly aware of my
obligations as a board member and
this is precisely why | am coming to
Angio[S]core at this juncture; before
any new project is started.”
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131. Konstantino’s February 5, 2010 email | Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
to AngioScore’s Board stating he was | 154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
“keenly aware of my obligations asa | 173:6, 883:8-23, 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-
board member and this is precisely | 1079:8; PX 67; PX 72; PX 74; PX 87; PX 8
why | am coming to Angio[S]core at| PX 90; PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 108 at
this juncture; before any new projec| 0001-0002; Delos Santos Dep. at 48:23-25
1s started” was incorrect because 51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:
defendants began developing 90:23-91:11, 96:19-22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.
Chocolate in 2009.

132. After Konstantino’s resigned on Trial Tr. at 693:12-694:12; DX 1292 (email
February 5, 2010, AngioScore from Suennen recounting conversations wit
investigated whether Konstantino hg Heller and Lynn); DX 1295; PX 419; PX 42]
done competitive work while on see alspDX 1329.

AngioScore’s Board.

133. On February 10, 2010, AngioScore | PX 419 at 0002.
sent Konstantino a letter requesting
“confirmation” that Konstantino
and/or TriReme were not developing
a specialty balloon prior to
Konstantino’s resignation from
AngioScore’s Board on February 5,

2010.

134. Konstantino knowingly and PX 103 at 0001; PX 107 at 0001, 0003; PX
intentionally misled his counsel and| 420 at 0004; PX 423 at 0006; Nguyen Dep.
AngioScore in emails and letters in | 38:10-14; see also Trial Tr. at 150:11-24,
which he denied, among other thing| 151:5-153:4, 153:11-154:21, 155:3-156:25,
that he or TriReme had engaged in | 158:6-159:14, 159:19-161:7, 161:14-162:4,
any “development work™ on balloons | 163:5-164:2, 164:8-13, 167:14-22, 168:6-
with “specialized features” or that 169:2, 169:8-170:24, 171:5-172:6, 172:13-
“compete[ ] with” or “make[] similar 173:6.
claims” to AngioSculpt, and insisting
that AngioScore was being “trigger
happy.”

135. In aletter to AngioScore’s counsel PX 420 at 0004.

dated February 23, 2010, Konstantil
stated that “TriReme is considering,

in the future, the possibility of
entering the field of specialized
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balloons.”

136. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 328:6-15; PX 420 at
letter stating that “TriReme is 0004.
considering, in the future, the
possibility of entering the field of
specialized bidoons” was incorrect
because Konstantino and TriReme
had made the decision to enter the
field of specialized balloons before
Konstantino left AngioScore’s Board.

137. In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel PX 420 at 0004.
dated February 23, 2010, Konstantit
stated that “TriReme has not
developed any products . . . that
competes with AngioScore’s
products.”

138. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
letter stating that “TriReme has not 154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
developed any products . . . that 173:6, 185:1-186:6, 193:21-195:6, 883:3-21
competes with AngioScore’s 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8; PX 15 at
products” was incorrect because 0005; PX 67; PX 72; PX74; PX 87; PX 89;
TriReme began developing Chocolg PX 90; PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 124 at
in 2009 and considered Chocolate g 0007; PX 125 at 0009; PX 420 at 0004; De
“[d]irect competitor[]” to Santos Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:
AngioSculpt. 77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:]

22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.

139. In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel PX 420 at 0004.
dated February 23, 2010, Konstantit
stated that he “was not involved in
any development work . . . of
angioplasty balloon technology for
the . . . periphery markets that
involves specialized features such &
scoring, cutting , or drug eluting
elements.”

140. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-15, 153:11-
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letter stating that he “was not

involved in any development work .
. of angioplasty balloon technology
for the . . . periphery markets that
involves specialized features such &
scoring, cutting, or drug eluting
elements” was incorrect because
Konstantino was engaged in the
development of Chocolate before he
resigned from AngioScore’s Board

and because Chocolate is a special
balloon having a nitinol structure
surrounding a semi-compliant nylon
balloon.

154:21, 155:3-156:25, 159:7-14, 171:5-172
172:13-173:6, 180:20-25, 325:18-326:10,
326:20-22, 408:23-409:12, 410:5-21, 526:1
19, 575:25-578:3, 579:13-21, 883:8-23,
924:5-17, 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8
PX 67; PX72; PX 74; PX 87; PX 89; PX 90
PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 420 at 0004; Delc
Santos Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:
77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:1
22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.

141. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
letter stating that he “was not 154:21; 155:3-156:25, 160:20-162:4, 171:5
involved in any development work . | 172:6, 172:13-173:6, 883:8-23, 1070:17-
. of angioplasty balloon technology | 1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8; PX 67; PX 72; PX
for the . . . periphery markets that | 74; PX 85 at 0008; PX 87; PX 89; PX 90; P
involves specialized features such g 91; PX 92; PX 93; PX 420 at 0004; Delos
scoring, cutting , or drug eluting Santos Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:
elements” was incorrect because 77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:1
Konstantino was engaged in the 22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.
development of Chocolate before he
resigned from AngioScore’s Board
and because Konstantino was
promoting Chocolate in 2009 as an
“ideal platform for drug delivery” in
his efforts to obtain financing for his
undisclosed project.

142. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 163:5-164:2, 164:8-16, 331:3-

letter stating that he “was not

involved in any development work .
. of angioplasty balloon technology
for the . . . periphery markets that
involves specialized features such a
scoring, cutting , or drug eluting
elements” was incorrect because
TriReme’s Vice President of
Marketing & Business Development

333:6; PX 222; PX 223; PX 420 at 0004.
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Christopher Haig, traveled to
Germany and met with a drug coatir
technology company about Chocola
on February 5, 2010.

143.

Konstantino’s February 23, 2010

letter sating that he “was not

involved in any development work .
. of angioplasty balloon technology
for the . . . periphery markets that
involves specialized features such &
scoring, cutting , or drug eluting
elements” was incorrect because
Konstantino was engaged in the
development of Chocolate before he
resigned from AngioScore’s Board

and because TriReme’s
contemporaneous documents state
that Chocolate has a “[d]ual
mechanism of action” whereby the

first stage involves “[p]laque
disruption by initial metal to plaque
contact”

PX 78 at 0010; see also Trial Tr. at 141:1-2
152:5-153:4, 153:11-154:21; 155:3-156:25,
171:5-172:6, 172:13-173:6, 883:8-23,
1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8, 1083:21-
1084:3-1085:18; PX 67; PX 72; PX 74; PX
87; PX 89; PX90; PX91; PX92; PX 93; P>
420 at 0004; Delos Santos Dep. at 48:23-2
51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:
90:23-91:11, 96:19-22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.

144.

In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel
dated February 23, 2010, Konstantit
stated that he was “not involved in

any development . . . of angioplasty
balloon technology for the . ..
periphery markets that makes similg
claims to that of the AngioSculpt
product.”

PX 420 at 0004.

145.

Konstantino’s February 23, 2010

letter stating he was “not involved in
any development . . . of angioplasty
balloon technology for the . . .
periphery markets that makes similg
claims to that of the AngioSculpt
product” was incorrect because
Konstantino was engaged in the
development of Chocolate before he
resigned from AngioScore’s Board

Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
173:6, 181:1-10, 883:8-23, 1070:17-1073:1
1078:11-1079:8; PX 67; PX 72; PX 74; PX
87; PX 89; PX 90; PX 91; PX 92; PX 93; P
189 at 0002; PX 195 at 0001; PX 201 at 00
PX 211 at 0001; PX 420 at 0004; Delos
Santos Dep. at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:
77:12-18, 77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:1
22, 96:23-25, 97:1-2.
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and because both AngioSculpt and
Chocolate are used for the treatmen
of peripheral and coronary artery
disease by opening occluded blood
vessels without leaving metal behing

146. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-
letter stating he was “not involved in 154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
any development . . . of angioplasty| 173:6, 420:12-20, 883:8-23, 1015:12-16,
balloon technology for the . . . 1016:8-11, 1070:17-1073:1, 1078:11-1079:
periphery markets that makes similg PX 67 (November 2009 email between Felc
claims to that of the AngioSculpt and Delos Santos, discussing testing of
product” was incorrect because Chocolate prototypes); PX 72 (December
Konstantino was engaged in the 2009 email discussing coating for Chocolat
development of Chocolate before hg PX 74 (December 2009 email between Felc
resigned from AngioScore’s Board and TriReme employees, including
and because both AngioSculpt and | Konstantino, re findings from testing
Chocolate have been cleared by thg Chocolate prototypes); PX 87 (October 200
FDA with overlapping indications forl email discussing same); PX 89 (October 20
use. email re shorties of Chocolate); PX 90

(November 2009 email re Chocolate
prototype production); PX 91 (email re
Chocolate development); PX 92 (same); P>
93 (same, referring to “upcoming animal
study”); PX 195 at 0001 (AngioScore 510K
Summary for AngioSculpt Scoring Balloon
Catheter); PX 201 at 0001 (TriReme 510K
Summary for Chocolate PTA Balloon
Catheter); PX 420 at 0004; Delos Santos D
at 48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18,
77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:19-22, 96:7
25, 97:1-2.

147. Konstantino’s February 23, 2010 Trial Tr. at 141:1-21, 152:5-153:4, 153:11-

letter stating he was “not involved in
any development . . . of angioplasty
balloon technology for the . . .
periphery markets that makes similg
claims to that of the AngioSculpt
product” was incorrect because
Konstantino was engaged in the
development of Chocolate before he
resigned from AngioScore’s Board

154:21; 155:3-156:25, 171:5-172:6, 172:13
173:6, 422:20-428:5, 883:8-23, 1070:17-
1073:1, 1078:11-1079:8; PX 67; PX 72; PX
74; PX 87; PX 89; PX 90; PX 91; PX 92; P
93; PX 420 at 0004; PX 501 (QT Vascular
website describing Chocolate product); PX
531 at 0005-0006 (AngioSculpt marketing
materials); PX 533 at 0004 (AngioSculpt XL
marketing materials); Delos Santos Dep. at
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and because both AngioSculpt and
Chocolate make similar marketing
claims.

48:23-25, 51:4-9, 76:23-77:7, 77:12-18,
77:21-25; 78:1, 90:23-91:11, 96:19-22, 96:7
25, 97:1-2.

148.

Konstantino provided the informatio
for, and approved the contents of, th
February 23, 2010 letter to
AngioScore’s counsel.

Trial Tr. at 150:11-24, 151:5-16; Nguyen
Dep. at 38:10-14.

149.

On March 5, 2010, AngioScore sent
Konstantino a second letter inquiring
whether “Konstantino and/or TriReme
evaluated, negotiated, or otherwise
pursued the acquisition or licensing
any technology that competes with
AngioScore’s products” prior to
Konstantino’s resignation from

AngioScore’s Board on February 5,
2010.

PX 421 at 0002.

150.

In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel
dated March 21, 2010, Konstantino
stated that before February 5, 2010
“neither Mr. Konstantino nor

TriReme evaluated, negotiated or
otherwise pursued the acquisition ot
licensing of any technology that
competes with AngioScore’s
products.”

PX 423 at 0006.

151.

Konstanino’s March 21, 2010 letter
stating that before February 5, 2010
“neither Mr. Konstantino nor

TriReme evaluated, negotiated or
otherwise pursued the acquisition ol
licensing of any technology that
competes with AngioScore’s

products” was intentionally
misleading because defendants,
particularly TriReme, were evaluatin
Chocolate prior to February 5, 2010

Trial Tr. at 168:9-18, 169:8-170:13, 171:5-
173:6; PX 18; PX 70; PX 93; PX 423 at 00Q
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152.

Konstantino’s March 21, 2010 letter
stating that before February 5, 2010
“neither Mr. Konstantino nor

TriReme evaluated, negotiated or
otherwise pursued the acquisition ot
licensing of any technology that
competes with AngioScore’s

products” was intentionally
misleading because defendants
thought Chocolate was a “[d]irect
competitor[]” to AngioSculpt.

PX 125 at 0009; see also Trial Tr. at 185:1-
186:6, 193:21-195:6; PX 15 at 0005; PX 12
at 0007; PX 423 at 0006.

153.

In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel
dated March 21, 2010, Konstantino
stated AngioScore made
“unsubstantiated accusations” that
Konstantino “somehow breached his
duties as a Board member of
AngioScore.”

PX 423 at 0006.

154.

In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel
dated March 21, 2010, Konstantino
stated that “AngioScore has provided
no details to support [] an @sation”
that Konstantino has “somehow
breached his duties as a Board
member of AngioScore.”

PX 423 at 0006.

155.

In a letter to AngioScore’s counsel
dated March 21, 2010, Konstantino
stated that AngioScore should “refrain
from making these unsubstantiated
accusations” or “Mr. Konstantino will
have no choice but to consider his
legal options.”

PX 423 at 0006.

156.

AngioScore sent the February 10,
2010 and March 5, 2010 letters to
Konstantino to investigate the
“specific details” of Konstantino’s
development activities prior to his
resignation from AngioScore’s Board

Trial Tr. at 275:19-276:4, 282:6-283:2,

283:10-24; PX 419; PX 421.
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on February 5, 2010.

157. Konstantino’s repeated Trial Tr. at 280:1-25, 283:21-24, 522:1-
misrepresentations, misdirection, an 523:16, 633:7-14, 634:5-7.
threats of legal action prevented
AngioScore from becoming aware 0
when defendants began developing
Chocolate.

158. AngioScore did not file a claim in Trial Tr. at 634:5-7; see also Trial Tr. at
2010 because AngioScore did not | 271:14-272:4, 272:18-19, 486:5-487:10;
know that “Chocolate existed at that| 693:9-11.
point” and was intentionally led to
believe that no specialty balloon
existed.

159. While serving on AngioScore’s Trial Tr. at 200:15-201:10; PX 63; PX 64
Board, Konstantino filed a provision{ (October 2009 patent application).
patent application for Chocolate in
October 2009.

160. After receiving two letters from Trial Tr. at 203:19-206:18; Heslin Dep. at
AngioScore’s counsel, Konstantino 88:9-18; Shay Dep. at 39:14-19; PX 64
switched patent counsel and filed a | (October 2009 patent application); PX 419;
second provisional patent applicatio| PX 421; PX 422.
sometime in March 2010 without
informing either of his patent lawyer
of the substantially similar applicatio
from five months earlier.

161. By filing a second provisional patent Trial Tr. at 201:15-203:13, 205:2-4; PX 64

application in March 2010,
Konstantino lost five months of pate
priority. However, by citing to the
second provisional patent applicatio
from March 2010 instead of the first
provisional patent application from
October 2009 in his March 2011
utility patent application, Konstanting
ensured that the first provisional
patent application from October 200

(October 2009 patent applicatio®X 422;
PX 427.
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would not become public.

162. Konstantino’s actions with respect to | See FF supra 159-161.
the patent application demonstrate &
intent to deceive.

163. TriReme provided substantial PFF 146-159.
assistance to Konstantino’s breach of
fiduciary duty.

164. Before Konstariho left AngioScore’s | PX 109 at 0004 (September 2009 TriReme
Board of Directors, TriReme board meeting presentation containing
engineers helped develop and build| organizational chart); PX 92 (December 20
the Chocolate device. Tanhum Feld email between TriReme employees and
in his various roles at TriReme, Konstantino relating to design and prototyp
worked with several TriReme development for Chocolate); PX 87 (Octobe
employees to develop Chocolate, | 2009 email between Feld, Delos Santos, ar
including Jayson Delos Santos, a | Konstantino re same); PX 90 (November 2(
TriReme Senior R&D Engineer, email between Feld and Delos Santos re
Maria Pizarro, TriReme’s Director of | same); Trial Tr. at 850:18-851:5, 863:17-
R&D, and Gary Binyamin, TriReme’s | 864:15.

Technology Manager.

165. Konstantino and the TriReme PX 92; Trial Tr. at 156:4-25.
employees who worked on Chocola
referred to themselves as the “Team.”

166. The TriReme Chocolate team creatq PX 87; PX 92; Trial Tr. at 328:23-329:14;
prototypes, solved technical issues | 851:16-852:4.
such as bonding the nitinol cage to t
balloon, and tested the device.

167. Eight TriReme employees attended| PX 18 at 0002 (recorded attendance at

the January 15, 2010 testing of the
Chocolate device at Stanford.

Stanford study, Konstantino included).
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168.

In February 2010, Trireme’s Vice
President of Marketing and Busines
Development traveled to Germany t
meet with a company specializing in
drug coating technology about a
partnership involving Chocolate.

PX 222; PX 223; Trial Tr. at 331:7-22.

169.

TriReme repeatedly listed Chocolate
as a TriReme product in its
presentations in late 2009 and early,
2010.

PX 15 at 0005; PX 17 at 0004.

170.

By February 3, 2010 TriReme had
already decided “that Chocolate was
going to be brought into the scope o
products that TriReme was working
on.”

Trial Tr. at 328:6-15; PX 80.

171

The TriReme Chocolate team worke
on Chocolate during TriReme’s
business hours, via TriReme’s email
system, using TriReme’s engineering
templates.

Trial Tr. at 879:17-880:6, 881:5-8, 22-24,
882:14-20; PX 65.

172.

TriReme had the requisite knowledd
for aiding and abetting.

FFinfra 173-176.

173.

Konstantino was TriReme’s CEO in
2009 and 2010.

PX 109; Trial Tr. at 134:6-8.
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174. As a co-creator of AngioSculpt and { Trial Tr. at 840:25-843:3, 864:4-8 (Feld
co-founder of AngioScore, Feld kney direct, confirming Feld’s knowledge that
AngioScore’s line of business, knew | Konstantino had been granted a waiver fror
that Konstantino was serving on AngioScore for his work with TriReme on
AngioScore’s Board, knew that Glider), 882:10-13confirming Feld’s
Konstantino owed AngioScore knowledge that Konstantino was on
fiduciary duties, knew AngioScore | AngioScore’s board while developing
had only granted Konstantino a Chocolate), 879:13-16 (confirming that Felc
waiver to pursue bifurcated stents | knew that in such capacity, Konstantino hag
with TriReme, and knew that fiduciary duties to AngioScore); PX 127.
Chocolate and AngioScore were
alternative tools-all while helping
Konstantino develop the Chocolate
device.

175. As a former employee of AngioScor( Trial Tr. at 1028:12-14, 1028:25-1029:7;
who had worked on AngioSculpt, 1093:25-1094:3; PX 442.

Maria Pizarro knew AngioScore’s
line of business, and knew that
Konstantino was serving on
AngioScore’s Board.

176. GimMoey Ong, TriReme’s HR and Trial Tr. at 969:10-21; Ong Dep. at 46:1-7,
Marketing Manager, knew PX 124 at 0001, 0007; PX 125 at 0001, 00(
Konstantino was on AngioScore’s
Board, and knew that Chocolate
would compete with AngioSculpt.

177. Proteus Vascular Systems was an | PX 124; PX 2 at 0002-0014; Trial Tr. at
unincorporated association founded| 241:7-20.

2009 that sought to develop and
market the Chocolate device.
178. Proteus consisted of at least three | PX 124 at 0002; PX 445.

individuals: James Dreher,
Konstantino, and FeldDreher “led”
Proteus, while Konstantino was the
Chairman of the Board.
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179.

As part of his entrepreneurial practig
Dreher would quickly form a
company and raise early money, an
sell the company soon thereafter. H
applied this model to Chocolate and
helped attract potential acquirers.

Trial Tr. at 175:17-19; 1324:8-22; PX 70 at
0001; PX 124.

180.

Konstantino recruited employees,
presented Chocolate to the Econom
Development Board of Singapore, |
sought funds for Proteus.

PX 70; PX 2 (December 2009 email betwes
Cheng and Ong re Proteus’s Chocolate

device, attaching powerpoint presentation f
Singapore Economic Development Board)
PX 124; Trial Tr. at 239:8-241:1; PX 3.

181.

On January 1, 2010, Konstantino
signeda contract as Proteus’
Chairman to help raise funds for the
Chocolate project.

PX 3; Trial Tr. 242:18-244:11.

182.

Konstantino represented that Quattn
was “previously Proteus.”

PX 6 at 0002; Trial Tr. at 246:3-9; PX 7.

183.

According to an addendum to the
January 10, 2010 fundraising contra
Konstantino had signed as Chairma
of Proteus, a few months later,
Konstantino represented thdt]he
name Proteus Vascular Systems Pt
Ltd was changed to Quattro Vasculg
Pte Ltd.” The addendum noted this
name changend “Quattro” assumed
the role previously held by “Proteus,”
with its rights and obligations.

PX 7; Trial Tr. at 247:15-248:4.

184.

While still serving on AngioScore’s
Board, Konstantino held himself out
as the Chairman of Proteus and latg
as a Director at Quattro.

PX 3; Trial Tr. 242:18-244:11; PX 7.
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185.

On January 15, 2010, the company
(apparently still known as Proteus a
that time) sponsored a study at
Stanford involving the Chocolate
device. Later that year, the report
from the study was released reflecti
that “Quattro Vascular Pte Ltd” had
sponsored the study.

PX 11; Trial Tr. at 248:5-23.

186.

Quiattro formally incorporated in
March 2010. James Dreher,
Konstantino, and others involved in
the organization all agreed to the
incorporation.

PX1 at 0004.

187.

Konstantino and Feld assigned their
rights to the Chocolate device to
Quiattro for a 5% royalty and a cash
payment.

Trial Tr. at 237:8-13.

188.

Konstantino and Feld were founderg
and shareholders of Quattro when
they transferred their rights to
Chocolate.

PX 1 at 0004-0005.

189.

QT Vascular is the product of a
merger between TriReme and
Quattro.

PX 43; Trial Tr. at 256:7-21 (Konstantino
discussing representation he made on behg
of QT Vascular wherein he stated that “QTV
is a result of a merger between Quattro
Vascular and TriReme Medical”).

190.

QT Vascular assumed the assets ar
liabilities of TriReme or Quattro
wholesale in the final transaction.

PX 32; Brosh Dep. at 277:19-22, 280:3-11,
281:2-15.
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191. Momi Brosh, QT Vascular’s Trial Tr. at 969:22-970:2; Brosh Dep. at
corporate designee on the relationsl 277:19-22, 280:3-11, 281:2-15; PX 32.
among TriReme, Quattro, QT
Vascular, stated that QT Vascular
took on Quattro’s and TriReme’s
assets and liabilities.

192. While defendants significantly See Dkt. Nos. 593-7; 593-8.
changéd the answers of Brosh’s Trial Tr. at 1126:6-12, 1127:22-1128:8
30(b)(6) testimony after the fact, the| (Farwell direct); DX 1746 at 82-83; DX 165
did not dispute his answers on the | at 43-45.
above facts, and did not seek to
amend his answers on the same.

193. Documents describing the terms for| PX 32 at 0001 (Summary of terms for
the QT Vascular transaction refer to| proposed merger, signed November 5, 201
as a merger. Trial Tr. at 252:13-254:23.

194. The TriReme Board minutes say thg PX 30 at 0001-0002; Trial Tr. at 251:11-
TriReme will merge with Quattro. 252:12.

195. Quattro wrote to its shareholders thg PX 33 (letter to Quattro shareholders dated
it will merge with TriReme. November 6, 2012, explaining decision to

merge, need for merger between TriReme ;
Quattro, “a merged entity would provide a
complete platform for an IPO and a far mor
compelling story for a potential acquirer”);
Trial Tr. 254:24-255:13.

196. Konstantino described the transacti¢ PX 40; Trial Tr. at 255:19-256:6.
to form QT Vascular as a merger.

197. QT Vascular presentations state thg PX 43 at 0002; Trial Tr. at 256:7-21.

QT Vascular “is a result of a merger
between Quattro Vascular and
TriReme Medical.”
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198. Along with the assets and liabilities { Trial Tr. at 1328:3-17; PX 45 at 0080; Trial
Quattro and TriReme, QT Vascular | Tr. at 1125:16-23; 1128:5-8; PX 32 at 0001
“acquired 100% of the issued and Brosh Dep. at 277:19-22, 280:3-11, 281:2-]
outstanding capital stock” of Quattro
and TriReme and that the “purchase
consideration for the acquisition” was
“satisfied by the allotment and
issuance” of QT Vascular shares,

“credited as fully paid.”

199. The shareholders of TriReme and | Trial Tr. at 1328:3-17; see al&X 45 at
Quattro became the shareholders o{ 0073.

QT Vascular.

200. AngioScore has experienced financi PX 152; PX 164; PX 130; Trial Tr. at 1235:
losses due to Chocolate’s entry into 1239:20.
the marketplace.

201. AngioSculpt and Chocolate competq PX 15 at 0005; PX 124 at 0007 (Proteus

As a result of defendaritsompetition
and targeted pricing strategy,
AngioScore lost share in the special
balloon market.

investor document noting AngioScore as
potential competitor); PX 127 (February 20
email between Feld and Konstantino noting
AngioSculpt as competitor to Chocolate); P
130 (October 2011 email between Dreader
Konstantino, Haig, Benjamin re competitive
information on AngioScore’s pricing,
discussing Chocolate pricing strategy); PX
132 at 0002 (TriReme competitor analysis
spreadsheet noting AngioSculpt PTA and
PTCA devices compete with Chocolate); P
135 (December 2011 email from Dreaden t
other TriReme employees regarding
Chocolate pricing attaching tables confirmit
that at each available size, Chocolate is
exactly $25 less per unit than AngioScore)
PX 137 (December 2011 email re Chocolat
noting pricing strategy keyed off of other
balloons including AngioSculpt); PX 143
(December 2012 email between Haig and
Borrell reflecting Chocolate pricing $25 less
per unit than AngioSculpt); PX 154 (March
2013 sales email noting that “the closest
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comparable product [to Chocolate] is the
AngioSculpt”); PX 164 (June 2013 emalll
between TriReme sales to customer noting
that “most clinicians are replacing the use of
Scoring/Cutting (AngioScore) devices with
Chowlate”); PX 264 at 0163 (Millennium
Research Group Report table noting that
AngioScore had 12.5% of specialty balloon
catheter market share in 2009); PX 294 at
0251 (Millennium Research Group Report
table noting that AngioScore had 48.1% of
the specialty balloon market share in 2013
Trial Tr. at 159:7-16 (Konstantino direct,
noting that “specialty balloon” is a balloon
that costs more than an average POBA),
520:3-13 (noting field of competitive
specialty balloons consists of AngioSculpt,
Chocolate, Vascutrak, and the Cutting
Balloon), 185:1-186:3 (Konstantino direct,
establishing that Konstantino considered
Chocolate competitive (“a step up”) with
respect to AngioSculpt), 218:6-21
(Konstantino confirming that he utilizes
Millennium Research Group reports), 335:¢
340:17 (Konstantino direct, re competition
between Chocolate and AngioSculpt),
343:19-344:7 (Haig direct, with respect to
pricing), 348:10-349:4 (same), 353:18-25
(same, discussing Millennium Research
Group report), 355:25-357:1 (Haig,
discussing competitive products in specialt
balloon market), 571:841 (same, discussing
metal impressing upon plague in the case (¢
scoring or cutting balloons), 741:10-17
(Olsen direct, discussing lost profits from th
end of 2011 to the end of 2Q14 for
AngioScore), 1235:1-1239:20 (Prowse crog
discussing AngioSculpt and Chocolate as
competitors occupying the same market).
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202.

The parties’ damages experts
generally agree on the methodology
calculate AngioScore’s lost profits,

and used the same numerical values
for AngioScore’s lost revenue, profit
margin, and the applicable discount
rate.

Trial Tr. at 1228:5-1229:2&lefendants’
expert, Prowse, testifying that the material
change in his calculation was with respect {
market share percentages; revenue, profits
profit margin, gross profit margin remain the
same).

203.

Chocolate and the AngioSculpt
products are specialty balloons.

Trial Tr. at 159:7-16, 180:6-8, 325:18-326:1
326:20-22, 408:23-409:12, 526:12-19,
577:25-578:3, 924:5-17; PX 142.

204.

The Chocolate and AngioSculpt
products compete with each other in
the specialty balloon market. Withir
the specialty balloon sub-market, thq
are relatively few players. As of
2013, the Millennium Research Grot
found the specialty balloon catheter
market was primarily occupied by
four companies: Boston Scientific,
C.R. Bard, Abbott Laboratories, and
AngioScore. The market share
reflects that AngioScore was in closg
competition with Boston Scientific
and its product, the Cutting Balloon:
AngioScore occupied 48.1% of the
specialty balloon market and Boston
Scientific occupied 47.1%. C.R. Bar
held 3.3% of the market with its
specialty balloon, the Vascutrak.
Abbott Laboratories held only 1.3%.

FFsupra 200-201; infra 205-220.
PX 294 at 249-51; PX 142.

205.

Once a doctoratides “to use a
specialty balloon for a particular
procedure,” the competition narrows
to just four devices: “the AngioSculpt,
the Chocolate, the Vascutrak, and th
Cutting Balloon” and a drug-coated
balloon, which recently entered the
specialty balloon market.

Trial Tr. at 520:3-13; Trial Tr. at 922:11-19,
923:11-18 (Garcia direct).
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206. AngioScore has lost sales due to Trial Tr. at 418:18-419:5 (attesting to
Chocolate’s entry into the specialty diversion of resources at AngioScore due t
balloon catheter marketplace. threat from Chocolate); 444:20-445:21

(Viano discussing losing five to ten units a
month to Chocolate, including losing sales
Dr. Garcia defendants’ industry expert); PX
152; PX 164 (defendants’ email reflecting
observation that clinicians were replacing
AngioScore devices with Chocolate).

207. TriReme used specialty balloons to { PX 137 at 0014; Trial Tr. at 336:11-15,
their initial prices for Chocolate. 339:19-340:7, 340:10-17, 341:16-24, 348:1

349:4.

208. TriReme’s sales force targeted doctorg PX 164; PX 124 at 0007; PX 130; PX 132 ¢

who used specialty balloons. 0002; PX 137 at 0014; PX 152; PX 154; Tr
Tr. at 336:11-15.

209. Documents show that TriReme PX 143; PX 154; PX 132 at 0002; PX 127;
employees stated that AngioScore W Trial Tr. at 343:19-344.7.
Chocolate’s “closest competitor.”

210. TriReme employees gathered pricin¢ PX 130; PX 143; PX 137 at 0014; PX 135
information on AngioScore, and (December 2011 email from Dreaden to otf
strategically priced Chocolate $25 | TriReme employees regarding Chocolate
below AngioSculpt to “get faster pricing, attaching tables confirming that at
uptick” in AngioScore accounts. each available size, Chocolate is exactly $2

less per unit than AngioSculpt); Trial Tr. at
335:14-336:15.

211. TriReme’s Vice President of Trial Tr. 336:11-15.

Marketing & Business Development
regarded AngioScore accounts as “an
opportunity for TriReme” because
premium “pricing had already been
established for specialty balloons.”
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212. POBAs are priced around $150 to | Trial Tr. at 412:7-9 (Viano direct).
$200 per unit. Specialty balloons ar
priced much higher than that, up to
$1000 per unit, depending on length

213. AngioScore and defendants use the| Trial Tr. at 218:6-21; 353:18-25; 571:6-18.
Millennium Research Report in the
course of their businesses.

214.  No trial evidence established that | Trial Tr. at 571:19-23.
either party used the iData Research
Report, nor did Dr. Prowse offer any
reason to use the iData Research
Report to determine AngioScore’s
market share.

215. According to the Millennium PX 264 at 163; PX 294 at 251, Trial Tt. a
Research Reports, AngioScore had | 218:6-21; 353:18-25; 571:6-11.
between a 39% and 48% of the
specialty balloon catheter market
between 2011 and 2014.

216. Chocolate made $11,269,00 in PX 388; Trial Tr. 742:1-742:7; PX 381 at
revenue from 2011 to 2014. 0028.

217.  Applying AngioScore’s market share | Trial Tr. at 757:9-17; PX 264 at 163; PX 29
to Chocolate’s revenue, AngioScore at 251; Trial Tr. at 218:6-21; 353:18-25;
lost $5,335,000 in revenue to 571:6-11; PX 381 at 0028.
Chocolate.

218. AngioScore had profit margins Trial Tr. at 758:5-760:2; PX 351; PX 369-
between 55% and 58%. 372; PX 381 at 0028.

219. Applying AngioScore lost revenue | Trial Tr. at 741:10-24; PX 381 at 0028.

shows that AngioScore lost $2.97
million to Chocolate from 2011 to
2014.

See also Trial Tr. at 444:20-445:21 (Viano
cross, discussing losing five to ten units a
month to Chocolate, including losing sales
Dr. Garcia, defendants’ industry expert).
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220. If Chocolate remains on the market | Trial Tr. at 759:22-760:2, 772:21-25.
through 2019, AngioScore will suffer
$17.064 million in lost profits.

221. Konstantino received $250,000 by | DX 1435 at 0003.
agreeing to an invention assignment
agreement of Chocolate.

222. Konstantino receives a 2.85% royalt| Trial Tr. at 1342:13-22.
on Chocolate sales.

223. Konstantino has 15 million shares of Trial Tr. at 1336:23-1338:4.
QT Vascular stock.

224. Konstantino has stock options in QT| Trial Tr. at 1336:23-25.

Vascular.
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